
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in THE AQUARIUS ROOM, ST 
IVO LEISURE CENTRE, ST IVES on THURSDAY, 18 JUNE 2009 at 7:00 
PM and you are requested to attend for the transaction of the following 
business:- 
 
 

APOLOGIES 
 
 (((( 

Contact 
(01480) 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of 
the Cabinet held on 14th May 2009. 
 
 

Mrs H J Taylor 
388008 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 
prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation 
to any Agenda item.  Please see notes 1 and 2 below. 
 
 

 

3. BUDGET AND MEDIUM TERM PLAN PROCESS 2010-2015  
(Pages 5 - 10) 

 

 

 To receive a report by the Head of Financial Services. 
 

S Couper 
388103 

4. TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09  
(Pages 11 - 20) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Financial Services 
reviewing the performance of Investment Fund Managers. 
 

Mrs E Smith 
388157 

5. SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES ACT  (Pages 21 - 28) 
 

 

 To receive a report by the Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships and the Head of Democratic and Central Services 
on the Sustainable Communities Act. 
 
 

Mrs C Sides 
388495 

6. PERFORMANCE MONITORING  (Pages 29 - 52) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships containing details of the Council’s performance 
against its priority objectives. 
 

H Thackray 
388035 

7. GRANT AID  (Pages 53 - 62) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Service Delivery) on the outcome of a review of capital and 

Miss H Ali 
388006 



revenue grant aid schemes operating across the Council. 
 

8. CORPORATE EQUALITY POLICY - PROCESS  (Pages 63 - 
96) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships on progress made to date in respect of the 
Corporate Equality Policy Action Plan.  
 
The views of the Overview and Scrutiny (Social Well Being) 
Panel on the policy are appended also. 

 

Mrs L Sboui 
388032 

9. REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY SINGLE ISSUE REVIEW 
ACCOMMODATION FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLERS AND 
TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE IN THE EAST OF ENGLAND - 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S PROPOSED CHANGES 
MARCH 2009.  (Pages 97 - 108) 

 

 

 To receive a report by the Heads of Planning and of Housing 
Services on the Council’s response to the consultation on the 
Regional Spatial Strategy Single Issue Review – 
“Accommodation for gypsy And travellers and travelling 
showpeople in the East of England, the Secretary of State's 
proposed changes March 2009”.  
 
 

R Probyn 
388430 
S Plant 
388240 

10. CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN  (Pages 109 - 186) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Environmental 
Management 
 

C Jablonski 
388368 

11. REPRESENTATIVES ON ORGANISATIONS 2009/10  (Pages 
187 - 194) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Democratic and Central 
Services in relation to the appointment/nomination of 
representatives to serve on a variety of organisations.  
 
 

Mrs H J Taylor 
388008 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 

 

  
 
that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
because the business to be transacted contains exempt 
information relation to the financial affairs of particular persons 
(including the authority holding that information). 
 
 

 

13. ST. NEOTS LEISURE CENTRE DEVELOPMENT  (Pages 195 
- 214) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Leisure Centres General Manager S Bell 



on the development proposals for St Neots Leisure Centre. 
 
The views of the Overview and Scrutiny (Social Well Being) 
Panel on the proposals are appended also. 

 
 

388049 

14. TENDER FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF TEMPORARY 
MANUAL EMPLOYEES  (Pages 215 - 218) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Operations. 
 

R Ward 
388635 

 Dated this 15 day of June 2009  
 

 

 

 Chief Executive  
 
 
Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a 

greater extent than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the 
Councillor, their family or any person with whom they had a close 
association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner and any company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial 

interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of 
£25,000; or 

 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of 

the public (who has knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably 
regard the Member’s personal interest as being so significant that it is 
likely to prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 
 

Please contact Mrs H Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel No. 
01480 388008/e-mail Helen.Taylor@huntsdc.gov.uk /e-mail:   if you have 
a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for 
absence from the meeting, or would like information on any decision 
taken by the Cabinet. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed 
towards the Contact Officer.  

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers 
except during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 



 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of 
Agenda/Minutes/Reports or would like a  
large text version or an audio version  

please contact the Democratic Services Manager 
and we will try to accommodate your needs. 

 
 

Emergency Procedure 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the 
Meeting Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via 
the closest emergency exit. 

 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in the Corporate 

training room, Eastfield House, Huntingdon on Thursday, 14 May 
2009. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor I C Bates – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors K J Churchill, D B Dew, J A Gray, 

A Hansard, C R Hyams, Mrs D C Reynolds 
and L M Simpson. 

   
 AN APOLOGY: An apology for absence from the meeting 

was submitted on behalf of Councillor T V 
Rogers  . 

   
   . 
 
 

1. COUNCILLOR J A GRAY   
 

 The Chairman welcomed Councillor J A Gray to his first meeting of 
the Cabinet. 
 

2. COUNCILLOR P L E BUCKNELL   
 

 The Chairman and Executive Councillors expressed their appreciation 
for the services rendered to the Cabinet as Executive Councillor for 
Planning Strategy and Transport by Councillor P L E Bucknell. 
 

3. MINUTES   
 

 The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 30th April 2009 
were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

4. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations were received. 
 

5. APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS   
 

 RESOLVED 
  
 (a) that executive responsibilities for the Municipal Year 

2009/10 be allocated as follows- 
 
  Finance   -  Councillor T V Rogers 
  Planning Strategy and  -  Councillor D B Dew 
  Transport 
  Leisure   -  Councillor Mrs D C 
          Reynolds 
  Resources and Policy  -  Councillor  A Hansard 

  Housing and Public Health  -  Councillor K Churchill 
  Environment and Information 
  Technology  -  Councillor J A Gray 

Agenda Item 1

1



  Operational and  
  Countryside Services  -  Councillor C R Hyams 
   
 

(b) that the Leader of the Council be appointed to serve as 
ex-officio Member of the Employment Panel; and 

 
(c) that Executive Councillors be appointed to serve as ex-

officio Members of Panels as follows – 
 
   Executive Councillors       Ex-Officio for – 
   for – 

             Finance    Corporate Governance
        
  Planning Strategy  Development   
  and Transport  Management Panel 
 
  Resources  
  and Policy  Corporate Governance 

            Licensing and Protection 
     Panel/Licensing 
     Committee   
 
             

   
 

6. HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT LIAISON GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors M G Baker, Mrs M Banerjee, C R Hyams and 
Mrs M J Thomas be appointed to serve on the Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park Joint Liaison Group for the ensuing Municipal 
Year.  

 
    
 

7. HUNTINGDONSHIRE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT AREA JOINT 

COMMITTEE   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors M G Baker, D B Dew, Mrs J Dew, B Farrer, M 
F Newman and T D Sanderson be appointed to serve on the 
Huntingdonshire Traffic Management Area Joint Committee 
for the ensuing the Municipal Year.  

 

8. CUSTOMER FIRST AND ACCOMMODATION ADVISORY GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
  

that the Customer First and Accommodation Advisory Group 
be not continued. 

 

9. MEMBERS' ADVISORY GROUP FOR PUBLIC CONVENIENCES   
 

 RESOLVED 

2



 
 that the Members’ Advisory Group for Public Conveniences be 

not continued.   
 

10. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY ADVISORY GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors I C Bates, W T Clough, D B Dew, P J 
Downes, P G Mitchell, J M Sadler and P A Swales be 
appointed to serve on the Development Plan Policy Advisory 
Group for the ensuing Municipal Year.  

 

11. SAFETY ADVISORY GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors Mrs B E Boddington, P H Dakers, J W Davies, 
Mrs P A Jordan and A Hansard be appointed to serve on the 
Safety Advisory Group for the ensuing Municipal Year.  

 

12. DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE WORKING GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors Mrs M Banerjee, K J Churchill, W T Clough, S 
J Criswell,  T D Sanderson, Mrs J Thomas, G S E Thorpe and 
R G Tuplin for the ensuing Municipal Year.  

 

13. ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY WORKING GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
 that the Environment Strategy Working Group be not 

continued. 
 

14. MEMBERS' CAR PARKING WORKING GROUP   
 

 RESOLVED 
 

that Councillors K J Churchill, D B Dew,  Mrs J A Dew, J E 
Garner, A Monk, D J Priestman and T D Sanderson be 
appointed to serve on the Members’ Car Parking Working 
Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 
 

3



4

This page is intentionally left blank



  
  
CABINET 18 JUNE 2009 
  

BUDGET AND MTP PROCESS 2010-2015 
 

(Report by the Head of Financial Services) 
 
1 PURPOSE 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set the scene for this year’s review of 

the financial strategy and the production of the 2010/11 budget and the 
2011/15 Medium Term Plan. 

 
2 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Medium Term Plan approved in February 2009 provided a detailed 

budget for 2009/10 and detailed variations for the following 4 years. 
The financial strategy, also approved in February, forecast the financial 
position through to 2023/24.  

 
2.2 Cabinet will recall that capital reserves were expected to run out during 

this year and that revenue reserves will be used to cover the revenue 
budget deficit until sufficient spending adjustments can be achieved to 
bring income and expenditure back into balance. The approved plan 
was based on raising Council Tax by almost 5% pa in each successive 
year. The table below shows the key figures as approved in February 
2009: 

 

BUDGET MTP 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

BUDGET / FORECAST 23,380 25,286 25,687 25,306 23,149 

FUNDING      

Use of revenue reserves -3,758 -4,952 -4,385 -2,999 0 

Remaining revenue reserves EOY 15,336 10,384 5,999 3,000 3,000 

Government Support -12,572 -12,939 -13,491 -14,034 -14,384 

Collection Fund Deficit -27 0 0 0 0 

Council Tax -7,022 -7,395 -7,810 -8,274 -8,765 

COUNCIL TAX LEVEL £121.15 £127.20 £133.55 £140.21 £147.21 

£ increase £5.76 £6.05 £6.35 £6.66 £7.00 

      

Forecast Capital Spending 17,796 6,056 4,957 6,666 6,374 

Accumulated Borrowing EOY 15,420 20,576 24,833 30,799 36,473 

Unidentified Spending Adjustments still required 0 -500 -1,500 -3,238 -6,501 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

5



3 SUPPLEMENTARY ESTIMATE 
 

3.1 A review of progress with the current budget has highlighted the need 
to make a supplementary estimate of £115,000. There are a number of 
service areas where the recession is having a significant impact. The 
main areas are outlined below together with the implications of not 
providing additional resources and the estimated cost of those 
resources for the remainder of the current financial year. 

 
 
4. PROCESS AND TIMETABLE 

 
4.1 As in previous years a report on the Council’s longer term financial 

strategy will be produced during the summer. This will adjust the 
figures approved by the Council in February for inflation, interest rates, 
the 2008/09 outturn and any other unavoidable significant issues, some 
of which are referred to above. 

 
4.2 With the financial strategy it is intended to produce an additional set of 

tables to allow more effective consideration of the base budget 
position. These will reflect the format used for the monthly budget 
monitoring process, showing the controllable budgets for each Head of 
Service with the approved/proposed variations for the MTP period 
added in at the 2009/10 price base.  

 
4.3 The Financial Forecast report will be considered on the following dates: 

 
 

4.4 The next stage will be to review the service budgets in detail with the 
consequent report setting out any identified or proposed savings 
(including efficiencies) to be introduced and any proposals for 
enhancements to the current level of provision which will require 
additional funding. 

 
4.5 Cabinet Members will be involved in the production of the proposed 

service budgets and financial plans relating to their portfolios over the 
August to October period in order that they are able to comment to 
Cabinet upon their proposed service budgets. 

 
4.6 The resulting Draft budget, MTP and Financial Strategy report will be 

considered on the following dates: 
 
 

4.7 The final stage will take account of any, hopefully minor, adjustments to 
the grant settlement figures together with any other necessary final 
adjustments required. It will show the final budget by service and will 
allow the Council to formally adopt the budget and set the level of 
Council Tax for 2009/10. 

 

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

10 September 17 September 23 September 

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

12 November 19 November 2 December 

6



 
4.8 This report will be considered on the following dates. 
 
 

5. CONCLUSIONS 
 
5.1 The budget process must provide Members with sufficient opportunity 

to address savings adjustments anticipated last year and set out in 
para 2.2, whilst also recognising the new challenges for the Council 
arising since the last budget was adopted. 

 
5.2 Given the likelihood of no net savings in the budget this year, Annex A 

outlines the need for a supplementary estimate to preserve services for 
those most affected by the recession. 

 
6. RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

• approve the timetable and stages for considering the 
financial strategy, budget and MTP. 

 

• approve a supplementary revenue estimate for £115k in the 
current year as detailed in Annex A. 

 
 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 1985 
2009/10 Revenue Budget and the 2010/14 MTP 
 
Contact Officer:  
Steve Couper, Head of Financial Services     ( 01480 388103  

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

4 February 11 February 17 February 

7



ANNEX A 
 
 
IMPACT OF THE RECESSION  
 
Housing Advice/Homelessness  
Dealing with homelessness is a statutory responsibility and ‘To achieve a 
low level of homelessness’ is a Council objective in ‘Growing Success’.  
Homelessness prevention measures are crucial to avoid actual 
homelessness and as a consequence an increased use and cost of 
temporary accommodation and an increased demand for social rented 
housing. 
 
Preventing homelessness is a very time consuming and detailed activity 
involving multiple interviews, verifying documentation and liaison with 
landlords, mortgage companies, courts, other creditors, housing benefits, 
social services and other agencies.  Prevention generates a significant 
saving to the Council as households would otherwise be placed in temporary 
housing pending homelessness investigations and, if accepted as homeless, 
time is spent in temporary accommodation awaiting a permanent home to 
become available.  It also prevents a very stressful and unsettling 
experience for the family in question.   
 
In Housing Services there are 6 Housing options/homelessness staff 
including the team Leader.  At the beginning of last year an additional 
temporary officer was employed to assist with the increasing workload and 
to improve performance on missed turnaround targets for homelessness 
investigations. 
 

 Homelessness decisions increased from 220 in 2007/08 to 262 in 2008/09 
(19% increase).  At the same time success with preventing homelessness 
more than doubled in 2008/09 compared to the previous year, from 138 
successful preventions to 300 (117% increase).  With the addition of the 
additional temporary officer the team was thus able to cope with the 
workload but there is insufficient budget to employ this temporary worker for 
much of the current year. 
 
It is highly likely that presentations and homelessness rates will increase 
throughout 2009.  The Council of Mortgage Lenders predicts that in 2009 
there will be 75,000 mortgage repossessions (45,000 in 2008).  There are a 
number of recently introduced initiatives (e.g. Mortgage Rescue Scheme) in 
place to help households facing repossession and additional capacity is 
required to work with these households to access them.   

 
Additional funding is therefore requested to maintain the existing temporary 
worker and employ a further additional temporary officer (to give a team of 
8).  The required funding being an extra £70k for 2009/10 and £80k for 
2010/11. 
 
 
 
 

8



If additional resources are not forthcoming there will be insufficient staff to 
deal with casework.  The likely consequences are that the service will not be 
as successful in the prevention of homelessness or helping customers find 
alternative housing options.  If customers cannot be seen quickly in order to 
help them avoid crisis situations, or there is insufficient capacity to then 
follow through the required in-depth casework with individuals, and 
interventions for individuals, the likely knock-on affect is that the Council will 
be faced with more homelessness crisis situations, with higher number of 
homelessness applications and an increased use of temporary 
accommodation, against a government target of reduced use of temporary 
accommodation.  Temporary accommodation and in particular the use of 
B&B has a cost to the Council.  Increasing homelessness and increased use 
of temporary accommodation may then affect judgements, by others, on the 
Council’s performance and any assessment ratings. 
  
Even with the current (mainly unfunded) additional temporary officer, staff 
will be unable to continue to work at the current levels of intensity.  The 
concern is that work pressures may lead to higher levels of sickness which 
will further increase the intensity on fewer staff.  
 
Housing and Council Tax Benefits 
The benefits caseload is increasing each month, which has a knock on effect 
to assessment times, customer service (face to face) and telephone 
enquiries. The longer a case takes to process, the more likely it is that the 
customer will chase their claim.  The DWP has provided funding of £75k for 
2009/10, ring fenced specifically for Housing Benefits provision.  Two 
temporary assessment officers are to be recruited and one extra customer 
service advisor.  Recruitment and training times will mean that we won’t get 
the full benefit of these new staff for several months.  If the level of claims 
and enquiries continues to rise, it is expected that a further two temporary 
staff will need to be taken on, at a cost of £50k.  This requirement may be 
met by additional government funding, and the funding may continue into 
2010/11. If there is insufficient government funding a report will be presented 
later in the year.  
 
National Non Domestic Rates  
The Council is able to grant discretionary or hardship relief from business 
rates, and if it chooses to do so, part of the cost is borne by the council.  The 
Head of Customer Services has delegated authority to grant such relief in 
consultation with the Executive Councillor for Finance. 
 
Each case is considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 
relevant legislation.  Awards have tended to be made only where some 
special circumstances apply and where the organisation is relevant to 
Huntingdonshire. 
 
HDC awarded hardship relief in only five cases between 2004/5 and 2008/9, 
with amounts varying between £3k and £10k per year.  Ten cases were 
refused. However, in 2009/10, we have already awarded almost £90k in 
hardship relief (£85k on one case). 
 
 

9



Since January 2009, we have seen a significant increase from businesses 
who are seeking financial assistance.  It is likely that this trend will continue 
as long as the recession does. 
 
As stated above, only part of the cost of granting these reliefs (discretionary 
and hardship) is borne by the council, and details are shown in the following 
table. 
 

 Total relief 
awarded 
£’000 

Cost to 
HDC 
£’000 

Budget 
 
£’000 

Over(+) /  
underspend (-) 
£’000 

2007/8 92 23 27 - 4 

2008/9 85 21 27 - 6 

2009/10 * 187 47 27 + 20 

*to end of May 2009  
 
The Head of Customer Services already has two more applications to 
consider, but no budget available should a positive decision be required.  In 
view of the exceptional circumstances relating to 2009/10 and the desire to 
support businesses that are sustainable and bring a benefit to the local 
community or economy, a supplementary estimate of £60k is requested. 
 
Citizens Advice Bureaux 
The authority already commissions services from Huntingdonshire Citizens 
Advice Bureaux. The commissioning agreement was designed to meet 
service demand as existed in 2007/08 and included stretch targets requiring 
an increase of 10% in volume of service provided to customers. Since late 
2008 the demands for the service have exceeded this ambitious growth plan 
and service demand in 2008/09 increased by 91% over the target set. 
Additional funds of £34k over 2 financial years (£20k 2009/10 and £14k 
2010/11) will enable the CAB to respond to the increased service demands 
arising out of the present economic downturn by providing debt, housing and 
advice services at agreed outreach locations across Huntingdonshire. 
 

Summary 2009/10 2010/11 

 £000 £000 

Housing Advice/Homelessness 70  80 

National Non Domestic Rates  60  

Citizens Advice Bureaux 20 14 

 150 94* 
*Extra funding requests for 2010/11 will be included in the MTP. 

10



  
  
CABINET 18th JUNE 2009 
 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 
(Report by the Head of Financial Services) 

 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report reviews the performance during 2008/9, considers if 
the strategy that the Council has adopted has been effective, and 
addresses any issues of risk and compliance with statutory and 
regulatory requirements.  

1.2. During 2008/09 the Council borrowed £10m from the PWLB to 
fund future capital spending. This was matched by temporary 
investments thus allowing gross investments to rise by £2.2m. 

1.3. Annex A gives details of these totals as at 31 March 2009. 

 
2. PERFORMANCE OF FUNDS 

2.1. During the year the bank base rate fell from 5.25% at 1 April 2008 
to 0.5% on 3 March 2009. Despite this the performance of the fund 
exceeded the base rate at the start of the year and the budget 
level. 

2.2. The table below shows the returns by fund manager. Whilst the 
benchmark for in-house funds is officially the 7 day rate, a split has 
also been shown to indicate a comparison for the medium term 
element against the 3 month rate as used for CDCM:  

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR APRIL 2008 – MARCH 2009 

 
Performance 

% 

Benchmark 

% 

Variation from 

benchmark 

CDCM 5.4 4.6** +0.8 

In-house 5.5 3.7^^ +1.8 

In-house 
medium term 

4.4 2.1** +2.3 

In-house 
cash flow 

5.5 3.8^^ +1.7 

Manager 
April 2008 

£m 
March 2009 

     £m 

City Deposit Cash Managers (CDCM)       26.5 18.0 
In-house medium term 12.0      10.0 
In-house cash flow   1.8  14.5 
   Gross investments  40.3 42.5 
Borrowing from the PWLB  -10.0 
Borrowing for cash flow  -6.0 
   Net investments  40.3 26.5 

Agenda Item 4

11



**  3 month LIBID      ^^ 7 day rate 

2.3. This very good performance was due to many of the investments 
being locked into higher rates before the year started or before 
rates had dropped too far.  

2.4. The actual net investment interest (after deduction of interest 
payable on loans) was £2,491k compared with a budget of 
£2,162k 

 
3. BORROWING IN ADVANCE AND IN-HOUSE INVESTMENT OF 

FUNDS  

3.1. The 2008/09 MTP showed that from 2009/10 the Council would 
need to borrow to finance capital expenditure. Following 
discussion with our external auditor, it had been agreed that the 
Council could borrow in anticipation of the need to fund the five 
year MTP period if it was considered that the rates were 
attractively low. 

3.2. In December 2008 the long-term PWLB rates were considered to 
be very low and so £5m was borrowed for 50 years at 3.90% and 
£5m for 49 years at 3.91%. This judgement proved to be correct 
as the 50 year rate bottomed out at 3.86%. It has now risen to 
4.8% (26 May). 

3.3. Due to the interest rate structure available at that time it was 
decided to invest the sum borrowed for 4 and 5 years pending use 
for financing capital expenditure. 

3.4. The remaining investments are ‘in-house’ funds that are either 
short term funds that fluctuate on a daily basis due to the volatility 
of the cash flow to and from the Authority, or invested for up to 15 
months  to meet cash flow needs in the medium term. The cash 
position varied from net investments of £8m to £33m 

 

4. STRATEGY 

4.1. The Council’s strategy for 2008/09 was based on using CDCM to 
manage a reducing value of time deposits with the remainder, 
mainly cash flow, managed in-house. 

4.2. The strategy was reviewed on two occasions during the year with 
the Capital Receipts Advisory Group (CRAG). The first meeting 
was in response to a number of major Icelandic Banks going into 
administration in October 2008. Whilst this Council did not have 
any investments with them at that time other local authorities had 
nearly £1bn invested. This raised fundamental questions about the 
value of credit ratings in managing risks and the role of Treasury 
Management advisors.  

12



 

4.3. CRAG considered the balance of the risk of investments being lost 
with the investment return and agreed that they still felt safe with 
investing in building societies and banks with high credit ratings. 
This Council has never expected its Treasury Investment advisor 
to take a view on the safety of individual borrowers and so this 
was not the issue that it subsequently became with some other 
authorities. 

4.4. The Annual Treasury Management Strategy includes the 
mandates for Fund Managers and in-house investments; copies of 
the mandates, in place as at March 2009, are attached at Annex 
B. A change was made during the year on the maximum 
investments with counterparties: 

 

4.5 In addition to the above limits a new category was added: each 
group (or institution if not part of a group) can have an additional 
limit of £5m for a “liquidity” account which is defined for this 
purpose as any account where we can recall our funds the same 
day. 

 
  

5. RISK IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Treasury Management Policy approved by the Cabinet in 
2002, emphasises the importance of controlling risk of which there 
are three main elements:  

• that the borrower will be unable to return the loan when it is 
due 

• that the Fund Manager/in-house team will take the wrong 
view on interest rate movements leading to poor returns 

• that the investments are not sufficiently liquid to be able to be 
returned in time to meet the cash flow needs of the Authority.  

 2008/09 
strategy 

New limits 
from Nov 
2008 

F1+ or have a legal position that guarantees 
repayment for the period of the investment 

 £6m 

F1  £5m 

Building Society with assets over £2bn in top 25 
(Currently 16) 

£4m £6m 

Building Society with assets over £1bn if in top 25 
(Currently 3) 

£3m £5m 

Building Society with assets under £1bn in top 25 £2m £3m 

13



5.2 The Authority has minimised these risks in the following ways: 

Risk of the borrower being unable to repay the investment  
The mandates specifically limit the organisations that can be 
invested with together with a limit for each counterparty. These 
restrict lending to the safest categories of bank, based on their 
credit rating, and UK Building Societies which are considered to 
have an element of support from the Government.  

In that most investments are time deposits the fact that Credit 
Ratings can change after the investment is made can create a 
risk. This is mitigated by ensuring that we receive the very latest 
information on ratings as soon as they are issued. 

CDCM are very experienced and able to identify any references in 
the financial press that may lead to reductions in ratings. 

As our reserves fall the duration of time deposits will be reduced.  

Experience has shown that building societies are effectively 
protected by the Government or other building societies. The most 
recent example was the Dunfermline Building Society which got 
into difficulties in March. Within a few days the Government 
organised a rescue package whereby most of the loans and 
investments were transferred to the Nationwide Building Society, 
including this Council’s £4M investment. Whilst this experience 
resulted in some concern at the time the result has reinforced the 
view that building societies will be protected. Building Societies 
also have guaranteed access to Government loans. 

None of the treasury management transactions during the year 
have compromised the mandate limits. 

Risk of the wrong view on interest rates being taken 
All CDCM investment recommendations are referred to the 
Council before the deal is made so the authority can question the 
proposal if they have any concerns on the rate proposed. Daily 
market information and periodic reports from the Council’s 
advisers ensure that the Council has the information it needs to 
take a considered view on future interest rate trends. 

The mandates limit the duration of the investments which reduces 
the impact on the value if the interest rate view turns out to be 
incorrect. 

Risk of the funds not being available to be returned to the 
Council at the required time 
The Council’s use of time deposits, which cannot be traded, 
means that they will only be returned at the end of the agreed 
period. The Council therefore produces cash flow forecasts that 
help set the limit on the duration of those investments. The 
mandates therefore include the dates by which various sums must 
be available. 

14



In general the Council projections have tended to be pessimistic 
but, if there was a shortfall, temporary borrowing is straightforward 
pending the repayment of the investment. Indeed, with the current 
interest rate structure, any temporary borrowing is likely to be at a 
lower rate than is being earned on our investments. 

Seeking Professional Advice 
Sterling Consultancy Services were appointed from 1 January 
2008 and they have been pro-active in advising the Authority of 
changes to the credit ratings of counterparties and providing other 
relevant information. 

Active monitoring 
As well as reports to Cabinet, your officers monitor returns each 
month. 

 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS AND CODES 

6.1 All the treasury management transactions have been carried out in 
accordance with the legislation and regulations concerning 
treasury management. 

6.2 The Council met the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management by adopting a Policy Statement in 
February 2002 and Treasury Management Practices in 2003/04. 
These assist both Members and Officers in the effective 
management and control of treasury management activities.   

6.3 In 2003/04 CIPFA introduced the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance and the DCLG brought out new guidance on Local 
Government investments.  Both of these became effective from 1 
April 2004. These require the Council to approve Prudential 
Indicators and an annual Treasury Management Strategy. Those 
for 2008/09 were approved at the Council meeting on 20th 
February 2008. Annex C shows the relevant indicators and the 
actual results.  

 
7 CONCLUSION  

7.1 The performance of the funds in a year when rates fell drastically 
was very pleasing, exceeding both the benchmark and the 
budgeted investment interest 

7.2 In a year of turmoil in the financial markets which included the 
collapse of the Icelandic Banks and Dunfermline Building Society 
getting into difficulties all of the Council’s investments were repaid 
in full and on time. 

7.3 The Authority borrowed £10m from PWLB in anticipation of its 
need to fund capital expenditure at a very attractive rate. 

15



 

7.4 The Authority has carried out its treasury management activities 
with due regard to minimising risk, and in accordance with 
legislation. During the year it reviewed its strategy in the light of 
external events in the markets. It has adopted the CIPFA Code on 
Treasury Management, the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
and the DCLG’s guidance on Local Government investments. 

  
8 RECOMMENDATION 

8.1 It is recommended that the content of this report be noted 

 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
2008/09 cash management files and working papers 
Reports to the Cabinet and Capital Receipts Advisory Group 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
Mrs Eleanor Smith         Accountancy Manager        Tel. 01480 388157 

16



ANNEX A 

               BORROWING AND INVESTMENTS AT 31 MARCH 2009 

  RATING DATE 
 

AMOUNT    INTEREST REPAYMENT YEAR OF 

    INVESTED/   RATE DATE MATURITY 

    BORROWED  £'000   £'000  %    

           

HDC LOANS          

           

SHORT TERM          

City of Edinburgh   25-Mar-09 -      3,000   0.600 15-Apr-09 2009/10 

Shropshire County Council   30-Mar-09 -      3,000   0.550 16-Apr-09 2009/10 

      -     6,000      

LONG TERM          

PWLB   19-Dec-08 -      5,000   3.910 19-Dec-57 2057/58 

PWLB   19-Dec-08 -      5,000   3.900 19-Dec-58 2058/59 

      -   10,000      

HDC TOTAL LOANS     -   16,000      

           

HDC INVESTMENTS          

SHORT TERM          
Chelsea BS F1  P1 6-Mar-09 2,000   2.120 08-Jun-09 2009/10 
Nationwide (Dunfermline) BS  P2 19-Mar-09  1,000   2.250 21-Sep-09 2009/10 

National Counties BS   19-Mar-09        1,000   2.350 21-Sep-09 2009/10 

Principality BS F2 P2 24-Nov-08        4,000   4.400 24-Feb-10 2009/10 

Chelsea BS F1 P1 24-Nov-08        3,000   4.350 24-Feb-10 2009/10 

Newcastle BS F1 P2 24-Nov-08 1,000   4.350 24-Feb-10 2009/10 

Nottingham BS  P2 19-Mar-09        2,500   2.500 18-Mar-10 2009/10 

          14,500      

LONG TERM           

Royal Bank of Scotland F1+ P1 19-Dec-08 5,000   4.040 19-Dec-12 2012/13 
Skipton BS F1 P1 19-Dec-08  5,000   4.850 19-Dec-13 2013/14 

          10,000      

HDC Total         24,500      

           

           

CDCM          

Newcastle BS F1 P2 24-Nov-08        3,000   4.400 24-Aug-09 2009/10 

Kent Reliance BS    15-Sep-07        3,000   5.010 15-Sep-09 2009/10 

Norwich & Peterborough BS  P1 09-Jan-09        2,000   3.200 09-Oct-09 2009/10 

Northern Rock F1+ P1 28-Nov-07        2,000   5.780 28-Nov-09 2009/10 

Stroud & Swindon BS   21-Aug-08       3,000   6.150 22-Feb-10 2009/10 

Nationwide (Cheshire) BS  P2 25-Jun-08     2,000   2.209 24-Jun-10 2010/11 

Nationwide (Dunfermline) BS  P1 21-Aug-08 3,000   6.100 30-Sep-10 2010/11 

          18,000      

           

TOTAL - INVESTMENTS         42,500      

           

NET - LOANS/INVESTMENTS         26,500      

                  

 

17



ANNEX B 
EXTERNAL FUND MANAGER MANDATE 

CDCM 

Duration of 
investments 

£4.5M must be available at 31 March 2008 
£4.5M must be available at 31 March 2009 
£6.5M must be available at 31 March 2010 
£4.5M must be available at 31 March 2011 
£4.5M must be available at 31 March 2012 
£3M must be available at 31 March 2013 

Types of 
investments 

Fixed Deposits 
Deposits at call, two or seven day notice 
Variable rate investments limited to 50% of the portfolio 

Credit Ratings F1 by FITCH IBCA or equivalent 

Maximum limits 

 

English and Scottish Clearing Banks and their 
subsidiaries, and Overseas Banks, per institution or 
group and Building Societies: 
F1+ or have a legal position that guarantees repayment 
for the period of the investment 
F1  
Building Society with assets over £2bn in top 25 
(Currently 16) 
Building Society with assets over £1bn if in top 25 
(Currently 3) 
Building Society with assets under £1bn in top 25 

 

 

 

£6m 
 
£5m 
£6m 
 
£5m 
 
£4m 

Benchmark 3  

 

IN-HOUSE FUND MANAGEMENT 

Duration of 
investments 

£8M must be available at 31 March 2008 
£12M must be available at 31 March 2009 
No investment shall be longer than 3 years. 

Types of 
investments 

Fixed Deposits 
Deposits at call, two or seven day notice 
Money Market Funds 
No variable rate investments 

Credit Ratings  F1+ by FITCH IBCA or equivalent 

Maximum limits English and Scottish Clearing Banks and their 
subsidiaries, and Overseas Banks, per institution or 
group and Building Societies 
F1+ or have a legal position that guarantees repayment 
for the period of the investment 
F1  
Building Society with assets over £2bn in top 25 
(Currently 16) 
Building Society with assets over £1bn if in top 25 
(Currently 3) 
Building Society with assets under £1bn in top 25 
 
Additional limit per group for liquidity account 

 

 

 

£6m 
 
£5m 
£6m 
 
£5m 
 
£4m 
 
£5m 

Benchmark LGC 7 day rate 

 

18



Annex C 
 

Prudential Indicators for 2008/09 relating to Treasury Management 
Comparison of actual results with limits 

 
 

The authorised limit for external debt.   
This is the maximum limit for borrowing and is based on a worst-case 
scenario. This limit, and the operational boundary below, were set to allow up 
to £26.3m of borrowing in anticipation of need. 
 

2008/9 
Limit 
£000 

2008/9 
Actual  
£000 

46,300 15,250 

 
 
 
The operational boundary for external debt. 
This reflects a less extreme position. Although the figure can be exceeded 
without further approval it represents an early warning monitoring device to 
ensure that the authorised limit (above) is not exceeded.  

 
2008/9 

Limit 
£000 

2008/9 
Actual 
£000 

41,300 15,250 

 
 
Both of these actual results reflect the fact that long term rates were not 
considered low enough to borrow the maximum possible of long-term loans in 
anticipation of need. 

 
Adoption of the CIPFA Code 
The Prudential Code requires the Authority to have adopted the CIPFA Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services. 
This has been adopted.  

 
 

Exposure to investments with fixed interest and variable interest.  
These limits are given as a percentage of total investments. 
 

 2008/9 
Limit 

2008/9 
Actual 

Upper limit on fixed rate exposure 100% 100% 

Upper limit on variable rate exposure 50% 12% 
 

This reflects the investments that CDCM had during the year where the rate is 
revised every half-year. By the year-end these investments had been re-paid 
and 100% of investments were fixed rate 

19



 
Borrowing Repayment Profile 
The proportion of 2008/9 borrowing that will mature in successive periods.  

 
Cash flow borrowing Upper 

limit 
Actual Lower 

limit 

Under 12 months 100% 100% 100% 

12 months and within  
24 months 

0% 0% 0% 

24 months and within  
5 years 

0% 0% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 0% 

10 years and above 0% 0% 0% 

 
 

Funding capital schemes Upper limit Actual Lower 
limit 

Under 12 months 0% 0% 0% 

12 months and within  
24 months 

0% 0% 0% 

24 months and within  
5 years 

0% 0% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 100% 0% 

 
 
Investment Repayment Profile 
Limit on the value of investments that cannot be redeemed within 364 days.   

 
 
 
 
 

 

2008/9 
Limit 
£000 

2008/9 
Actual- maximum 

£000 

2008/9 
Actual – 31/3/09 

£000 

22,500 17,000 10,000 

20



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (ECONOMIC 
WELLBEING) 

11 JUNE 2009 

CABINET 18 JUNE 2009 
 
 

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES ACT 
 

(Report by Head of People, Performance and Partnerships and Head of 
Democratic and Central Services) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  

 
This report provides Members with an outline of the Sustainable 
Communities Act 2007 and a suggested response for the Council. 

  
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Sustainable Communities Act was developed through a five year 

campaign by a coalition of interest groups called Local Works (now 
‘Unlock Democracy’) aimed at reducing the loss of small local 
businesses and community facilities in parts of the Country, and the 
linking this to wider sustainability concerns. It was taken up as a Private 
Members Bill but during its parliamentary passage (in an amended 
form), it gained the support of the government. Publicity around the Act, 
has been generated by the ‘Local Works/Unlock Democracy’, who have 
been encouraging Councils to ‘opt in’.  However, there is no requirement 
to do this and it is intended that proposals will be invited by the 
Secretary of State annually.   

 
2.3 The Act now forms part of a package of legislation, regulations and 

guidance aimed at improving the sustainability and engagement with 
communities and strengthening democracy.  It places a duty on the 
Secretary of State to invite local authorities (County/Unitary and District 
Councils) to make proposals that they consider would contribute to 
promoting the sustainability of local communities. This is defined as 
improving the economic, social or environmental well-being of local 
areas.  In simple terms, this means asking the Secretary of State to 
change something that is currently preventing the local authority from 
doing what it wants to do, either through a change in legislation or by 
devolving powers.  

 
2.4 In exercising this discretion, the Council must similarly invite local 

communities to suggest changes and then have a way of consulting on 
those ideas. Local Works have published on their website examples of 
Councils who have resolved to use the Act (see www.localworks.org). 

 
3. PROCESS FOR THE FORMULATION AND INVITATION OF 

PROPOSALS 
 
3.1 At Appendix A is a flow diagram showing the process for formulating and 

submitting ideas for proposals which includes:- 
 
 Invitation 

The Secretary of State issued the first invitation on 14th October 2008 for 
proposals to be submitted by 31st July 2009.   There is no indication from 

Agenda Item 5

21



the Secretary of State when the next invitation will be made, but it is  
expected annually.  

 
 Local Spending Reports 

To help in this process, the Secretary of State must also produce “Local 
Spending Reports” detailing how public money is spent in a local area to 
assist local authorities in drawing up proposals for submission.  These 
reports were published on 29 April 2009 based on financial information 
available to the Secretary of State.  The reports cover a range of 
functions and are not necessarily broken down to district level or by the 
boundaries of other organisations.  The full report can be viewed on the 
communities and local government website at. 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/corporate/statistics/localspe
ndingreports200607 

 
 Local Panels 

Local authorities must “establish or recognise” a panel of 
“representatives of local persons”, consult the panel about the proposals 
and try and reach agreement with it on the proposal(s) to be submitted. 
The guidance says that panels must include under represented groups 
and local authorities must also work with Third Sector organisations ( 
voluntary and Community groups) and other agencies to determine who 
these under represented groups are.  These panels can be used to 
generate ideas as well as a means of consultation proposals.  Proposals 
may include a request for a transfer of functions from one person (or 
organisation) to another but both parties must be consulted first. 

 
3.2 Initially, all proposals submitted will be considered and short listed by the 

Local Government Association before it consults the Secretary of State, 
who will determine which proposals (if any) can be implemented. 

 
3.3 Guidance issued by the government says that proposals will be 

assessed against criteria which: 
 

• will improve the sustainability of the local area 

• cannot be achieved through any existing powers (e.g. Well-being 
powers) 

• could benefit other areas 

• won’t require any new public money 

• does not conflict with government policy 

 
4. GENERATION AND FORMULATION OF IDEAS  
 
4.1 The scope of the Act is very broad.  There is a lack of clarity about the 

process and a lack of guidance about the extent of evidence required to 
support assumptions of sustainability.  Following this first round of 
proposals it is envisaged that there will be some emerging good practice 
examples that can be used to model future consultations.  Appended to 
this report at Appendix B is an extract from a leaflet produced by local 
works with examples of how the Act might be used. 

 
4.2 The Act is prescriptive on who should be consulted on proposals.  

Appendix C sets out diagrammatically a model which represents the 
range of individuals/organisations who could be involved in generating 
ideas and formulating proposals in Huntingdonshire.  The Act is vague 
about how and whom ideas can be generated from.  Ideas could be 
invited from local residents, community groups, stakeholders, businesses 

22



etc or the Council itself.  A means will need to be developed to review 
ideas and work up detailed proposals before consulting with the ‘panel’ 
and relevant organisations.  This work would not present immediate direct 
costs, but would incur significant resource implications for the Council.  At 
present, the Council does not have a specific existing panel of 
representatives that would meet the requirements of the Act.  Setting up a 
specific panel for this purpose would have resource implications and is not 
considered a cost effective way forward and for this reason Working 
Group and subsequently the Council concluded that any proposals under 
the Act should be subject to consultation with the proposed 
neighbourhood forums. It is likely that such forums will become 
operational during late summer/early autumn.  The Model at appendix C 
suggests and additional meeting allowing the panels to “come together” to 
consider collectively any proposals.  

 
4.3 There are clear links with the statutory Sustainable Community Strategy 

for Huntingdonshire (SCS) and where appropriate proposals might need 
to be considered by the Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership to maintain 
a clear focus on the achievement of the SCS. 

 
4.4 Discussions between local authorities across Cambridgeshire on their 

response to the Act are ongoing to identify potential areas for collective 
proposals.   

 
5. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Members note the content of the report and that procedures 
and processes to generate and formulate ideas and proposals in 
relation to the Act will be developed in conjunction with the 
implementation of neighbourhood panels. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Sustainable Communities Act 2007 
Sustainable Communities Act 2007: A Guide, Department of Communities and 
Local Government 
Local Spending Reports: 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/corporate/statistics/localspendingrep
orts200607  
Local Works Website: www.localworks.org 
Contact Officer: Claire Sides, Partnership Manager 

 
 (((( 01480 388495 
 

23



24

This page is intentionally left blank



S
e
c
re
ta
ry
 o
f 
S
ta
te
 i
n
v
it
e
s
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls

Id
e
a
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
  
  
  

w
o
rk
e
d
 u
p

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
n
e
l 
a
n
d
 

im
p
lic
a
te
d
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

S
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 t
o
 L
G
A

S
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 t
o
 S
e
c
re
ta
ry
 o
f 
S
ta
te

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 A

25



S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 A
c
t 
–
E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
id
e
a
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls

M
e
m
b
e
rs

D
is
tr
ic
t

C
o
u
n
c
il

L
o
c
a
l

P
a
n
e
l

(d
ra
w
n
 f
ro
m
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

p
a
n
e
ls
)

C
C
C

H
S
P

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y

g
ro
u
p
s

R
e
s
id
e
n
ts

S
ta
k
e

-h
o
ld
e
rs

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s

P
a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
il
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 C

Id
e
a
s

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
r

-h
o
o
d

p
a
n
e
ls

If
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d

26



Here are some ideas you could put to your citizens’ panel.

#฀Somewhere near you there may be a large ‘out of town’ supermarket 

(or other superstore) with perhaps 1,000 car parking spaces. Did 

you know that the store does not have to pay non domestic business 

rates on those spaces? You could compare this with the position 

faced by local shops of having their trade affected by yellow lines and 

So why not suggest the following idea to your local panel, urging 

them to make it one of the suggestions to be put to the Secretary of 

State (SoS).

‘That the Secretary of State takes the power (or gives local 

authorities the power) to levy non domestic rates on all 

those car parking spaces – with a power for the council to 

allow discounts (perhaps up to 100%) if the supermarket, or 

other store, sources a stated percentage of goods for sale 

locally.’

The effect of this could be enormous: a boost for local farms and 

small businesses creating local jobs and economic activity. If 

that idea was put to the SoS by a large number of councils the 

requirement to ‘try to seek agreement’ would make it even more 

compromise position.

#฀ Or take the situation faced by the growing number of small 

brewers, in both rural and urban areas. A nearby pub (say 

half a mile away), that might wish to buy their products might 

be owned by a pub company (many are) which might require 

the beer to be transported 50 miles to a depot before being 

sent back to the pub. So the beer is traveling 100 miles when 

it should travel less than one. You could point out that this 

puts up the price of beer, causes noise and environmental 

growth (and so jobs) by the brewery. So why not suggest the 

following idea to your local panel, urging them to make it one 

of the suggestions to be put to the SoS.

‘That the Secretary of State either takes steps to 

prevent this kind of requirement or gives local 

authorities the power to take such steps themselves 

e.g. using the planning system or by charging the 

pub company for the environmental damage their practices are 

causing.’

This could lead to easier expansion by small brewers and more local jobs.

#฀ Another local job creation (and CO
2
 reduction!) policy would be to remove 

the hurdles to local energy generation schemes. 

>฀ Woking Borough Council have managed to do this to an extent 

– with the result that they have provided cheaper electricity, less CO
2

emissions, local jobs and a ‘cash surplus’ that has been invested in 

local projects. But requirements relating to ‘private wires’ (as distinct 

from the national grid) still hamper progress. 

>฀ A report (REvision 2020) produced for the south-western government 

region and regional assembly in 2005 shows that local energy 

generation could produce 7,000 jobs.

>฀ A report (Green Alchemy) produced by the London Development 

Agency in 2003 showed that local energy generation would produce 

7,000 jobs in London.

So why not suggest the following idea to your local panel, urging them to 

make it one of the suggestions to be put to the SoS.

‘That the SoS develops a strategy to enable councils to promote 

local energy schemes, and in particular reviews the requirements 

regarding private wire systems.’ 

#฀ Other ideas, some of which have been suggested by the recent report 

of the Rural Advocate in 2007, published by the Commission for Rural 

Communities, are

>฀ That the Secretary of State should require all Regional Development 

Agencies to set up a standing recovery fund to help small businesses

>฀ That the ceiling for rate relief for small businesses is raised by 

increasing the eligible rateable value

>฀ That the Secretary of State should help councils’ local food strategies, 

in order to encourage the development of local food industries/

agriculture.

>฀ That a ‘jobs from local waste’ strategy should be drawn up by the 

government in conjunction with local authorities and implemented.

#฀ An idea that came up repeatedly at our public meetings 

when campaigning for the Act was the issue of second 

or holiday homes. Time and time again we were told of 

towns and villages where the high proportion of second 

homes was destroying their community and causing 

the decline of local shops, as the areas are, literally, 

Ghost Towns for most of the year. Indeed this is not 

only a village or small town problem. A recent survey 

In order to combat this why not suggest the following 

idea to your local panel, urging them to make it one of 

the suggestions to be put to the SoS.

‘That local authorities are given the power (e.g. via the planning 

system or via penal council tax) to prevent further holiday 

homes, thus making more local housing available for people to 

live in 12 months per year.

#฀ Or you could suggest that your local panel suggests in its submission to 

the Secretary of State that:

>฀

Trusts, which provide low cost housing for local people,

>฀ That the government should remove capital gains tax reduction from 

the sale of second homes,

>฀ That councils are given the power to create a separate fund for the 

revenue raised from council tax on second homes to be used for 

reinvestment in local affordable housing needs.

>฀ That the Secretary of State sets targets for investment in areas where 

lack of local housing is an issue. The achievement of these targets 

could be achieved by an increase in the funding allocations made by 

Regional Assemblies.

>฀ Your local authority is given extra powers to deal with the problem of 

>฀ Government action to help housing co-ops, self-build schemes and 

bringing empty property into use.

SOUNDS TOO GOOD TO BE TRUE!

Local jobs and housing
Let’s start with two basic issues that, if dealt with, could generate the local activity 

1. Local jobs and economic activity: How the Act can help.

2. Protecting and creating local housing: How the Act can help.

SO HOW CAN THIS ACT HELP US PROTECT OUR POST 
OFFICES, SHOPS, PUBS, LOCAL JOBS, HOUSING AND 
IMPROVE OUR COMMUNITY?

specifi ed by a local authority in respect of its area) of their place of sale or of the boundary of the 

(c) the rate of increase in the growth and marketing of organic forms of food production and the local food 

(d) measures to promote reasonable access by all local people to a supply of food that is adequate in terms of 

(f) measures to conserve energy and increase the quantity of energy supplies which are produced from 

(g) measures taken to reduce the level of road traffi c including, but not restricted to, local public transport 

provision, measures to promote walking and cycling and measures to decrease the amount of product 

(l) planning policies which would assist with the purposes of this Act, including new arrangements for the 

“local services” includes, but is not restricted to, retail outlets, public houses, banks, health facilities, including 

hospitals and pharmacies, legal services, social housing, post offi ces, schools, public eating places, leisure facilities 

“local food economy” means a system of producing, processing and trading primarily organic forms of food 

production, where the activity is largely contained in the area or region where the food was produced;

(a) jobs in companies or organisations that in the opinion of the appropriate authority will spend a 

“mutual aid” means actions or initiatives by people in the community to improve services or provisions for 

“product miles” means the total distance produce is transported from the place of growth or production to the 

“social inclusion” means the opportunity for all people resident in any area to play an equal role in the economic, 

“local democracy” means the ability to participate, by means of voting at elections or otherwise, in decision-

“community health and well-being” means the degree to which persons resident in an area identify with that 

area and receive an increased quality of life as a result of the nature and the environment of the area.

For more information please see our websites: www.localworks.org and www.unlockdemocracy.org.uk27



28

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET                                                                     18th June 2009 

 

 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

(Report by the Head of People, Performance & Partnerships) 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Members performance 

management information on “Growing Success” – the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, to Cabinet. 

 
 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

2.1 In September 2008 the Council adopted an updated Plan which 
includes 37 short, medium and long term objectives to help achieve 
aims and ambitions for Huntingdonshire’s communities and the 
Council itself.  In addition the Council have identified a smaller 
number (8) of objectives which were considered to be a priority for 
the immediate future. 

 
 
3. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT  

 
3.1 Progress against all 37 objectives are reported to Chief Officer 

Management Team quarterly on a service basis.  A progress report 
from each Division includes performance data in the form of 
achievement against a target for each of the objectives that those 
services contribute towards. This is supported by narrative on 
achievements, other issues or risks and budgeting information.  In 
addition, a working group jointly appointed by the Overview & 
Scrutiny Panels continues to meet quarterly to monitor progress in 
the achievement of the Plan and to consider development issues. 

 
3.2 Members of the Overview & Scrutiny Panels have an important role 

in the Council’s Performance Management Framework and the 
process of regular review of performance data has been established.  
In adopting the updated version of Growing Success, and in 
particular in prioritising objectives, it was intended that Members 
should concentrate their monitoring on a small number of objectives 
to enable them to adopt a strategic overview while building 
confidence that the Council priorities are being achieved.  

 
3.3 Executive members requested that the Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s 

deliberations were summarised and appended to this report.  
However, due to the timing of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s 
meeting and the distribution of the Cabinet agenda the Panels 
comments will now be circulated separately. 

 
 
4. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 

4.1 The following performance data is appended for consideration: 

Agenda Item 6

29



Annex A - a summary of achievements, issues and risks relating to 
the objectives identified by the Heads of Service 
 

Annex B - Performance data from services which contribute to the 
Council priority objectives.  For each measure there is a target, 
actual performance against target, forecast performance for the next 
period and a comments field.  The data is colour coded as follows: 
• green – achieving target or above; 
• amber – between target and an “intervention level (the level at 
which performance is considered to be unacceptable and action is 
required); 

• red – the intervention level or below; and 
• grey - data not unavailable 
 
Annex C – Council Improvement Plan – a rolling plan of actions 
identified following internal or external reviews such as the 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment, Use of Resources 
Assessment and the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
 

5. RECOMMENDATION 

 

5.1 It is recommended that Cabinet consider the results of performance 
for priority objectives. 

  

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
Performance Management reports produced from the Council’s CPMF software 
system 
 
Growing Success: Corporate Plan 
 
 
Contact Officer: Howard Thackray, Policy & Research Manager 

 (((( 01480 388035 
 

30



S
O

C
IA

L
 W

E
L
L
-B

E
IN

G
 (

u
p

 t
o

 3
1

s
t  M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

9
) 

A
N

N
E

X
 A

 

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
L

e
is

u
re

 C
e

n
tr

e
s

: 
a
n
 8

1
,0

0
0
 a

d
m

is
s
io

n
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 (

+
4
.8

%
) 

fr
o
m

 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

 T
o
ta

l 
1
.7

4
 m

ill
io

n
. 
N

e
w

 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

F
u
n
 Z

o
n
e

 a
v
e
ra

g
e
s
 u

p
 t
o
 2

,0
0
0
 n

e
w

 v
is

it
o
rs

 p
e
r 

w
e
e
k
. 

 E
v
e

ry
 c

e
n

tr
e

 r
e
p

o
rt

e
d

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 s
w

im
m

in
g

 a
d

m
is

s
io

n
s
 

(o
v
e

ra
ll 

1
6

%
 u

p
).

  
T

h
e

 a
v
e
ra

g
e

 s
w

im
m

e
rs

 p
e
r 

p
o
o

l 
h

o
u

r 
is

 n
o
w

 u
p
 b

y
 3

 t
o
 2

4
. 
 I
n

 t
o
ta

l,
 7

1
%

 o
f 

a
ll 

c
o
u
rt

s
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 w
e
re

 b
o
o
k
e
d
 (

6
8
%

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r)

. 
 T

h
e
re

 w
e
re

 2
6

7
,0

0
0
 v

is
it
s
 t
o

 I
m

p
re

s
s
io

n
s
 (

2
5

6
,0

0
0

 i
n

 0
7
-0

8
).

  
  

F
re

e
 s

w
im

s
 f
o

r 
o

v
e

r 
6
0

’s
 c

o
m

m
e

n
c
e
d

 A
p

ri
l 
1

s
t .

S
ta

ff
in

g
 R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
: 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 s

ta
ff
 r

e
-s

tr
u
c
tu

re
. 
3
0

 p
o
s
ts

 r
e
-g

ra
d
e
d
. 
 

R
e
n

e
g

o
ti

a
ti

o
n

 w
it

h
 C

a
m

b
s
 C

C
 o

n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
a
g

re
e
m

e
n

t:
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
s
 t
e
rm

in
a
te

d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
. 

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
m

e
c
h
a
n
is

m
 w

ill
 b

e
 A

c
ti
v
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 F
o

ru
m

. 
F

o
rm

a
l 
a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h
 C

o
u
n

ty
 s

ti
ll 

o
n
-g

o
in

g
 b

u
t 
s
c
h
o
o
l 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 w
ill

 b
e

 d
e
le

g
a
te

d
 f
ro

m
 C

o
u
n

ty
 i
n
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

a
n

d
 t
h

e
 s

e
c
o
n
d

a
ry

 a
n

d
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h

o
o

ls
 w

ill
 b

o
o

k
 s

lo
ts

 a
n

d
 

p
a
y
 h

o
u
rl
y
 f
o
r 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 u

s
e
d

. 
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
 C

a
p

it
a
l 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
: 

H
u

n
ti

n
g

d
o

n
 L

C
 r

e
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t:
 P

h
a
s
e

 1
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 N
o
v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

th
 –

 
o

p
e

n
e

d
 F

it
n

e
s
s
 S

tu
d

io
 a

n
d
 K

id
s
 F

u
n
-z

o
n

e
. 
P

h
a

s
e

 2
 o

p
e

n
e

d
 l
a

te
 F

e
b

 –
 c

h
a

n
g

in
g

 r
o

o
m

s
. 
P

h
a
s
e

 3
 o

p
e

n
e
d

 A
p

ri
l 

2
0

th
 –

 “
P

u
re

” 
s
p

a
 f
a

c
ili

ty
. 
N

e
w

 r
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

s
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0

th
 w

it
h
 a

 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 r

e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 c

re
a

te
d
. 

S
t 

N
e

o
ts

 S
y
n

th
e
ti

c
 P

it
c

h
: 
O

p
e

n
e

d
 O

c
to

b
e

r.
 

H
u

n
ti

n
g

d
o

n
 S

y
n

th
e

ti
c

 P
it

c
h

: 
O

p
e

n
e
d

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

S
t 

Iv
o

 R
o

o
fs

: 
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

 M
a

rc
h

 
H

u
n

ti
n

g
d

o
n

 C
o

m
b

in
e
d

 H
e
a
ti

n
g

 a
n

d
 P

o
w

e
r 

U
n

it
: 

W
o

rk
 c

o
m

p
le

te
. 

S
t 

N
e

o
ts

 D
ry

 S
id

e
 R

e
c

e
p

ti
o

n
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n

t:
 R

e
-o

p
e
n
e
d
 M

a
y
. 

O
n
 b

u
d
g
e
t.
 £

2
5
0
k
 r

e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a

re
a
 w

it
h
 a

u
to

-
a

c
c
e
s
s
, 
to

ile
ts

, 
o

ff
ic

e
s
, 
c
o

rr
id

o
rs

. 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 H

e
a
lt

h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

T
h
e
 L

e
is

u
re

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 f
ir
s
t 
ti
m

e
 b

ro
k
e

n
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 3

0
,0

0
0
 a

tt
e

n
d

a
n
c
e
s
 b

a
rr

ie
r 

in
 

2
0

0
8

/9
.(

 t
h

is
 r

e
p

re
s
e
n

ts
 a

 3
0

%
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 o
n

 t
h

e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r)

. 
In

 p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r,
 t
h
e
 H

o
lid

a
y
 L

e
is

u
re

 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o

r 
<

1
7

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 h

a
d

 3
8

%
 m

o
re

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o
n
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
(t

o
ta

l 
th

ro
u
g
h
p
u
t 
4
,6

2
5
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
h

y
s
ic

a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 s

c
h

e
m

e
s
 f
o

r 
v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 p
e

o
p

le
 h

a
d

 5
6

%
 m

o
re

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

 t
h

a
n
 t
a

rg
e

t 
(t

o
ta

l 
th

ro
u
g

h
p
u

t 
2

4
,2

1
1
).

 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

s
: 

L
a

te
 o

p
e
n

in
g
s
 o

f 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 p

o
o

l 
a

n
d
 H

L
C

 n
e

w
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 w

e
re

 u
n
fo

rt
u

n
a

te
 b

u
t 
b

o
th

 h
a

v
e

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

e
d

 e
x
c
e

p
ti
o
n

a
lly

 s
in

c
e

 r
e

-o
p

e
n

in
g

 e
n

a
b

lin
g

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 s

h
o
rt

fa
ll 

to
 b

e
 r

e
c
o
v
e
re

d
. 
 S

y
n
th

e
ti
c
 p

it
c
h
e
s
 

fa
ile

d
 t
o

 h
it
 t
a

rg
e

t 
(1

3
%

) 
b

u
t 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 a

n
d

 H
u

n
ti
n
g

d
o
n
 w

e
re

 b
o

th
 c

lo
s
e
d

 f
o

r 
lo

n
g

 p
e

ri
o
d

s
 o

f 
re

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t 
a

n
d
 t
h

is
 

w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
c
ti
fi
e
d
 n

e
x
t 
y
e
a
r.

 

T
o

 p
ro

m
o

te
 a

c
ti
v
e

 
lif

e
s
ty

le
s

R
is

k
s
:

L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

s
: 

F
u
n

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

t 
a

ll 
s
it
e

s
 s

ti
ll 

b
e

lo
w

 p
re

d
ic

ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 f
u
tu

re
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n

t 
p

ro
p

o
s
a
ls

 r
e
c
o

g
n

iz
e

 t
h

is
. 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 H

e
a
lt

h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

F
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 i
s
 o

ft
e
n
 s

h
o
rt

 t
e
rm

 i
n

 n
a
tu

re
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 a
n
 o

n
g
o

in
g
 r

is
k
. 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

p
o
rt

s
 

N
e
tw

o
rk

 f
u
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 S

p
o
rt

 E
n
g
la

n
d
 L

o
tt
e

ry
 F

u
n
d
 u

n
ti
l 
s
p
ri
n
g
 2

0
1
0
; 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 p

o
lic

y
 w

ill
 m

e
a
n
 i
t 

is
 m

o
re

 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 e

x
te

n
d
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t
h
is

 p
o
in

t.
  

A
c
ti
v
e
 a

t 
5
0
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 P

la
y
 P

ro
je

c
t 
b
o
th

 h
a
v
e
 a

p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 

2
 y

e
a
rs

 o
f 
fu

n
d

in
g
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
. 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 w
it
h

 P
C

T
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
la

s
ts

 2
.5

 y
e

a
rs

 w
it
h

 f
u

n
d

in
g

. 
 

31



O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

 
8

7
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 w

e
re

 p
re

v
e
n

te
d

 f
ro

m
 b

e
c
o

m
in

g
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 i
n

 Q
4

 o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a

r,
 c

o
m

p
a

re
d

 t
o

 2
7

 i
n
 t
h

e
 s

a
m

e
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

(a
 t
o
ta

l 
o
f 
3
0
0
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 w

h
e
re

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e

s
s
 w

a
s
 p

re
v
e
n

te
d

 i
n

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 c
o

m
p
a

re
d

 t
o

 
1

3
8

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e

a
r)

 

 
4

5
 h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 w

e
re

 a
c
c
e

p
te

d
 a

s
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 i
n

 Q
4

 c
o
m

p
a

re
d
 t
o
 4

1
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

(t
o
ta

l 
o
f 

1
7

3
 h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
s
 a

c
c
e

p
te

d
 a

s
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 i
n

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 1

4
6
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
r)

 

 
A

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 i
n
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a

ti
o
n
, 
fr

o
m

 6
8
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 a

t 
th

e
 s

ta
rt

 
o
f 
th

e
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

to
 6

1
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
, 
th

e
re

b
y
 a

c
h

ie
v
in

g
 o

u
r 

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 t
a

rg
e

t 

 
T

h
e

 H
o
m

e
-L

in
k
 s

u
b

 r
e
g

io
n
a

l 
re

v
ie

w
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 a

n
d

 r
e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o

 M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
 i
n

 M
a
rc

h
 0

9
. 
 T

h
is

 
in

c
lu

d
e

d
 a

 w
o
rk

 p
la

n
 o

n
 t
h

e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
a

n
d

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
o
f 
th

e
 H

o
m

e
-L

in
k
 s

c
h
e

m
e
. 
 T

h
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 t
o
 

S
c
ru

ti
n
y
 P

a
n
e

l 
a
n
d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

 A
p
ri
l.
  

 
T

h
e

 m
u

lt
i 
a

g
e
n

c
y
 J

o
in

t 
S

tr
a

te
g

ic
 N

e
e

d
s
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

n
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 S

u
p

p
o
rt

in
g

 P
e

o
p

le
 n

e
e

d
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
a

re
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
in

g
. 
 T

h
e

 o
u

tc
o

m
e

 o
f 
b

o
th

 w
ill

 f
e

e
d

 i
n

to
 t
h

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 

H
o

m
e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 S

tr
a

te
g
y
. 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

H
o

u
s

in
g

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

: 

 
P

ro
g

re
s
s
 o

n
 t
h

e
 w

o
rk

 p
la

n
 t
h

a
t 
h

a
s
 c

o
m

e
 o

u
t 
o

f 
th

e
 H

o
m

e
-L

in
k
 r

e
v
ie

w
 -

 t
h

is
 w

ill
 c

o
n

ti
n
u

e
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
th

e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 t
h
e
 H

o
m

e
-L

in
k
 b

ra
n

d
 i
n
to

 a
 w

id
e

r 
E

n
h

a
n
c
e

d
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o

n
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e

. 

 
T

h
e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
d
 b

y
 A

x
io

m
 H

A
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 h

e
lp

 o
f 
L
A

A
 R

e
w

a
rd

 G
ra

n
t 

fu
n
d
in

g
 w

ill
 c

o
m

e
 o

n
 l
in

e
. 
 T

h
is

 
is

 a
 s

a
te

lli
te

 t
o

 P
a
in

e
s
 M

ill
 F

o
y
e
r 

in
 S

t 
N

e
o
ts

 a
n
d
 w

ill
 f
re

e
 u

p
 2

 u
n
it
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 t
o
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 ‘
c
ra

s
h
 

p
a
d
’ 
e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 b

e
d
s
. 
 

 
F

in
a

lis
e

 t
h

e
 J

S
N

A
 o

n
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e

s
s
 a

n
d
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 n
e
e
d
s
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.
 

 
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 G
ra

n
ta

 H
S

 w
it
h
 a

 b
id

 t
o
 t
h
e
 H

C
A

 t
o
 c

a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
a
 p

h
a
s
e
d
 d

e
m

o
lit

io
n
 a

n
d
 r

e
b
u
ild

 o
f 
C

o
n
e

y
g
e
a
r 

C
o
u
rt

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

e
lf
 c

o
n
ta

in
e
d
 u

n
it
s
. 

 
P

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 c

o
u

n
ty

-w
id

e
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

e
d
 l
o

d
g

in
g
s
 s

c
h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
y
o

u
n
g

 p
e

o
p

le
 t
h

re
a

te
n

e
d

 
w

it
h

 h
o

m
e

le
s
s
n

e
s
s
 

 
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 t
h
e
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 R

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
m

o
d
e
lli

n
g
 o

f 
fl
o
a
ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

T
o

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

 a
 l
o

w
 l
e

v
e

l 
o

f 
h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s

R
is

k
s
:

H
o

u
s

in
g

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

: 

 
R

e
d
u

c
e
d
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 B

e
n
e

fi
t 
le

v
e
ls

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 a

p
p
lic

a
n

ts
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
c
h

a
n
g

e
s
 t
o

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a

l 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 

A
llo

w
a

n
c
e

 r
a

te
s
. 
T

h
is

 w
ill

 r
e

d
u
c
e

 t
h

e
 c

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 a

b
ili

ty
 t
o
 p

re
v
e
n
t 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e

s
s
 b

y
 h

e
lp

in
g
 H

B
 d

e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
s
 i
n

to
 p

ri
v
a

te
 s

e
c
to

r 
te

n
a

n
c
ie

s
. 
  

 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
/o

r 
lo

c
a
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 f
a
c
to

rs
 h

a
v
e
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
d
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 b

u
t 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

 

 
N

o
t 
d

e
liv

e
ri
n

g
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

d
 e

m
e

rg
e

n
c
y
 a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o
n
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 a

t 
P

a
in

e
s
 M

ill
 F

o
y
e

r 
a

n
d

 K
in

g
s
 R

ip
to

n
 

C
o
u
rt

 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

 w
it
h
 L

A
A

 r
e
w

a
rd

 g
ra

n
t.
 

 
R

S
L

 n
o

t 
s
u
c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
in

 H
C

A
 b

id
 t
o

 r
e

d
e

v
e
lo

p
 i
ts

 h
o

m
e

le
s
s
n

e
s
s
 h

o
s
te

l.
 

T
o

 e
n

a
b

le
 t

h
e

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

 
o

f 
a

ff
o

rd
a

b
le

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

 
4

9
 a

ff
o

rd
a
b

le
 h

o
m

e
s
 w

e
re

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 i
n

 Q
4

 b
ri
n
g

in
g

 t
h

e
 y

e
a

r 
e

n
d

 t
o

ta
l 
to

 2
4

0
. 

 
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
1
6
,3

8
4
,4

1
1
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 f
ro

m
 H

C
A

 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 t
e

n
u

re
 s

w
it
c
h
e

s
 o

n
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
s
it
e

s
 w

h
e
re

 t
h

e
 s

h
a

re
d

 
o
w

n
e

rs
h
ip

 i
s
 p

ro
v
in

g
 u

n
v
ia

b
le

 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m

a
rk

e
t 
d
o
w

n
tu

rn
, 
p
lu

s
 s

o
m

e
 n

e
w

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
it
e
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

L
o
v
e
s
 F

a
rm

 a
n
d
 K

in
g
s
 L

a
n
e

 S
t 
N

e
o
ts

. 

32



O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

 
S

u
b

 r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
re

v
ie

w
 o

f 
S

1
0
6

s
 f
o

r 
a

ff
o

rd
a
b

le
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 u

n
d

e
rw

a
y
. 

 
P

re
s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 t
o
 H

ilt
o
n
 P

a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

o
n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 s

it
e
 p

o
lic

y
 

 
C

la
im

e
d

 £
1

m
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 G

ro
w

th
 F

u
n

d
 f
ro

m
 H

o
ri
z
o
n

s
 t
o

 f
u

n
d

 M
a

y
fi
e

ld
 R

o
a
d

 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
 o

n
 s

a
le

 o
f 
H

D
C

 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
M

a
y
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d
 (

E
x
e
m

p
la

r 
s
c
h
e

m
e
) 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
 o

n
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 L

P
S

A
 R

e
w

a
rd

 G
ra

n
t 
fo

r 
m

o
v
e
-o

n
 f
ro

m
 F

o
y
e
r

 
N

o
te

: 
O

rb
it
 a

n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 a

s
 n

e
w

 Z
o
n
e
 A

g
e
n
t 
fo

r 
k
e

y
 w

o
rk

e
r 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e
 s

u
b
-r

e
g
io

n
 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

 
B

ro
o
k
s
id

e
 a

n
d

 L
o

v
e

s
 F

a
rm

 e
x
tr

a
 c

a
re

 –
 p

ro
je

c
t 
g

ro
u

p
s
 t
o

 t
a

k
e

 s
c
h
e

m
e

s
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 

 
R

e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
 f
a
ll 

in
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
rk

e
t.
 

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
 t
o

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
rk

e
t 
o
p

p
o

rt
u
n

it
ie

s
 f
ro

m
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e

rs
 a

n
d

 R
S

L
s
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 s

p
re

a
d
s
h

e
e
t 
fo

r 
H

o
m

e
 &

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 A

g
e
n
c
y
. 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
:

T
h

e
 

m
o
s
t 

o
b

v
io

u
s
 

c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 

c
u
rr

e
n
t 

ri
s
k
 

is
 

th
e

 
p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
im

p
a

c
ts

 
o

f 
a
 

p
ro

lo
n

g
e
d

 
d

o
w

n
tu

rn
 

in
 

th
e

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
/d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

m
a
rk

e
t.
 T

h
e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 r

is
k
 i

s
 t

h
a
t 

s
u
c
h

 a
 l

o
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 d
o
w

n
tu

rn
 w

ill
 i

m
p

a
c
t 

u
p

o
n

 t
h

e
 

lo
c
a

l 
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
 
m

a
rk

e
t 

k
n
o

c
k
in

g
 
b

a
c
k
 
h

o
u
s
e

h
o

ld
e
r 

a
n

d
 
d
e

v
e

lo
p
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
d
e

n
c
e

 
a

n
d
 
th

e
re

b
y
 
u

n
d

e
rm

in
in

g
 
th

e
 

d
e

liv
e

ry
 o

f 
n

e
w

 h
o

m
e

s
, 

n
e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 a

n
d

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 

D
ir
e
c
t 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 

u
p

o
n

 
p

la
n
n

in
g

 
fe

e
 
in

c
o
m

e
, 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 
d

e
liv

e
ry

 
re

la
te

d
 
g

ra
n

t 
a

w
a

rd
s
 
a

n
d

 
th

e
 
s
c
a
le

, 
c
o
n

te
n

t 
a
n

d
 
th

e
 
p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
v
ia

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

S
1
0
6

 c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n
s
. 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 a
c
tu

a
l 
c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

s
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
s
u

lt
e
d

 i
n
 o

n
ly

 l
im

it
e

d
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 
to

 
d

a
te

 
–
 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
r 

in
te

re
s
t 

a
n

d
 

re
la

te
d

 
a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o
n
 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 
h
a
v
e
 

re
m

a
in

e
d
 

re
la

ti
v
e
ly

 
h
ig

h
, 

in
d
e
e
d
 

th
e
 

e
x
p

e
c
te

d
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 
fe

e
s
 

b
u

d
g

e
t 

fo
r 

2
0
0

8
/0

9
 

w
a

s
 

e
x
c
e

e
d
e

d
 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 

o
f 

th
e
 

re
c
e
ip

t 
o
f 

s
e
v
e
ra

l 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

; 
to

 d
a
te

 t
h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 o

n
ly

 v
e

ry
 l
im

it
e
d
 r

e
q
u
e
s
ts

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
v
ia

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 p
o
s
it
iv

e
ly

 e
n

g
a

g
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 H

C
A

, 
C

a
m

b
ri
d

g
e
s
h

ir
e

 H
o

ri
z
o
n

s
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

o
u

ts
id

e
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

m
it
ig

a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 o
f 
a
n
y
 d

o
w

n
tu

rn
. 

R
is

k
s
:

H
o

u
s

in
g

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

: 

 
R

S
L
s
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 n
o
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 t
o
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
. 
 

 
A

v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
H

o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 A

g
e

n
c
y
 f
u

n
d

in
g

 v
ia

 t
h

e
 b

id
d
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 

33



A
n
n
e
x
B
S
o
c
ia
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C

o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ly

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
e
n
a
b
le

th
e
p
ro

v
is
io
n
o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
:
H
o
u
s
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
e
n
a
b
le

th
e
p
ro

v
is
io
n
o
f
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

B
y
m
a
x
im

is
in
g
th
e
la
n
d
a
v
a
ila
b
le

fo
r
n
e
w
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g
.
B
y
w
o
rk
in
g
in

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

w
it
h
H
o
u
s
in
g

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
to

b
id

fo
r
e
x
te
rn
a
l
fu
n
d
in
g
.
B
y
m
a
k
in
g
a

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
to

p
a
y
fo
r
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
m
e
s
to

b
e

b
u
ilt

(N
I
1
5
5
)
N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
n
e
w
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
m
e
s
b
u
ilt
b
y
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)
(l
o
c
a
l
in
te
ri
m

ta
rg
e
t
-
a
w
a
it
in
g
L
A
A
d
is
a
g
g
re
g
a
te
d
ta
rg
e
t)

1
7
5

2
4
0

7
0

A
ro
u
n
d
6
0
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
th
a
t
w
e
re

o
ri
g
in
a
lly

d
u
e
to

c
o
m
p
le
te

in

2
0
0
8
/9

w
ill
c
o
m
p
le
te

in

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
,
d
u
e
to

th
e
c
u
rr
e
n
t

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic

c
lim

a
te
.

7
0
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
fo
re
c
a
s
t
is
th
e

q
u
a
rt
e
r
o
n
e
ta
rg
e
t
fo
r

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
.

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
la
n
n
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
M
a
x
im

is
e
p
ro

v
is
io
n
o
f
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g
o
n
re
le
v
a
n
t
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
s
it
e
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

D
e
v
e
lo
p
C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
C
o
n
tr
o
l

%
o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g
(c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
)
o
n
q
u
a
lif
y
in
g
s
it
e
s

3
5

8
2
.7
0

Q
R
T

P
o
lic
ie
s
D
P
D

(t
o
s
e
t
p
o
lic
y
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
)/
A
d
o
p
t
P
la
n
n
in
g

O
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
S
P
D

(t
o
s
e
t
s
p
e
c
if
ic

ta
rg
e
ts

a
n
d

th
re
s
h
o
ld
s
)/
N
e
g
o
ti
a
te

S
1
0
6
A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts

(t
o
d
e
liv
e
r

%
o
f
h
o
u
s
in
g
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
o
n
q
u
a
lif
y
in
g
s
it
e
s
th
a
t
a
re

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

in
m
a
rk
e
t

to
w
n
s
a
n
d
k
e
y
s
e
tt
le
m
e
n
ts

4
0

N
e
w
m
e
a
s
u
re
,
fi
g
u
re
s
fo
r
2
0
0
9

w
ill
n
o
t
b
e
a
v
a
ila
b
le

u
n
ti
l
la
te

s
u
m
m
e
r/
a
u
tu
m
n
.

Y
R
L

re
q
u
ir
e
d
a
m
o
u
n
ts

o
f
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in
g
)

%
o
f
h
o
u
s
in
g
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
o
n
q
u
a
lif
y
in
g
s
it
e
s
th
a
t
a
re

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le

in
s
m
a
lle
r

s
e
tt
le
m
e
n
ts

2
9

N
e
w
m
e
a
s
u
re
,
fi
g
u
re
s
fo
r
2
0
0
9

w
ill
n
o
t
b
e
a
v
a
ila
b
le

u
n
ti
l
la
te

s
u
m
m
e
r/
a
u
tu
m
n
.

Y
R
L

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C

o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
H
e
a
lt
h
y
L
iv
in
g

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
p
ro
m
o
te

a
c
ti
v
e
li
fe
s
ty
le
s

D
iv
is
io
n
:
L
e
is
u
re

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
in
c
re
a
s
e
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
in

h
e
a
lt
h
y
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

M
a
in
ta
in

a
n
d
im

p
ro
v
e
s
ta
n
d
a
rd

o
f
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
&
m
a
tc
h

fa
c
ili
ty

p
ro
v
is
io
n
w
it
h
u
s
a
g
e
d
e
m
a
n
d
(S
C
S
m
e
a
s
u
re
)

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
/p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
n
ts

in
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
p
ro
v
id
e
d
o
r
p
ro
m
o
te
d
b
y
th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il
(1
.7
5
m

p
e
r
a
n
n
u
m
)
c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

1
.7
4
m

1
.7
4
m

1
.7
4
m

Q
R
T

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
n
d
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
o
f
a
v
a
ila
b
le

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
c
ti
v
e
c
a
rd

h
o
ld
e
rs

b
y
M
a
rc
h
0
9

1
8
,8
0
0

1
8
,9
9
9

1
8
,9
9
9

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
:
L
if
e
s
ty
le
s

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
p
ro
m
o
te

h
e
a
lt
h
y
li
fe
s
ty
le

c
h
o
ic
e
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

P
ro
v
id
e
a
ra
n
g
e
o
f
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le

le
is
u
re

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
s
u
c
h

a
s
:
a
H
o
lid

a
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
fo
r
<
1
7
y
rs

(S
C
S

T
o
ta
l
th
ro
u
g
h
p
u
t
o
f
s
c
h
o
o
l,
o
u
tr
e
a
c
h
a
n
d
h
o
lid

a
y
a
c
ti
v
it
y
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s

3
,3
5
0

4
,6
2
5

Q
R
T

1

34



A
n
n
e
x
B
S
o
c
ia
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

m
e
a
s
u
re
)

(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

P
ro
v
id
e
a
n
d
fa
c
ili
ta
te

a
rt
s
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
a
n
d
in

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

T
h
ro
u
g
h
p
u
t
o
f
p
e
o
p
le

(t
a
rg
e
t
8
5
0
0
p
e
r
a
n
n
)
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
in
g
a
rt
s
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
a
s

a
re
s
u
lt
o
f
A
rt
s
S
e
rv
ic
e
a
n
d
P
a
rt
n
e
r
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
d
u
ri
n
g
2
0
0
8
/0
9
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

8
,5
0
0

1
1
,9
7
3

Q
R
T

P
ro
v
id
e
ta
rg
e
te
d
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
to

e
n
a
b
le

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le

p
e
o
p
le

to
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te

in
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l
le
is
u
re

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
(i
n
c
E
x
e
rc
is
e

R
e
fe
rr
a
l,
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
S
p
o
rt
s
a
n
d
R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
P
ro
je
c
t,

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
S
p
o
rt
s
N
e
tw
o
rk

a
n
d
A
c
ti
v
e
L
if
e
s
c
h
e
m
e
.!
)

(S
C
S
m
e
a
s
u
re

2
.1
.5
)

T
h
ro
u
g
h
p
u
t
o
n
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
(c
u
m
u
lit
iv
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

1
5
,5
0
0

2
4
,2
1
1

Q
R
T

P
ro
v
id
e
u
n
d
e
r-
re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
g
ro
u
p
s
w
it
h
th
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y

to
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te

in
s
p
o
rt
a
n
d
a
c
ti
v
e
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
(S
C
S

m
e
a
s
u
re
)

T
o
ta
l
th
ro
u
g
h
p
u
t
o
f
a
c
ti
v
it
y
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
fo
r
d
is
a
b
le
d
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
n
ts

a
n
d

u
n
d
e
r-
re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
g
ro
u
p
s
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

1
,4
0
0

2
,0
9
1

Q
R
T

S
u
p
p
o
rt
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le

p
e
o
p
le

to
b
e
m
o
re

a
c
ti
v
e
,
C
a
rd
ia
c

R
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
a
n
d
H
e
a
lt
h
w
a
lk
s

T
o
ta
l
th
ro
u
g
h
p
u
t
o
f
th
e
C
a
rd
ia
c
R
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
a
n
d
H
e
a
lt
h
w
a
lk
s
in

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

7
,2
0
0

9
,3
9
3

Q
R
T

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C

o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
H
o
u
s
in
g
th
a
t
m
e
e
ts

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls

n
e
e
d
s

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
a
c
h
ie
v
e
a
lo
w

le
v
e
l
o
f
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s

D
iv
is
io
n
:
H
o
u
s
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
a
c
h
ie
v
e
a
lo
w

le
v
e
l
o
f
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

B
y
h
e
lp
in
g
to

p
re
v
e
n
t
p
e
o
p
le

fr
o
m

b
e
c
o
m
in
g
h
o
m
e
le
s
s

b
y
h
o
u
s
in
g
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
p
e
o
p
le
,
w
h
e
re

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

(N
I
1
5
6
)
N
o
.
o
f
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
liv
in
g
in

te
m
p
o
ra
ry

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

6
0

6
1

5
0

T
h
is

is
a
s
n
a
p
s
h
o
t
fi
g
u
re

fo
r

th
e
e
n
d
o
f
th
e
q
u
a
rt
e
r.
A

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
in

th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
in

te
m
p
o
ra
ry

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
,
fr
o
m

6
8

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
a
t
th
e
s
ta
rt
o
f
th
e

q
u
a
rt
e
r
to

6
1
a
t
th
e
e
n
d
.
T
h
e
re

is
a
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly

s
e
t
ta
rg
e
t
fo
r
u
s

to
re
d
u
c
e
th
is
fi
g
u
re

to
4
5
b
y

A
p
ri
l
2
0
1
0
.
5
0
in

th
e
fo
re
c
a
s
t

fi
e
ld

is
th
e
fi
g
u
re

fo
r
Q
1
,

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
.

Q
R
T

N
u
m
b
e
rs

o
f
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
(1
3
5
)
p
re
v
e
n
te
d
fr
o
m

b
e
c
o
m
in
g
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
e
a
c
h
y
e
a
r

to
2
0
0
9
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

1
3
5

3
0
0

5
0

8
7
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
w
e
re

p
re
v
e
n
te
d

fr
o
m

b
e
c
o
m
in
g
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
in

Q
4
o
f
th
e
y
e
a
r,
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
to

2
7

in
th
e
s
a
m
e
p
e
ri
o
d
la
s
t
y
e
a
r.

T
h
e
3
0
0
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
w
h
e
re

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
w
a
s
p
re
v
e
n
te
d

in
2
0
0
8
/0
9
c
o
m
p
a
re
s
to

1
3
8
in

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
.
T
h
e
fo
re
c
a
s
t
fi
g
u
re

o
f
5
0
is

fo
r
Q
1
,
2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
.

T
h
e
a
n
n
u
a
l
ta
rg
e
t
w
ill
b
e
2
0
0

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

Q
R
T

2

35



E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 W

E
L
L
-B

E
IN

G
 (

u
p

 t
o

 3
1

s
t  M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

9
) 

A
N

N
E

X
 A

 

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
P

e
o

p
le

, 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
:  

(f
o

rm
e
rl

y
 P

o
li

c
y
 &

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

):
 

C
o

m
p
re

h
e

n
s
iv

e
 A

re
a

 A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t:
 t
h

e
 P

o
lic

y
 t
e

a
m

 i
s
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

c
ils

 t
o

 c
o

o
rd

in
a

te
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 A

re
a

 A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t.
 F

o
r 

th
e
 O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t,
 a

 d
ra

ft
 ‘
U

s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
’ 
s
u

b
m

is
s
io

n
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
c
o

m
p

ile
d

. 
E

v
id

e
n

c
e

 f
o

r 
th

e
m

e
 2

 ‘
G

o
v
e

rn
in

g
 t
h
e

 B
u

s
in

e
s
s
’ 
h
a

s
 a

lr
e

a
d

y
 b

e
e

n
 

s
e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
o
r 

fo
r 

in
it
ia

l 
c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

, 
fu

ll 
s
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 n

e
e
d

s
 t
o
 b

e
 s

e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
y
. 
T

h
e
 

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
is

 a
ls

o
 b

e
in

g
 w

o
rk

e
d

 u
p

 a
t 
th

e
 m

o
m

e
n
t 
th

e
 d

e
a
d
lin

e
 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
s
 a

g
a
in

 t
h
e
 

e
n

d
 o

f 
M

a
y
. 
 A

 b
ri
e

fi
n

g
 n

o
te

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 p

ro
d

u
c
e

d
 a

n
d

 c
ir
c
u

la
te

d
 t
o

 a
ll 

M
e

m
b

e
rs

u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
m

 o
n

 t
h
e
 m

a
in

 
re

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 C

A
A

. 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

T
o

 e
n

a
b

le
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
s

R
is

k
s
:

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
P

e
o

p
le

, 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
: 

(f
o

rm
e
rl

y
 H

R
) 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
H

R
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 –

 a
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p

 f
o
r 

s
e
n
io

r 
m

a
n
a
g

e
rs

 w
a
s
 h

e
ld

 t
o

 o
u

tl
in

e
 t
h

e
 p

a
ra

m
e

te
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d

 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 A

 s
e
ri
e
s
 o

f 
to

p
ic

 b
a
s
e
d
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p

s
 a

re
 p

la
n
n

e
d

 o
v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
x
t 
fe

w
 m

o
n
th

s
 t
o

 i
n

fo
rm

 t
h

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

T
o

 b
e

 a
n

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
a

n
t 

to
 w

o
rk

 f
o

r 

R
is

k
s
:

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
P

e
o

p
le

, 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
: 

(f
o

rm
e
rl

y
 P

o
li

c
y
 &

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

):
 

A
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 F

a
ir
 w

a
s
 h

e
ld

 o
n

 2
5

th
 A

p
ri
l 
a
t 
th

e
 M

a
p
le

 C
e
n
tr

e
, 
H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 p
la

y
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

. 

L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

s
:

T
h
e
 i

n
te

ri
m

 f
ig

u
re

s
 a

re
 e

x
tr

e
m

e
ly

 e
n

c
o
u
ra

g
in

g
 w

it
h
 i

n
c
o

m
e
 f

ra
c
ti
o

n
a

lly
 u

n
d

e
r 

ta
rg

e
t 

a
n

d
 e

x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 

s
h
o
w

in
g
 a

 n
e
a
r 

£
1
/4

 m
ill

io
n
 s

a
v
in

g
. 

Im
p
re

s
s
io

n
s
, 

h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 f
in

is
h
e
d
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r 

4
%

 d
o
w

n
 o

n
 i
n

c
o
m

e
 –

 l
a
te

 o
p
e
n
in

g
 

o
f 

H
L
C

, 
a
n

d
 S

t 
Iv

o
 a

n
d

 S
t 

N
e
o

ts
 b

o
th

 e
x
p

e
ri
e
n

c
in

g
 c

a
p
a

c
it
y
 a

n
d

 r
e

te
n

ti
o

n
 i

s
s
u
e

s
. 

 S
w

im
 l

e
s
s
o

n
s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

d
 t

o
 

fl
o

u
ri
s
h

 
(1

2
%

 
in

c
re

a
s
e

) 
a
s
 
d

id
 
p

u
b

lic
 
s
w

im
s
 
(5

%
 
in

c
re

a
s
e
) 

a
n

d
 
in

d
o

o
r 

s
p
o

rt
s
 
(n

o
ta

b
ly

 
th

ro
u

g
h

 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 

re
v
e

n
u
e

 
a

t 
H

L
C

 
fr

o
m

 
th

e
 

K
id

s
 

z
o
n

e
).

 
H

o
s
p

it
a

lit
y
 

c
o

n
ti
n
u
e
s
 

to
 

s
h
o
w

 
a
 

d
e

c
lin

e
, 

1
2
%

 
in

 
to

ta
l,
 

(e
x
c
e
p
t 

a
t 

H
u

n
ti
n
g

d
o

n
 w

h
e
re

 t
h

e
re

 w
a
s
 a

 1
5

%
 i

n
c
re

a
s
e
) 

a
s
 t

ra
d

it
io

n
a
l 

b
a
r 

tr
a
d
e
 s

u
ff
e
rs

. 
S

y
n
th

e
ti
c
 p

it
c
h
e
s
 f

a
ile

d
 t

o
 h

it
 

ta
rg

e
t 

(1
3

%
) 

b
u

t 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 a

n
d

 H
u

n
ti
n
g

d
o

n
 w

e
re

 b
o

th
 c

lo
s
e

d
 f

o
r 

lo
n

g
 p

e
ri

o
d

s
 o

f 
re

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 t

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 

re
c
ti
fi
e
d
 n

e
x
t 

y
e
a
r.

 E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 (
£
4
m

 +
 f

o
r 

th
e
 f

ir
s
t 

ti
m

e
) 

o
u
tt
u
rn

e
d

 a
lm

o
s
t 

2
0

0
k
 b

e
tt
e
r 

th
a
n
 t

a
rg

e
t 

w
it
h
 

Im
p

re
s
s
io

n
s
, 

w
h

e
re

 a
 c

o
m

p
re

h
e

n
s
iv

e
 s

ta
ff

 r
e

v
ie

w
 t

o
o
k
 p

la
c
e
, 

re
g
is

te
ri
n
g
 n

o
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 s

ta
ff
 c

o
s
ts

 a
t 

a
ll.

 T
h

e
re

 
a
re

 s
a
v
in

g
s
 o

n
 b

o
th

 p
re

m
is

e
s
 a

n
d
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 b

u
t 

th
e
 e

x
te

n
t 

o
f 

th
e
s
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

la
ri
fi
e
d
 i
n
 d

u
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
 a

s
 f

in
a
l 
e
n
d
 

o
f 
y
e
a
r 

a
c
c
o
u
n

ts
 a

re
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
. 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

T
o

 m
a

x
im

is
e

 b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

a
n

d
 i
n

c
o

m
e

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 e

x
te

n
d

e
d

 
fu

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 g

ra
n

ts
 

R
is

k
s
:

36



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic

W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C
o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
T
o
im

p
ro

v
e
o
u
r
s
y
s
te
m
s
a
n
d
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
o
li
c
y
a
n
d
S
tr
a
te
g
ic

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
D
e
v
e
lo
p
a
n
d
a
d
o
p
t
a
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
s
tr
a
te
g
y

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

D
e
liv
e
r
a
n
d
m
e
a
s
u
re

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
a
g
a
in
s
t
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s

fo
r
0
9
/1
0

%
o
f
S
C
S
th
e
m
e
d
g
ro
u
p
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
to

b
e
d
e
liv
e
re
d
in

2
0
0
9
/1
0

7
0

S
y
s
te
m
s
w
ill
b
e
in

p
la
c
e
to

m
e
a
s
u
re

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
fr
o
m

H
S
P
B
o
a
rd
/E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
in

J
u
n
e
/J
u
ly
.
T
h
e

P
o
lic
y
&
R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
te
a
m

w
ill
b
e

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le

fo
r
e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
th
a
t

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
is
m
e
a
s
u
re
d
a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
b
u
t
th
e
H
S
P
B
o
a
rd

is

u
lt
im

a
te
ly
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le

fo
r

d
e
liv
e
ry

b
y
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
.

Q
R
T

D
e
v
e
lo
p
a
n
d
re
fi
n
e
S
C
S
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s
b
y
M
a
rc
h
0
9

O
n
ta
rg
e
t
(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
0
.5
0

T
h
e
m
a
ti
c
g
ro
u
p
s
a
re

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y

re
v
ie
w
in
g
e
x
is
ti
n
g
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s

to
e
n
s
u
re

th
e
a
c
ti
o
n
s
a
n
d
th
e

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
a
re

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

fo
r

2
0
0
9
/1
0
.

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

D
e
v
e
lo
p
,
im

p
le
m
e
n
t
a
n
d
m
o
n
it
o
r
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
/o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

re
v
ie
w
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

re
v
ie
w
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
(1
=
y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

1
Q
R
T

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C
o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
T
o
le
a
rn

a
n
d
d
e
v
e
lo
p

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
b
e
a
n
E
m
p
lo
y
e
r
P
e
o
p
le

W
a
n
t
to

W
o
rk

F
o
r

D
iv
is
io
n
:
H
R

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
a
tt
ra
c
t
a
n
d
re
ta
in

s
ta
ff

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

P
o
lic
ie
s
a
n
d
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
th
a
t
k
e
e
p
u
p
to

d
a
te

w
it
h

m
o
d
e
rn

w
o
rk
in
g
p
a
tt
e
rn
s

R
e
v
ie
w
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
fo
r
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
b
y
D
e
c
2
0
0
8

(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

A
d
o
p
te
d
in

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
2
0
0
8

Q
R
T

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t
p
a
c
k
a
g
e

%
o
f
fi
lle

d
p
o
s
ts

(f
o
r
p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t
s
ta
ff
)
a
t
a
n
y
o
n
e
ti
m
e

9
7

9
8
.9
0

7
o
u
t
o
f
6
2
8
p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t
p
o
s
ts

w
e
re

v
a
c
a
n
t
d
u
ri
n
g
th
is

p
e
ri
o
d
.

O
f
th
e
s
e
,
s
ix

h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
fi
lle

d

a
n
d
o
n
e
is
s
ti
ll
v
a
c
a
n
t.

Q
R
T

1

37



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic

W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

%
o
f
p
o
s
ts

fi
lle
d
w
it
h
in

o
n
e
ro
u
n
d
o
f
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t

9
0

8
5
.7
0

S
ix

o
u
t
o
f
s
e
v
e
n
p
o
s
ts

a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
d
w
e
re

fi
lle

d
fi
rs
t
ti
m
e

ro
u
n
d
.
O
n
e
p
o
s
t
h
a
d
to

b
e

re
-a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
d
a
n
d
th
is
p
o
s
t
is

s
ti
ll
v
a
c
a
n
t.

Q
R
T

T
o
e
n
s
u
re

a
c
u
lt
u
re

in
w
h
ic
h
s
ta
ff
a
re

a
b
le

to
w
o
rk

to

th
e
ir
fu
ll
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l

B
ie
n
n
ia
l
s
ta
ff
s
u
rv
e
y
!
%

le
v
e
l
o
f
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n

8
0

S
u
rv
e
y
d
u
e
to

b
e
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n

S
u
m
m
e
r
2
0
0
9
.

Y
R
L

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C
o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
T
o
m
a
in
ta
in

s
o
u
n
d
fi
n
a
n
c
e
s

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
M
a
x
im

is
e
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
a
n
d
in
c
o
m
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
in
c
lu
d
in
g
e
x
te
rn
a
l
fu
n
d
in
g
a
n
d
g
ra
n
ts

D
iv
is
io
n
:
L
e
is
u
re

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
M
a
x
im

is
e
le
is
u
re

c
e
n
tr
e
in
c
o
m
e

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

M
a
in
ta
in

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

w
it
h
in

b
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu
a
l
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
to

b
u
d
g
e
t
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

"
6
.5
8
m

"
6
.1
0
m

"
6
.1
0
m

7
%

s
a
v
e
d
.
F
ig
u
re
s
a
re

p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l
a
n
d
m
a
y
c
h
a
n
g
e

s
lig

h
tl
y
a
s
a
c
c
ru
a
ls

a
re

e
n
te
re
d
.

Q
R
T

M
a
x
im

is
e
le
is
u
re

c
e
n
tr
e
in
c
o
m
e

A
c
tu
a
l
in
c
o
m
e
re
c
e
iv
e
d
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
to

b
u
d
g
e
t
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
ta
rg
e
t)

"
4
.7
9
m

"
4
.7
0
m

"
4
.7
0
m

2
%

d
o
w
n
.
L
a
te

o
p
e
n
in
g
H
L
C

a
n
d
S
N
L
C
.
F
ig
u
re
s
a
re

p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l
a
n
d
m
a
y
c
h
a
n
g
e

s
lig

h
tl
y
a
s
a
c
c
ru
a
ls

a
re

e
n
te
re
d
.

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
o
li
c
y
a
n
d
S
tr
a
te
g
ic

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
b
e
a
w
a
re

o
f
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

fu
n
d
in
g
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
a
n
d
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te

to
th
e
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

s
e
rv
ic
e

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

C
o
o
rd
in
a
te

a
n
d
m
a
in
ta
in

a
s
y
s
te
m

o
f
in
te
rn
a
l
c
o
n
tr
o
l

v
ia

fu
n
d
in
g
D
a
ta
b
a
s
e
,
lia

is
e
w
it
h
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

o
ff
ic
e
rs
,

p
ro
v
id
e
fu
n
d
in
g
a
d
v
ic
e
a
n
d
a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
in

c
o
m
p
ila

ti
o
n
o
f

b
id
s
,
a
s
re
q
u
ir
e
d

%
o
f
b
id
s
w
h
ic
h
a
tt
ra
c
t
fu
n
d
in
g
(
y
e
a
r
to

d
a
te
)

6
0

9
1
.7
0

1
8
b
id
s
w
e
re

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
d
u
ri
n
g

2
0
0
8
/9
,
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
s
ix

o
f
th
e
s
e

a
re

s
ti
ll
p
e
n
d
in
g
a
d
e
c
is
io
n
.
1
1

o
u
t
o
f
1
2
b
id
s
w
it
h
a
d
e
c
is
io
n

m
a
d
e
w
e
re

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l.

In

a
d
d
it
io
n
,
tw
o
b
id
s
s
u
b
m
it
te
d

d
u
ri
n
g
2
0
0
7
/8

h
a
v
e
re
c
e
iv
e
d

a
p
p
ro
v
a
l
d
u
ri
n
g
2
0
0
8
/9
.

Q
R
T

E
x
te
rn
a
l
F
u
n
d
in
g
s
tr
a
te
g
y
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
to

b
e
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
b
y
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9
(1
=
Y
e
s
,

0
=
N
o
)

1
0
.5
0

S
tr
a
te
g
y
-
w
ill
b
e
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
b
y

J
u
n
e
2
0
0
9
,
b
u
t
g
o
o
d
p
ro
g
re
s
s

is
b
e
in
g
m
a
d
e
.
In
te
rn
a
l
a
u
d
it

a
c
ti
o
n
d
a
te
s
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n

u
p
d
a
te
d
to

re
fl
e
c
t
th
is
.

Q
R
T

2

38



E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

A
L
 W

E
L
L
-B

E
IN

G
 (

u
p

 t
o

 3
1

s
t  M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

9
) 

A
N

N
E

X
 A

 

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t:
E

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
: 

 
L
o
c
a
l 
e
n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 e

v
e
n
ts

/p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
: 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 W

a
tt
s
 g

o
in

g
 d

o
w

n
 i
n

 W
a
rb

o
y
s
. 

 
C

a
x
to

n
 R

o
a

d
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e

 C
e
n

tr
e

/u
n

it
s
 P

ro
je

c
t 
fu

n
d

in
g

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

b
e
in

g
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

d
 t
o
 f
in

d
 f
u
n
d
s
 t
o

 f
ill

 g
a
p
. 

D
e
s
ig

n
 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
s
 a

 r
a
n

g
e

 o
f 
g

re
e

n
 m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

 g
re

e
n
 r

o
o
f 
a
n
d
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

lig
h
ti
n
g
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
. 

 
E

x
te

n
s
iv

e
 d

a
ta

 c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 k

e
y
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 (

e
g

 N
I 
1

8
7

:f
u

e
l 
p

o
v
e

rt
y
) 

R
e

n
e

w
a

b
le

 e
n

e
rg

y
 

 
H

D
C

 S
o

la
r 

g
ra

n
ts

 s
c
h
e

m
e

 u
p

ta
k
e

 c
o
n

ti
n
u

e
s
. 

T
ra

v
e

l 
a

n
d

 e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 t
o

 a
ir

 

 
H

u
n

ti
n
g

d
o

n
 M

ill
 C

o
m

m
o
n

: 
d

e
s
ig

n
 s

ta
rt

e
d

 o
n

 c
y
c
le

w
a
y
  

 
Y

a
x
le

y
 c

y
c
le

w
a
y
 a

n
d
 S

a
llo

w
b
u

s
h
 t
o
 O

x
m

o
o
r 

L
a
n
e
 c

y
c
le

w
a
y
 w

o
rk

s
 s

ta
rt

in
g
. 

 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
, 
B

a
rf

o
rd

 R
d

: 
d

e
s
ig

n
 s

ta
rt

e
d

 o
n

 c
y
c
le

w
a

y
. 

 
H

u
n

ti
n
g

d
o

n
 b

u
s
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 d
e
s
ig

n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
in

g
 

A
d

a
p

ti
n

g
 t
o

 c
lim

a
te

 c
h

a
n

g
e
 

 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
o

f 
c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a

n
g

e
 a

d
a

p
ta

ti
o

n
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n

t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 a

n
d
 C

o
u
n

ty
 (

N
I 
1
8
8
).

 A
 L

o
c
a
l 

C
lim

a
te

 I
m

p
a
c
t 
P

ro
fi
le

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e

d
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 h
e

lp
 d

e
fi
n

e
 c

o
s
t 
o

f 
c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a

n
g

e
 t
h

re
a

ts
 t
o

 H
D

C
 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
:

T
h

e
 L

o
c
a

l 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

F
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
 p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 h

a
s
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
e
d

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y
 –

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

E
x
a

m
in

a
ti
o

n
, 

w
h

ic
h

 l
a
s
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
re

e
 w

e
e
k
s
 i
n

 M
a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 A
p

ri
l,
 n

o
w

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

n
d
 t

h
e

 I
n

s
p

e
c
to

rs
 b

in
d

in
g

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
J
u
ly

. 
S

h
o
u
ld

 h
e
 f

in
d
 t

h
e
 S

u
b
m

it
te

d
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 t

o
 b

e
 s

o
u
n
d
 t

h
e
n

 t
h
a
t 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
 w

ill
 

n
e

e
d

 t
o

 b
e

 f
o

rm
a

lly
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o

 C
o

u
n
c
il 

(s
o

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
y
 c

a
n

 a
d

o
p

t 
th

e
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
).

 T
h
e
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

re
la

te
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 
is

 
o
n
-g

o
in

g
 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

W
e
s
t 

A
A

P
 

n
o
w

 
a
t 

th
e
 

‘p
re

fe
rr

e
d
 

a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

’ 
s
ta

g
e

. 

T
o

 h
e

lp
 t

o
 m

it
ig

a
te

 a
n

d
 

a
d

a
p

t 
to

 c
lim

a
te

 c
h

a
n

g
e

Is
s
u

e
s
:

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t:

 
In

it
ia

ti
o
n
 o

f 
S

t 
N

e
o
ts

 e
n
e
rg

y
 d

e
c
e
n
tr

a
lis

e
d
 a

n
d
 r

e
n

e
w

a
b

le
 e

n
e

rg
y
 s

tu
d

y
 w

it
h

 R
e

n
e

w
a
b

le
s
 E

a
s
t 
a

n
d

 
C

a
m

b
ri

d
g

e
s
h
ir
e

 H
o
ri
z
o

n
s
. 
2

7
 t
e

n
d

e
rs

 r
e
c
e

iv
e

d
 f
o

r 
re

v
ie

w
. 

 
F

in
a

lis
e

 i
n

p
u

t 
to

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 F
lo

o
d

 R
is

k
 A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 e
n

h
a

n
c
e

 i
n

p
u

t 
to

 D
ra

ft
 H

u
n

ti
n
g

d
o

n
s
h

ir
e

 w
a

te
r 

c
y
c
le

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 
 

 
In

p
u
t 
to

 s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
p
o
lic

y
. 
 

 
S

h
a
re

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 f
o
r 

B
u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
tr

o
l 
to

 w
o
rk

 o
n

 s
c
h

o
o

ls
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 b
e

in
g

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 

 
‘S

tr
u

c
tu

ra
l 
c
a

lc
u

la
ti
o
n

 c
h
e

c
k
in

g
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t’
 b

e
in

g
 r

e
-t

e
n
d
e
re

d
 w

it
h
 a

 p
o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
jo

in
t 
w

o
rk

in
g
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 

w
it
h

 F
e

n
la

n
d

 D
C

 

 
P

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
E

E
R

A
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

re
tr

o
fi
t 
fu

n
d
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

d
. 
 

 
Im

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
s
 o

f 
P

it
t 
(f

lo
o

d
in

g
) 

R
e

v
ie

w
 a

n
d

 W
a

te
r 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 D
ir
e
c
ti
v
e

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

 e
x
a
m

in
a
ti
o
n
. 
C

lo
s
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 a

t 
a
 p

ro
je

c
t 
a
n
d
 p

o
lic

y
 l
e
v
e
l 
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l.
 

39



O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

R
is

k
s
:

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t:

 
A

n
y
 r

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 c
a

p
it
a

l 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 c
o
u

ld
 a

ff
e

c
t 
d

e
s
ig

n
 s

ta
ff

 r
e

q
u

ir
e
m

e
n

ts
. 
 

 
C

lo
s
e
r 

in
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
k
e
y
 f
in

d
in

g
s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

a
rb

o
n
 a

p
p
ra

is
a

l 
o

f 
th

e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g

e
 s

u
b

 r
e

g
io

n
 L

T
D

P
 a

n
d

 H
D

C
 

L
IF

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e

 t
o
 b

e
 c

ri
ti
c
a
l 
to

 t
h
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
lo

n
g
 t
e

rm
 c

a
rb

o
n

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o

 m
e

e
t 
ta

rg
e

ts
 f
o

r:
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 s

a
v
in

g
, 
c
o
m

b
a
ti
n
g
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
ta

rg
e

ts
 N

I 
1

8
6

 a
n
d

 1
8

8
. 
S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 s

tu
d
y
 s

h
o
u

ld
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 i
n
 t
h
is

 a
re

a
. 

 
O

n
g

o
in

g
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
g

u
id

a
n
c
e

 f
ro

m
 D

E
F

R
A

 m
e

a
n
s
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fa

ilu
re

 t
o
 r

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 N

I 
1
8
7
 (

fu
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt

y
).

 

 
F

a
ilu

re
 t
o

 g
a

in
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 f
o

r 
2
-s

to
re

y
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 a

t 
S

t 
Iv

e
s
 r

e
tr

o
fi
t 
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
. 
 

 
R

is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 f
o
r 

c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 n

o
t 
fu

lly
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 
C

lo
s
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n

t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
fa

ils
 t
o
 m

a
te

ri
a
lis

e
. 

 
F

a
ilu

re
 t
o
 f
in

d
 f
u
n
d
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
C

a
x
to

n
 R

d
 P

ro
je

c
t 
s
h
o
rt

fa
ll.

  
 

A
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
ts

: 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
:

 
O

u
r 

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t 
re

ta
in

e
d

 p
la

n
n

in
g

, 
e

n
g

in
e

e
ri
n

g
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
e

rt
y
 c

o
n
s
u

lt
a
n

ts
 (

E
D

A
W

 +
 F

a
b

e
r 

M
a

u
n
s
e

ll 
+

 
D

ri
v
e
rs

 J
o

n
a

s
) 

h
a

v
e

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

 w
o
rk

 o
n

 t
h

e
 H

u
n

ti
n
g

d
o

n
s
h

ir
e

 L
o

c
a

l 
In

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d

 a
re

 
m

a
k
in

g
 g

o
o
d

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 i
n

 r
e
s
p

e
c
t 
o

f 
c
o

m
p

le
ti
n

g
 o

th
e
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 i
.e

. 
th

e
 H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n

 W
e
s
t 
L
in

k
 R

o
a
d

; 
th

e
 S

t 
N

e
o

ts
 H

e
a

lt
h
c
h

e
c
k
; 
a

n
d

 t
h
e

 H
u

n
ti
n
g

d
o
n
s
h

ir
e

 W
a

te
r 

C
y
c
le

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

Is
s
u

e
s
:

P
e
o

p
le

, 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
: 

(f
o

rm
e
rl

y
 P

o
li

c
y
 &

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

):
 

T
h
e
 I
n
te

g
ra

te
d

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n
 f
o
r 

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g

e
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 c

ir
c
u

la
te

d
 f
o

r 
c
o
n

s
u

lt
a
ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

. 
 T

h
e
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 s

e
ts

 o
u

t 
h
o
w

 s
p

a
ti
a

l 
p
o

lic
y
 a

n
d

 e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
p

a
c
k
a

g
e

s
 a

n
d

 
k
e

y
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 w
ill

 d
e

liv
e

r 
th

e
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
d

 l
e

v
e
ls

 o
f 
g
ro

w
th

 f
o
r 

th
e
 C

o
u
n

ty
. 
It
 i
s
 c

ru
c
ia

l 
th

a
t 
th

e
 p

la
n
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 a
ll 

H
u

n
ti
n
g

d
o

n
s
h

ir
e

’s
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
a

s
p

ir
a

ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
s
. 

 A
 c

o
o
rd

in
a

te
d

 r
e
s
p
o

n
s
e

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 p

u
t 
to

g
e

th
e

r 
fo

r 
th

e
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

a
n

d
 w

ill
 b

e
 f
e

d
 b

a
c
k
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t 
c
h

a
n
n

e
ls

. 

T
o

 p
ro

m
o

te
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
 i
n

 a
n

d
 

a
ro

u
n

d
 t

h
e

 m
a

rk
e

t 
to

w
n

s

R
is

k
s
:

P
e
o

p
le

, 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
: 

(f
o

rm
e
rl

y
 P

o
li

c
y
 &

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

):
 

T
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 v

ia
b
le

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 W

o
rk

s
p
a
c
e
 f
a
c
ili

ty
 i
n

 O
x
m

o
o

r 
m

a
y
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
ro

m
is

e
d
 d

u
e

 t
o

 c
u
rr

e
n

t 
m

a
rk

e
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
. 
 T

h
e

 £
3

8
5
k
 ‘
In

v
e
s
ti
n

g
 i
n

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
’ 
fu

n
d

in
g

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n

 
p

ro
v
is

io
n

a
lly

 o
ff

e
re

d
 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

o
n

 t
h
e

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 t

h
a

t 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 m
a

tc
h

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 c
a

n
 b

e
 g

u
a
ra

n
te

e
d

 a
n
d

 w
e
 c

a
n

 
d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 i
n
te

n
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r 

o
r 

s
o
o
n
 a

ft
e
r.

 

40



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C

o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
A
C
le
a
n
,
G
re
e
n
a
n
d
A
tt
ra
c
ti
v
e
P
la
c
e

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
h
e
lp

m
it
ig
a
te

a
n
d
a
d
a
p
t
to

c
li
m
a
te

c
h
a
n
g
e

D
iv
is
io
n
:
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
h
e
lp

m
it
ig
a
te

a
n
d
a
d
a
p
t
to

c
li
m
a
te

c
h
a
n
g
e

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

((
N
I1
8
6
)
P
ro
m
o
te

e
n
e
rg
y
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
a
n
d
u
s
e
o
f

re
n
e
w
a
b
le

e
n
e
rg
y
to

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs

N
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
to
n
n
e
s
o
f
C
O
2
s
a
v
e
d
th
ro
u
g
h
in
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
o
f
e
n
e
rg
y
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
a
n
d
re
n
e
w
a
b
le
s
in

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

m
e
a
s
u
re
)

5
0

3
8
1

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
in
c
lu
d
e
:

W
a
rm

e
r
H
o
m
e
s
fo
r
L
if
e
,

B
ri
ti
s
h
G
a
s
R
e
b
a
te

s
c
h
e
m
e
,

S
o
la
r
H
o
t
W
a
te
r
S
c
h
e
m
e

F
re
e
in
s
u
la
ti
o
n
fo
r
P
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs

C
u
lm

u
la
ti
v
e
fi
g
u
re
s
to

d
a
te

fo
r

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l
y
e
a
r
2
0
0
8
/0
9
:

6
1
H
o
m
e
s
w
it
h
c
a
v
it
y
w
a
ll

in
s
u
la
ti
o
n

1
1
8
H
o
m
e
s
w
it
h
lo
ft
in
s
u
la
ti
o
n

8
4
H
o
m
e
s
w
it
h
h
e
a
ti
n
g

C
o
n
tr
o
ls

7
H
o
m
e
s
w
it
h
s
o
la
r
h
o
t
w
a
te
r

a
n
d
a
to
ta
l
o
f
2
3
4
h
o
m
e
s
in

th
e

d
is
tr
ic
t
w
e
re

im
p
ro
v
e
d
b
y
th
e
s
e

m
e
a
s
u
re
s

T
h
is

s
a
v
e
d
3
8
1
T
o
n
n
e
s
o
f

C
O
2
s
a
v
e
d

Q
R
T

(N
I
1
8
5
)
Id
e
n
ti
fy

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
to

re
d
u
c
e
C
O
2
e
m
is
s
io
n
s

fr
o
m

th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il!
s
o
w
n
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s

A
c
h
ie
v
e
a
6
%

c
a
rb
o
n
s
a
v
in
g
fr
o
m

c
o
u
n
c
il
e
s
ta
te
.(
c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

m
e
a
s
u
re
)

1
1

B
a
s
e
lin

e
C
O
2
p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
fo
r

2
0
0
7
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
,

C
a
rb
o
n
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
P
la
n
n
o
w

in
p
la
c
e
w
h
ic
h
in
c
lu
d
e
s
a

ta
rg
e
t
fo
r
re
d
u
c
in
g
th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
C
a
rb
o
n
e
m
is
s
io
n
s
b
y

3
0
%

o
v
e
r
fi
v
e
y
e
a
rs
,
w
it
h
th
e

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

y
e
a
r
o
n
y
e
a
r

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
.

Q
R
T

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
o
f
H
D
C

C
a
rb
o
n
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t
P
la
n
b
y
3
1
s
t
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9
(o
n
ta
rg
e
t

1
1

F
in
a
l
C
a
rb
o
n
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

P
la
n
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
in

M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9
.

T
h
e
p
la
n
w
ill
n
o
w
b
e
p
re
s
e
n
te
d

to
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
a
n
d
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
a
n
d

Q
R
T

1

41



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

to
C
a
b
in
e
t
in

J
u
n
e
2
0
0
9
b
e
fo
re

fi
n
a
l
s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
to

th
e
C
a
rb
o
n

T
ru
s
t.

(N
I
1
8
8
)
U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
ri
s
k
-b
a
s
e
d
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
o
f
c
u
rr
e
n
t

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ti
e
s
to

w
e
a
th
e
r
a
n
d
c
lim

a
te

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
a
n
d

id
e
n
ti
fy

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s

L
o
c
a
l
ri
s
k
b
a
s
e
d
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
c
o
m
p
le
te

b
y
S
e
p
t
0
9
to

a
c
h
ie
v
e
le
v
e
l
1
o
f
N
I1
8
8

o
n
ta
rg
e
t
(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
D
is
tr
ic
t

C
o
u
n
c
il
in

c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
w
it
h
th
e

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
C
lim

a
te

C
h
a
n
g
e
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

is

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
c
o
n
d
u
c
ti
n
g
re
s
e
a
rc
h

to
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
h
o
w
s
e
v
e
re

w
e
a
th
e
r
e
v
e
n
ts

h
a
v
e
a
ff
e
c
te
d

th
e
d
is
tr
ic
t
o
v
e
r
th
e
p
a
s
t
1
0

y
e
a
rs
.
B
y
e
x
a
m
in
in
g
m
e
d
ia

a
rt
ic
le
s
to

a
s
s
e
s
s
th
e
im

p
a
c
ts

o
f
s
e
v
e
re

w
e
a
th
e
r,
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il

a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
k
e
y
p
a
rt
n
e
rs

w
ill

p
la
n
fo
r
th
e
ri
s
k
s
a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d

w
it
h
c
lim

a
te

c
h
a
n
g
e
in

th
e

d
is
tr
ic
t
a
n
d
a
d
a
p
t
to

th
e
m
.

T
h
is

in
it
ia
l
re
p
o
rt
a
n
d
th
e
w
o
rk

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
s
o
fa
r,
fo
c
u
s
e
s
o
n

p
h
a
s
e
o
n
e
o
f
N
I
1
8
8

(A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
to

C
lim

a
te

C
h
a
n
g
e
).

Q
R
T

(N
I1
8
6
)
P
ro
m
o
te

E
n
e
rg
y
E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
to

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs

th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
W
a
rm

e
r
H
o
m
e
s
F
o
r
L
if
e
S
c
h
e
m
e

%
o
f
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
fo
r
lo
ft
a
n
d
C
a
v
it
y
W
a
ll
In
s
u
la
ti
o
n
re
c
e
iv
e
d
u
n
d
e
r
th
e

s
c
h
e
m
e
re
p
lie
d
to

w
it
h
in

5
w
o
rk
in
g
d
a
y
s

9
5

9
8

5
4
re
q
u
e
s
ts

re
c
ie
v
e
d
o
n
ly
o
n
e

n
o
t
d
e
a
lt
w
it
h
w
it
h
in

5
w
o
rk
in
g

d
a
y
s
(6

d
a
y
s
ta
k
e
n
)

Q
R
T

(N
I1
8
6
)
R
e
tr
o
fi
t
p
ro
je
c
t
-
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t
o
f
H
o
u
s
in
g
s
to
c
k

R
e
tr
o
fi
t
p
ro
je
c
t
-
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t
o
f
H
o
u
s
in
g
s
to
c
k
b
y
M
a
rc
h
0
9
(o
n
ta
rg
e
t
1
=

Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

B
o
th

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
n
o
w
p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
d

(a
tw
o
b
e
d
ro
o
m

1
9
7
0
s

d
e
ta
c
h
e
d
in

S
t
Iv
e
s
a
n
d
a
3

b
e
d
ro
o
m

s
e
m
i-
d
e
ta
c
h
e
d
in

S
t

N
e
o
ts
).
T
h
e
rm

a
l
a
n
d
a
c
c
o
u
s
ti
c

te
s
ti
n
g
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
a
t
b
o
th

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
a
n
d
te
n
d
e
r

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
fo
r
re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t

b
e
in
g
fi
n
a
lis
e
d
fo
r
a
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d

s
ta
rt
o
n
s
it
e
in

s
u
m
m
e
r
2
0
0
9

R
e
g
u
la
r
m
o
n
th
ly
p
ro
je
c
t

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
2
0
0
9
to

e
n
s
u
re

p
ro
je
c
t
re
m
a
in
s
o
n

tr
a
c
k
.

Q
R
T

2

42



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

W
o
rk
in
g
in

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

w
it
h
th
e

B
u
ild

in
g
s
R
e
s
e
a
rc
h

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t
(B
R
E
)
to

d
e
liv
e
r

th
e
p
ro
je
c
t.

(N
I1
8
6
)
U
p
d
a
te

e
x
is
ti
n
g
a
n
d
e
x
te
n
d
T
ra
v
e
l
P
la
n
s
to

a
ll

o
f
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il!
s
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t
s
it
e
s
a
n
d
im

p
le
m
e
n
t
to

a
c
h
ie
v
e
a
m
o
d
a
l
s
h
if
t
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

s
in
g
le

o
c
c
u
p
a
n
t
c
a
r

u
s
e

%
o
f
c
o
u
n
c
il
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
tr
a
v
e
lli
n
g
a
lo
n
e
to

w
o
rk

b
y
c
a
r
(p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
6
5
%
)

6
5

6
5

A
n
n
u
a
l
m
e
a
s
u
re

m
o
n
it
o
re
d

th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e

T
ra
v
e
l
to

W
o
rk

s
u
rv
e
y
w
h
ic
h

p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
o
f
H
D
C

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
tr
a
v
e
l
to

w
o
rk

h
a
b
it
s
b
y
m
o
d
e
.

Y
R
L

C
o
m
p
le
te

a
n
a
n
n
u
a
l
re
v
ie
w
&
u
p
d
a
te

o
f
G
ro
w
in
g

A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
a
p
la
n
fo
r
o
u
r
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
&
e
n
s
u
re

th
a
t
th
e

M
T
P
fu
n
d
in
g
is

c
o
m
m
it
te
d
b
y
th
e
C
o
u
n
c
il
to

d
e
liv
e
r
o
n

g
o
in
g
c
a
rb
o
n
d
io
x
id
e
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

Y
e
a
r
1
a
c
ti
o
n
s
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
in

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
S
tr
a
te
g
y
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

Y
e
a
r
o
n
e
fu
n
d
e
d
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

S
tr
a
te
g
y
P
ro
je
c
ts

e
ig
h
t
o
u
t
o
f

n
in
e
o
n
tr
a
c
k
-
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in
s
t
th
e
fi
rs
t
y
e
a
r
ta
rg
e
ts

w
ill
b
e
p
u
b
lis
ie
d
in

th
e
fi
rs
t

a
n
n
u
a
l
re
v
ie
w
o
f
th
e
s
ra
te
g
y

w
h
ic
h
w
ill
b
e
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
in

a
u
tu
m
n
2
0
0
9
.

Q
R
T

Id
e
n
ti
fy

a
re
a
s
o
f
jo
in
t
w
o
rk
in
g
w
it
h
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs

to
h
e
lp

d
e
liv
e
r
a
im

s
o
f
G
ro
w
in
g
A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
.

H
S
P
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
F
o
ru
m

to
m
e
e
t
a
t
le
a
s
t
tw
ic
e
a
n
n
u
a
lly

(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
F
o
ru
m

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s

h
e
ld
o
n
o
n
2
7
.0
1
.0
9
&

3
1
.0
3
.0
9
.
F
u
rt
h
e
r
d
a
te
s
a
g
re
e
d

fo
r
th
e
c
o
m
in
g
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l
y
e
a
r,

0
9
.0
6
.0
9
,
2
2
.0
9
.0
9
&
0
1
.1
2
.0
9

Q
R
T

O
v
e
rs
e
e
th
e
im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

S
tr
a
te
g
y
p
ro
je
c
ts

%
o
f
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t
S
tr
a
te
g
y
Y
e
a
r
1
p
ro
je
c
ts

o
n
ta
rg
e
t

7
5

8
9

Y
e
a
r
o
n
e
fu
n
d
e
d
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

S
tr
a
te
g
y
P
ro
je
c
ts

e
ig
h
t
o
u
t
o
f

n
in
e
o
n
tr
a
c
k
-

M
a
y
fi
e
ld

R
o
a
d
S
h
o
w
c
a
s
e

E
c
o
-h
o
m
e
s
(0
n
tr
a
c
k
)

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

H
o
m
e
s
R
e
tr
o
-f
it

P
ro
je
c
t
(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

G
o
d
m
a
n
c
h
e
s
te
r
N
u
rs
e
ry

-

R
e
n
e
w
a
b
le
s
(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

R
e
n
e
w
a
b
le
s
a
t
H
D
C
o
w
n
e
d

S
it
e
s
(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

S
c
h
o
o
ls
R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
S
c
h
e
m
e

(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

R
iv
e
r
C
le
a
n
-u
p
w
o
rk

(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

L
o
c
a
l
F
o
o
d
&
C
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e

E
v
e
n
t
(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

S
m
a
rt
M
e
te
ri
n
g
(o
n
tr
a
c
k
)

B
a
tt
e
ry

R
e
c
y
c
lin
g

(r
e
-e
v
a
lu
a
ti
n
g
)

Q
R
T

3

43



A
n
n
e
x
B
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
-
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
R
e
p
o
rt

3
1
M
a
rc
h
2
0
0
9

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
la
n
n
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

fo
rm

s
o
f
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

In
c
lu
d
e
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

p
o
lic
ie
s
w
it
h
in

L
D
F
(t
o
s
e
t
a

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

p
o
lic
y
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
)

C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
"
A
d
h
e
re
n
c
e
to

L
D
F
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
,
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
to

b
e
a
d
o
p
te
d
b
y

A
u
g
u
s
t
2
0
0
9
(1
=
Y
e
s
,
0
=
N
o
)

1
1

Q
R
T

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
/C

o
u
n
c
il
A
im

:
D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ly

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
p
ro
m
o
te

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
in

a
n
d
a
ro

u
n
d
th
e
m
a
rk
e
t
to
w
n
s

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
la
n
n
in
g

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
p
ro
m
o
te

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
in

a
n
d
a
ro

u
n
d
th
e
m
a
rk
e
t
to
w
n
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

D
e
v
e
lo
p
s
tr
a
te
g
ic

p
o
lic
y
to

p
ro
m
o
te

w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
o
f
o
u
r

m
a
rk
e
t
to
w
n
s

A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
o
f
C
o
re

S
tr
a
te
g
y
o
n
ta
rg
e
t
to

b
e
a
d
o
p
te
d
b
y
A
u
g
u
s
t
2
0
0
9
(1
=
Y
e
s
,

0
=
N
o
)

1
1

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
:
P
o
li
c
y
a
n
d
S
tr
a
te
g
ic

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
p
ro
m
o
te

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
in

a
n
d
a
ro

u
n
d
th
e
m
a
rk
e
t
to
w
n
s

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

R
e
v
ie
w
th
e
L
o
c
a
l
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
s
tr
a
te
g
y
&
id
e
n
ti
fy

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

%
o
f
L
E
S
a
c
ti
o
n
s
/m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
o
n
tr
a
c
k

9
0

1
0
0

1
0
0

L
o
c
a
l
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
S
tr
a
te
g
y

a
d
o
p
te
d
.
A
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
a
n
d
a
re

o
n

ta
rg
e
t.

Q
R
T

D
iv
is
io
n
a
l
O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:
T
o
s
u
p
p
o
rt

to
w
n
c
e
n
tr
e
s
to

b
e
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
ll
y
v
ia
b
le

a
n
d
v
ib
ra
n
t

K
e
y
A
c
ti
v
it
y
(s
)
o
n
ly

to
d
e
li
v
e
r
s
e
rv
ic
e
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
:

K
e
y
M
e
a
s
u
re
:

T
a
rg
e
t:

A
c
tu
a
l:

F
o
re
c
a
s
t:

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
:

S
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
T
o
w
n
C
e
n
tr
e

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s

%
o
f
to
w
n
c
e
n
tr
e
p
ro
je
c
ts

o
n
tr
a
c
k
a
s
s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
in

th
e
ir
a
n
n
u
a
l
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s

9
0

9
6
.9
0

9
6
.9

0
9
/1
0
S
e
rv
ic
e
L
e
v
e
l

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts

a
re

in
th
e
p
ro
c
e
s
s

o
f
b
e
in
g
a
g
re
e
d
.
W
e
a
re

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
re
ta
il
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g

w
o
rk

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt
o
u
r
to
w
n

c
e
n
tr
e
s
.

Q
R
T

4

44



  
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
A
n
n
e
x
 C
 

 
 

 (N
o
te

: 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 i
s
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 a

n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
 f
re

q
u
e
n
tl
y
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
re

a
s
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
in

s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 s

ta
tu

a
ry

 g
u
id

a
n
c
e
.)
 

 

S
u
b
je
c
t 

A
re
a
 o
f 
F
o
c
u
s
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

L
e
a
d
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 &

 
K
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 m

a
k
in

g
 

th
e
 m

o
s
t 
o
f 
le

a
rn

in
g
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie

s
 t
o
 u

s
e
 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 k

n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 t
o
 p

la
n
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

 

C
P
A
 

 
A
d
o
p
t 
s
y
s
te

m
a
ti
c
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

a
n
d
 s

h
a
ri
n
g
 k

n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 

v
ia

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
n
tr
a
n
e
t.
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

u
s
e
s
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

a
n
d
 k

n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 
a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 

to
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

M
e
m

b
e
r:
 M

ik
e
 

S
im

p
s
o
n
 

O
ff
ic

e
r:
 D

ir
 

C
o
m

m
e
rc

e
 &

 
T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
IM

D
 

 

A
ll 

S
h
a
re

P
o
in

t 
s
it
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
t-

u
p
/m

ig
ra

te
d
 t
o
 

la
te

s
t 
v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
S
h
a
re

P
o
in

t 
a
n
d
 

s
e
a
rc

h
 f
a
c
ili
ty

 r
e
-

in
s
ta

te
d
. 

E
n
c
o
u
ra

g
in

g
 t
h
e
 

u
s
e
 o

f 
W

IK
Is

 t
o
 a

id
 

th
e
 s

h
a
ri
n
g
 o

f 
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 &

 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 w

it
h
in

 
te

a
m

s
. 
 A

 g
o
o
d
  

e
x
a
m

p
le

 i
s
 i
n
 u

s
e
 a

t 
th

e
 C

a
ll 

C
e
n
tr
e
. 

C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili
ty

 o
f 

s
p
e
n
d
in

g
 p

la
n
s
, 

e
m

p
lo

y
e
e
 c

a
p
a
c
it
y
, 

s
ta

ff
 t
u
rn

o
v
e
r.
 

C
P
A
 

D
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
P
e
o
p
le

 
S
tr
a
te

g
y
 

 

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 t
h
e
 r
ig

h
t 

n
u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
e
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
ig

h
t 
s
k
ill
s
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
it
s
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
. 

M
e
m

b
e
r:
 

A
n
d
re

w
 

H
a
n
s
a
rd

 
O

ff
ic

e
r:
 D

ir
 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
: 
H

e
a
d
 

o
f 
P
e
rs

o
n
n
e
l 

A
 n

e
w

 P
e
o
p
le

 
S
tr
a
te

g
y
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 
T
h
is

 w
ill
 

g
o
 t
o
 E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

P
a
n
e
l 
in

 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

a
ft
e
r 
a
n
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 t
o
 

d
e
liv

e
r 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 

In
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

45



S
u
b
je
c
t 

A
re
a
 o
f 
F
o
c
u
s
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

L
e
a
d
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

- 
T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
n
a
g
e
s
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in

s
t 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 i
ts

 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 
th

a
t 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
fo

r 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 i
t 

m
e
e
ts

 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 

U
o
R

 
c
ri
te

ri
a
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
s
 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 

b
y
 a

 r
is

k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.
 

U
s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 m

a
d
e
 b

u
t 
a
 f
o
rm

a
l 

ri
s
k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 

c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
to

 f
o
c
u
s
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

. 
(b

y
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 0

8
) 

 

 
 

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
, 
a
n
d
 

w
il
l 
b
e
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 
  

In
te

rn
a
l 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 
- 
R

is
k
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
  

 

R
is

k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

tr
a
in

in
g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 o
ff
ic

e
rs

 
a
n
d
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 p
ri
o
r 
to

 
3
1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
. 

U
s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

A
ll 

H
e
a
d
s
 o

f 
S
e
rv

ic
e
 

h
a
v
e
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
M

e
m

b
e
r 
tr
a
in

in
g
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 i
n
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
. 
A

n
y
 M

e
m

b
e
rs

 w
h
o
 

m
is

s
e
d
 b

o
th

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 b

ri
e
fe

d
 

in
d
iv

id
u
a
ll
y
. 
(b

y
 3

1
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

8
) 

 

R
a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
ri
s
k
 

a
n
d
 r
is

k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

 
T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
il
l 
 

b
e
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 
J
D
H
 

2
4
/0
2
/0
9
 

S
y
s
te

m
s
 o

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

a
n
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

. 
O

n
c
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
, 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 p

u
t 

in
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

th
is

 a
 f
lu

id
 l
iv

in
g
 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
th

a
t 
is

 u
p
d
a
te

d
 

c
o
n
s
ta

n
tl
y
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
, 

U
s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

A
n
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 P

a
n
e
l 
o
n
 2

6
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
. 

(b
y
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 0

8
) 

A
g
re

e
d
 s

y
s
te

m
s
/p

ro
c
e
s
s
 

in
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
s
 i
t’
s
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 w

it
h
 

in
te

g
ri
ty

, 
o
p
e
n
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ta

b
ili
ty

. 

 
T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 P

a
n
e
l 

o
n
 2

5
th
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
 

w
ill
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t
h
is

 
it
e
m

. 
R

e
p
o
rt
s
 

d
e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h
 R

is
k
 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 

s
e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 P

a
n
e
l 
o
n
 

a
 s

ix
 m

o
n
th

ly
 b

a
s
is

 

46



S
u
b
je
c
t 

A
re
a
 o
f 
F
o
c
u
s
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

L
e
a
d
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

ri
s
k
s
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
s
. 
 

In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 o
p
in

io
n
 o

n
 

th
e
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t.
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

in
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 

a
re

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 a

s
 p

e
r 

th
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

u
d
it
 

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 o

p
in

io
n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

s
y
s
te

m
 o

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 

c
o
n
tr
o
l.
 

 
S
e
e
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
A

ls
o
 

M
o
n
it
o
re

d
 v

ia
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 Q

u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

to
 C

O
M

T
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
. 

F
a
c
ili
ta

te
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 
fo

r 
E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
. 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
2
 o

f 
th

e
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t
o
 l
e
v
e
l 
3
 

(b
y
 2

0
1
0
) 
o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

C
E
P

 a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
,7

 
o
u
t 
o
f 
9
 a

c
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

S
tr
a
te

g
y
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 i
n
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 0

8
 

 
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 

A
d
o
p
t 
a
n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te

g
y
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
. 

 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 b

e
in

g
 

m
a
d
e
 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 
th

e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 

 
C

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 S
y
s
te

m
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 

R
e
v
ie

w
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is

m
s
 f
o
r 

re
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 

h
a
ra

s
s
m

e
n
t 
e
.g

. 
O

p
e
n
 

O
u
t,
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

, 
g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

 a
n
d
 

D
ig

n
it
y
 a

t 
W

o
rk

 P
o
lic

y
. 

 

A
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 c

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 
s
y
s
te

m
 t
h
a
t 
w

ill
 e

n
a
b
le

 
tr
a
n
s
p
a
re

n
t 
n
o
n
-

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
to

ry
 r
e
p
o
rt
in

g
. 

 
T
h
e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 s
y
s
te

m
 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 r
e
c
a
s
t 
a
s
 

p
a
rt
 o

f 
a
 w

id
e
r 

F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 s

y
s
te

m
, 

w
h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
T
e
a
m

 
a
n
d
 e

n
d
o
rs

e
d
 b

y
 

th
e
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 P

a
n
e
l.
 

 
S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

W
o
rk

in
g
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 
D

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

 
S
C

S
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 b

y
 

47



S
u
b
je
c
t 

A
re
a
 o
f 
F
o
c
u
s
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

L
e
a
d
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 
S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te

g
y
 (
S
C

S
).
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S

C
S
 v

ia
 

th
e
 H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 

S
tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
a
rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

. 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

in
 S

e
p
t 
0
8
. 

W
o
rk

 u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 

m
o
n
it
o
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
  

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 

U
s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
/V

F
M

 

A
c
ti
o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 

a
re

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 a

s
 p

e
r 

th
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 t
im

e
ta

b
le

 

T
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 r
e
lia

b
le

, 
a
c
c
u
ra

te
 a

n
d
 t
im

e
ly

 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 w

h
ic

h
 t
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
, 
in

fo
rm

 u
s
e
rs

 
a
n
d
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
fo

r 
o
u
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

 
D

a
ta

 m
e
a
s
u
re

 
te

m
p
la

te
s
, 
in

 p
a
rt
 

u
p
d
a
te

d
 b

y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

to
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

la
n
. 

 

48



CABINET                 18TH JUNE 2009 
 

PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panels) 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels for Social Well-Being, 

Environmental Well-Being and Economic Well-Being meetings on 2nd, 
9th and 11th June 2009 respectively considered a report by the Head of 
People, Performance and Partnerships on the Council’s performance 
against its priority objectives. This report sets out the Panels’ views on 
the performance levels achieved. 

 
2. COMMENTS 
 
2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels have endorsed the comments of the 

Corporate Plan Working Group (Appendix A). Members’ attention has 
been drawn to the 8 priority objectives which have been allocated 
between the three new Overview and Scrutiny Panels in accordance 
with their respective remits. 

 
 Social Well-Being 
 
2.2 The Panel has discussed trends in demand for housing services in the 

District. The number of households living in temporary accommodation 
is close to achieving the target, with 61 households living in temporary 
accommodation. At the same time there has been a significant 
increase in the number of households that have been prevented from 
becoming homeless. Comment has been made on the fact that 
economic conditions have required a level of performance considerably 
above the target for this indicator and that, in these circumstances, the 
use of temporary accommodation is preferable to homelessness. 
Furthermore, Members have noted that there is a national target to 
reduce to 45 the number of households living in temporary 
accommodation by April 2010, which should be achievable by the 
Council. 

 
2.3 The Panel has questioned the performance data reported under the 

key measure relating to the percentage of affordable housing 
(commitments) on qualifying sites. The variation in performance 
compared with the target has been attributed to the decline in the 
demand for private housing, which has promoted the construction of 
affordable housing. 

 
 Environmental Well-Being 
 
2.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) has 

questioned whether targets are sufficiently stretching, as all targets 

49



presented had been met or exceeded. The Panel has also asked for 
early sight of the targets set for 2009/10. 

 
 Economic Well-Being 

 
2.6 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-Being) has the 

Panel has noted that income from hospitality at leisure centres 
continues to decline as bar trade suffers.  The Corporate Plan Working 
Group has suggested that as Huntingdon Leisure Centre has seen an 
increase of 15% in this area, similar techniques to those used at 
Huntingdon should be implemented at the other leisure centres. 

 
2.7 The percentage of bids which have successfully attracted external 

funding has significantly exceeded the target of 60%, yet the target for 
producing an External Funding Strategy has only been partially met 
owing to redeployment of officer resources to work on a major funding 
bid.  Although Members have discussed amending the target on 
obtaining external funding, in order effectively to monitor performance 
in this respect, it is considered to be preferable to retain the original 
target. 

 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 The Cabinet is invited to consider the comments of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Panels as part of its deliberations on the report by the Head of 
People, Performance and Partnerships. 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Corporate Plan Working Group Notes of the meeting held on 28th May 2009. 
 
Minutes and Reports of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Social Well-Being) on 2nd June 2009, Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Environmental Well-Being) on 9th June 2009 and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel (Economic Well-Being) on 11th June 2009. 
 
 
Contact Officers: Miss H Ali 
   (01480) 388006 
 
   Mrs J Walker 
   (01480) 387049 
 
   Mrs A Jerrom 
   (01480) 388009 
 

50



APPENDIX A 
 

CORPORATE PLAN WORKING GROUP 
 

NOTES OF MEETING HELD ON 28TH MAY 2009 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Corporate Plan Working Group met on 28th May 2009 when 

Councillors J D Ablewhite, S J Criswell, P M D Godfrey, D Harty, G S E 
Thorpe and R J West were present. 

 
1.2 D Buckridge, A Roberts and Mrs J Walker were in attendance.  
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Working Group were reminded that the Council had adopted 37 

corporate objectives, 8 of which had been considered to be a priority 
for the immediate future. The 8 priority objectives had been split 
between the Overview and Scrutiny Panels (Social Well-being, 
Environmental Well-being and Economic Well-being) accordingly.  

 
3. WORKING GROUP COMMENTS 
 
 Social Well-Being 
 
3.1 Members discussed the trend in demand for housing services in the 

District and the implications this had for a number of the Council’s 
objectives. The number of households living in temporary 
accommodation was close to achieving the target, with 61 households 
living in temporary accommodation. The Working Group were informed 
that there was a nationally set target to reduce this figure to 45 by April 
2010. At the same time there had been a significant increase in the 
number of households that had been prevented from becoming 
homeless. Comment was made on the fact that economic conditions 
had required a level of performance considerably above the target for 
this indicator and that, in these circumstances, the use of temporary 
accommodation was preferable to homelessness. 

 
 Environmental Well-Being 
 
3.2 The Working Group drew attention to the difference between the target 

for the number of tonnes of CO2 saved through installation of energy 
efficiency measures and renewables in domestic properties 
(cumulative quarterly measure) which was 50, and the actual stood at 
381 tonnes. It was agreed that this discrepancy would be investigated 
further at the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny (Environmental 
Wellbeing) Panel.  

 

51



3.3 Members suggested that the target for the percentage of council 
employees travelling alone to work by car should have been reduced 
from 65% as it did not represent an improvement in performance 
compared with the previous year. 

 
 Economic Well-Being 
 
3.4 The Working Group noted that income from hospitality at leisure 

centres continued to decline as the bar trade continued to suffer. 
However, Huntingdon Leisure Centre had seen an increase of 15%. 
Members suggested that similar techniques to those used at 
Huntingdon should be implemented at the other leisure centres.   

 
3.5 Members were encouraged to note that the percentage of bids which 

had successfully attracted external funding had significantly exceeded 
the target of 60%. However, Members felt that the level of resources 
dedicated to obtaining external funding needed to be monitored. The 
ability to secure funding was deemed to be essential. 

 
4. THE WORKING GROUP’S WORK PROGRAMME 
 
4.1 The Working Group is to pursue its investigations into the budget 

associated with each of the Council’s objectives. On receipt of this 
information Members will then consider whether to instigate a 
programme of discussions with Heads of Service on how their service 
areas contribute to the achievement of the Council’s objectives. 

 
4.2 In addition to data on the Council’s priorities, the Working Group has 

requested that they receive information on any of the Community and 
Council aims where targets were not being achieved. 

 
 
 
Contact Officer: Mrs J Walker, Democratic Services Officer 

(01480) 387049 
 

52



CABINET 18TH JUNE 2009

GRANT AID 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery)) 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery), 3rd April 2007, decided 
to undertake a study on capital and revenue grant aid schemes operating 
across the Council. The suggestion for the study emerged from the Panel’s 
previous investigations into the Small Scale Environmental Improvements 
Schemes, where the recommendations arising from the study had been 
endorsed by the Cabinet and implemented by the Council. 

1.2 Members of the Small Scale Environmental Improvements Working Group 
were therefore re-appointed to undertake the study on grant aid; that is 
Councillors Mrs M Banerjee, P G Mitchell and J S Watt. In addition, former 
District Councillor D A Giles was appointed on to the Working Group and 
assisted with the investigations until April 2008. Councillor P G Mitchell was 
nominated rapporteur for the Working Group. 

1.3 Discussions have been held with a number of relevant District Council 
Officers and the Working Group is grateful to them for the support provided 
during the course of their investigations. 

2. AIMS OF THE WORKING GROUP 

2.1 The Working Group was tasked with examining the following:- 

 the purpose of the scheme having regard to the Council’s priorities 
contained in Growing Success; 

 the criteria for assessing applicants’ eligibility under each scheme; 

 the methods adopted to publicise the availability of grant funding; 

 the application process; and 

 Officer / Member involvement during the approval process. 

2.2 In addition to the above, the Working Group decided to investigate external 
sources of funding, specifically, the level of funding attracted by the Council 
and the application procedure. Further information on this is included within 
the Appendix. 

2.3 One of the main objectives of the study at the outset was to develop a single 
website area for all grant applications offered by the Council. At present the 
different grant application schemes are listed on separate sections of the 
Council’s website.  

Agenda Item 7

53



3. WORKING GROUP ACTIVITIES 

3.1 The Working Group met on a number of occasions over the ensuing months 
and interviewed the following District Council Officers:- 

Mr Steve Plant – Head of Housing Services 
Mr Frank Mastrandrea - Policy and Enabling Officer 
Mr Keith Tayler – Private Sector Housing Officer 
Mr Steve Ingram – Head of Planning Services 
Mr Richard Probyn – Planning Policy Manager 
Mr I Leatherbarrow – Head of Policy and Strategic Services 
Dr Sue Lammin – Head of Environmental and Community Health Services 
Mr Dan Smith – Community Team Manager 
Mrs Kathy Shaw – External Funding Officer 

3.2 The Working Group based their deliberations on the evidence gathered from 
their investigations. The section below summarises the Working Group’s 
findings.

4. WORKING GROUP FINDINGS 

4.1 The District Council operates a number of capital and revenue grant aid 
initiatives, which are available to a wide range of stakeholders across the 
District. These include small voluntary community groups / organisations right 
through to large organisations who employ their own staff. Additionally, under 
some schemes individuals seeking support and assistance have the 
opportunity to apply for grant aid. 

4.2 Further details of the types of capital and revenue grant aid schemes offered 
by the Council are attached as an Appendix hereto. The Appendix indicates 
the budget for the 2008/09 financial year, the objectives of each scheme, how 
each scheme is funded and the application and approval process. 

4.3 The following sections identify a number of issues that arose in the course of 
the study. 

(a) The Council’s Corporate Priorities 

The Working Group is satisfied that each of the schemes referred to within 
the Appendix has clear links to one or more of the Council’s priorities 
identified in Growing Success.  Members have, therefore, concluded that all 
grant aid schemes contribute towards the achievement of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. 

(b) The Criteria for Each Scheme 

4.4 The Working Group has reviewed all the schemes’ criteria. Members have 
concluded that in general terms, the specified criteria for each of the schemes 
available is clear for the type of grant that is available. The Working Group is, 
therefore, satisfied with the criteria specified for each scheme. 

4.5 In addition, Members of the Working Group have noted the statutory 
obligations placed upon the Council to offer Disabled Facilities Grants / Loans 
to residents within Huntingdonshire.  

54



(c) Methods Adopted to Publicise the Availability of Grant Funding 

4.6 On the whole, the Working Group is satisfied that all grant aid schemes are 
appropriately publicised via a number of means, including:- 

 District Council’s Website 

 Local Press 

 District Wide Publication 

 Council Tax Leaflet 

 Mailings to Town and Parish Councils and Community Groups / 
Organisations 

 General Advice from District Council Officers 

Those identified by the Working Group are listed in Appendix A. Others may 
be in existence and need to be recorded 

4.7 The Working Group has identified a need to generate more awareness on the 
availability of the grants, particularly, amongst Ward Members. It was felt that 
this knowledge would help Members in their role as Ward Councillors. As 
highlighted previously within the report, this may be achieved through the 
designation of a single area on the Council’s website where details of all grant 
schemes are made available. 

4.8 The Working Group has discussed the range of services offered by the 
Voluntary Sector. Whilst not directly related to the Working Group’s studies, a 
consensus amongst the Working Group was that Members are unaware of 
the range of work being undertaken by the Voluntary Sector. As a result a 
suggestion has been made that this information should be circulated to all 
Members. 

(d) The Application Process 

4.9 The Working Group has been advised that three processes exist by which 
funding is allocated to other organisations.  It is by application, commissioning 
or automatically rolled over by the Council. Each of these now is discussed. 

4.10 The Working Group has been provided with details of the recent introduction 
by the Cabinet of Voluntary Sector Commissioning (Minute No. 07/59 refers). 
This dispensed with much of the traditional discretionary grant aid schemes 
(revenue) and replaced them with five year commissioning agreements with 
the following organisations :- 

 Hunts Forum of Voluntary Organisations 

 Hunts Federation of Volunteer Bureaux 

 Huntingdonshire Citizens Advice Bureaux 

 Huntingdon Shopmobility 

 Bedford Pilgrims Housing Association 

A Service Level Agreement between the District Council and each of the 
above currently is in place.  A traditional grant scheme still exists for capital 
projects.

4.11 The Working Group has examined the effects of the decision to terminate 
discretionary revenue grants in the form of the Leisure Grants and Other 

55



Community Grants, which previously were available to the local community. 
While the budget provision still exists, it is now used to commission 
organisations to carry out activities that meet the Council’s objectives via 
service level agreements. Members are of the view that there needs to be 
greater transparency in the way these service level agreements operate.  This 
could be achieved if Members are able to review the returns submitted by the 
organisations covered by the service level agreements.  The Working Group 
is willing to undertake this work as part of its follow up work on this study. 
Members also have registered concern that discretionary revenue funding is 
no longer available to local organisations (including parish councils) operating 
in parishes but they would like to review the position in light of evidence on 
the way the service level agreements have worked. 

4.12 Having regard to the capital grant aid that is available for Local Leisure 
Projects, the Working Group has concluded that the time period of two 
months is not sufficient for applicants to submit their proposals to the District 
Council. A suggestion has, therefore, been made to extend this time period to 
three months. 

4.13 In terms of the grants that are automatically rolled over (with inflation), the 
Working Group has revealed that, for example, applications for new 
transportation schemes are made in writing to the Head of Planning Services, 
who is responsible overall for determining their outcome. These schemes 
have an historical basis and, to date, have not been subject to review. It is 
suggested that the Working Group should extend its work and carry out a 
thorough review of these. The Head of Planning Services has concurred with 
this suggestion in respect of transportation grants, as there is currently no 
formal application process or scoring criteria. The Working Group is of the 
view that these should form parts of any grant scheme. 

4.14 A study on Town Centre Partnerships was completed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel (Service Support) in March 2008. As a result of their 
investigations, the District Council has now entered into a three year funding 
arrangement with each of the Partnerships. Prior to the study, funding 
towards the Partnerships had been agreed on an annual basis. 

(e) Officer / Member Involvement in the Approval Process 

4.15 With the exception of Local Leisure Project Grants, which are determined by 
the relevant Executive Councillors, all other application based schemes are 
predominantly approved by Officers, often after consultation with the relevant 
Executive Councillor. The Working Group has been advised that, dependant 
on the scheme in question, applications are either assessed against selection 
criteria or through a points scoring system. Applicants for housing grants may 
undergo a means tested assessment and / or an Occupational Therapy 
assessment as part of the approval process.  

(f) External Funding 

4.16 In terms of external funding, the Working Group has examined the level of 
funding attracted into the District, which has been achieved through the 
Greater Cambridgeshire Partnership and the District Council’s External 
Funding Officer. Having regard to the former, it has been stressed that the 
funding attracted has been used for a variety of District-wide and County-wide 

56



projects. Recent local examples include funding for the St Neots Creative 
Enterprise Centre and the Saxongate Community Learning Centre. 

4.17 In terms of external funding generated by the External Funding Officer, the 
Working Group has noted the extensive work undertaken with a number of 
community groups and outside organisations to target sources of funding for 
small local leisure based projects. Members are of the view that this work 
should be fully recognised. It has further been noted that responsibility for 
assisting outside groups / organisations currently is divided between the 
District Council’s Service Development and Community Development Teams. 
The Working Group suggests that these areas of activity should be co-
ordinated under a single Head of Service. While Members would wish to 
publicise the Council’s success in obtaining significant levels of funding both 
for the Council and for outside groups / organisations, they are mindful that 
the External Funding Officer is operating at maximum capacity and that such 
an action is likely to create extra demand for her assistance. Moreover, under 
the Financial Strategy, her role in obtaining external income for the Council 
will become increasingly important. The Working Group is conscious of the 
Council’s current financial position and so cannot make a definite 
recommendation on this point but, should future circumstances permit, it 
would be of considerable benefit to the District if the Council could dedicate 
more resources to assisting outside groups / organisations to obtain external 
funding.

4.18 The Working Group has been made aware that there are other opportunities 
to obtain funding to support the Council’s current activities.  Two are referred 
to in the table attached to this report.  Funding is available from the East of 
England Regional Assembly to help the Council meet the cost of its Housing 
Repairs Assistance grants. A separate fund is available from the East of 
England Regional Assembly to contribute towards the cost of setting up and 
refurbishing gypsy and traveller sites in the District. Members are of the view 
that these opportunities should be investigated. 

5. CONCLUSIONS  

5.1 The Working Group has undertaken a thorough review of all grant aid 
schemes operating within the Council and has concluded that overall, the 
process is working well, with some areas requiring further investigation. A 
number of recommendations have been made to improve the current 
processes. The recommendations have been endorsed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel (Service Delivery) and they are set out in the section below. 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is 

RECOMMENDED 

(a) that the availability of all grants be publicised more extensively, 
particularly to all District Councillors (see Para. 4.7);they 
should be listed on a single section of the Council’s website 
and regularly updated 

57



(b) that the Working Group be requested to review the returns 
submitted by organisations covered by service level 
agreements as a way of achieving greater transparency in the 
service level agreement process (para. 4.13); 

(c) External Funding: That work with community groups / 
organisations to obtain funding and community development 
work be co-ordinated under a single Head of Service (para. 
4.17); and that consideration be given to expanding this 
service. 

(d) that consideration be given in the future to providing greater 
assistance for local communities in applying for grant aid for 
local projects (para. 4.18); 

(e) that further investigations be carried out into the availability of 
funding from the East of England Regional Assembly, for 
example, to contribute towards Housing and gypsy and 
traveller sites in the District (para. 4.18); and 

(f) that the Council’s grant schemes be reviewed again in a year’s 
time.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Notes of Meetings of the Grant Aid Working Group 

Report and Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Service 
Delivery) on 4th November 2008. 

Contact Officer: Miss Habbiba Ali, Democratic Services Officer - (01480) 388006

58



D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

  
2

0
0

8
/0

9
B

u
d

g
e
t 

A
c

tu
a
l 

to
 D

a
te

 
O

b
je

c
ti

v
e
s
 /

 T
y
p

e
 

S
ta

tu
s

 /
 F

u
n

d
e
d

 b
y
 

A
p

p
li
c

a
ti

o
n

 
S

e
le

c
ti

o
n

 
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 

S
P

D
is

a
b

le
d

 F
a

c
ili

ti
e
s
 

G
ra

n
ts

/L
o

a
n

s
 

1
,2

8
4

,0
0

0
0

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 -

 t
o

 h
e

lp
 d

is
a

b
le

d
 

p
e

o
p

le
 i
n

 t
h

e
ir
 o

w
n

 h
o

m
e

. 

A
n

n
u

a
l.
  

£
3

3
5

k
 G

o
v
’t
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 (

a
ro

u
n
d
 3

0
%

) 
w

it
h
 t

h
e

 r
e
m

a
in

d
e
r 

fu
n

d
e

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 H

D
C

 
s
o

u
rc

e
s
. 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
b

id
 

s
y
s
te

m
. 

A
ll 

a
p

p
lic

a
n

ts
 a

re
 

m
e

a
n

s
 t

e
s
te

d
 a

n
d

 
re

q
u

ir
e

 a
n

 
O

c
c
u

p
a

ti
o

n
a

l
T

h
e
ra

p
y
 

A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t.

S
e

le
c
ti
o

n
 c

ri
te

ri
a

 
a

n
d

 m
e

a
n

s
 t

e
s
te

d
. 

B
y
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 –
 

H
D

C
’s

 H
o

m
e

 
Im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t

A
g

e
n

c
y
 T

e
a

m
. 

S
P

H
o

u
s
in

g
 R

e
p

a
ir

s
 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

G
ra

n
ts

/L
o

a
n

s
 

2
0

0
,0

0
0

0

N
o

t 
a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.

 
M

a
d

e
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 o
f 

th
e

 D
is

tr
ic

t’
s
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
.

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

. 

F
u

n
d

s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 f

ro
m

 
E

E
R

A
 v

ia
 a

 b
id

 
s
c
h

e
m

e
.

V
ia

 a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 t

o
 

H
D

C
. 

A
n

y
o
n
e
 o

v
e
r 

1
8

, 
in

 s
o

c
ia

l 
o

r 
m

a
rk

e
t 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 

th
a

t 
m

e
e

ts
 t

h
e

 
s
e

le
c
ti
o

n
 c

ri
te

ri
a

. 

S
e

le
c
ti
o

n
 c

ri
te

ri
a

 
a

n
d

 m
e

a
n

s
 t

e
s
te

d
. 

B
y
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 –
 

H
D

C
’s

 H
o

m
e

 
Im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t

A
g

e
n

c
y
 T

e
a

m
. 

S
P

S
o

c
ia

l 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 G

ra
n

t 
1

,8
3

4
,0

0
0

0

N
o

t 
a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.

 
T

h
e

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

h
a

s
 a

n
 

o
b

lig
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 n

e
e

d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t.

 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
s
 t

h
a

t 
h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 a
g

re
e

d
 

in
 t

h
e

 p
a

s
t.

 R
o

lle
d

 
o

v
e

r 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

u
n

ti
l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 h
a

s
 

b
e

e
n

 u
s
e

d
. 

V
a

ri
e

s
 f

ro
m

 
s
c
h

e
m

e
 t

o
 

s
c
h

e
m

e
.

B
y
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 
a

n
d

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

H
o

ld
e

rs
 –

 C
llr

s
 

M
rs

 R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

a
n

d
 R

o
g

e
rs

. 

S
I

R
u

ra
l 
R

e
n

e
w

a
l 
- 

P
u

m
p

 
P

ri
m

in
g

 
2

7
,0

0
0

0
R

a
m

s
e

y
 R

e
n

e
w

a
l 

F
in

is
h

e
d

 t
h

is
 y

e
a

r.
 N

o
w

 
a

d
m

in
is

te
re

d
 b

y
 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

G
ro

u
p

s
. 

S
I

R
a

m
s
e

y
 S

h
o

p
 F

ro
n

ts
 

0
0

2
 y

e
a

r 
p

ro
je

c
t 

w
h

ic
h

 
h

a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e

e
n

 
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
.

V
ia

 a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 t

o
 

H
D

C
.

L
o

c
a

l 
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e

s
 

w
h

o
 w

is
h

 t
o

 
im

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
ir

 s
h

o
p
 

fr
o

n
ts

 i
n

 
a

c
c
o

rd
a

n
c
e

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 C

o
n

s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 

P
o

lic
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 T
o

w
n
 

C
e
n
tr

e
.

H
D

C
’s

C
o

n
s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
T

e
a

m
.

S
L

L
o

c
a

l 
L

e
is

u
re

 P
ro

je
c
t 

G
ra

n
ts

1
6

2
,0

0
0

0

C
a

p
it
a

l 
G

ra
n

t 
to

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

G
ro

u
p

s
 w

h
o

’s
 a

im
 i
s
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

le
is

u
re

 f
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

 

M
a

rc
h

 e
a

c
h

 y
e

a
r 

D
a

n
 S

m
it
h

 
P

o
rt

fo
lio

H
o

ld
e

rs
 –

 C
llr

s
 

M
rs

 R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

a
n

d
 R

o
g

e
rs

 

S
L

S
h

o
p

 M
o

b
ili

ty
 

0
0

T
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 d
is

a
b

le
d

 p
e

rs
o

n
s
  

m
o

b
ili

ty
 

C
a

p
it
a

l
F

in
is

h
e

d

T
O

T
A

L
 

3
,5

0
7

,0
0

0
0

D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
B

u
d

g
e
t 

A
c

tu
a

l 
 

O
b

je
c

ti
v
e
s
 /

 T
y
p

e
 

S
ta

tu
s

 /
 F

u
n

d
e
d

 b
y
 

A
p

p
li
c

a
ti

o
n

 
S

e
le

c
ti

o
n

 
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 

R
E

V
E

N
U

E

S
I

P
la

n
n

in
g

 L
is

te
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g

s
 G

ra
n

ts
 

5
4

,2
4

3
0

S
u

rv
iv

a
l 
o

f 
L

is
te

d
 b

u
ild

in
g

s
 a

t 
ri

s
k
 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

 

R
o

lli
n

g
, 

re
v
ie

w
e

d
 

q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
, 

g
ra

n
ts

 i
n

 
th

e
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

£
5

k
 t

o
 

£
1

0
k

P
o

in
ts

 s
y
s
te

m
, 

a
d

m
in

is
te

re
d

 b
y
 t

h
e

 
C

o
n

s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 T

e
a

m
 

B
y
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 
a
ft
e
r

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
H

o
ld

e
r-

 C
llr

 
B

u
c
k
n

e
ll.

G
ra

n
t 

A
id

  
F

in
a
l 
R

e
p
o

rt
 -

 C
a
b
in

e
t 

V
e
rs

io
n
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
_
Y

9
_
0
5
0
2
.d

o
c
 

7
 

5
/1

2
/2

0
0
9
 

59



S
I

R
a

m
s
e

y
 R

u
ra

l 
R

e
n

e
w

a
l 

0
0

R
a

m
s
e

y
 R

e
n

e
w

a
l 

F
in

is
h

e
d

 t
h

is
 y

e
a

r.
 N

o
w

 
a

d
m

in
is

te
re

d
 b

y
 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

G
ro

u
p

s
. 

S
I

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 
G

ra
n

ts
8

9
,7

0
9

0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

te
s
 t

o
 a

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 t

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 
s
c
h

e
m

e
s
/o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s
.

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

. 

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

S
I

R
u

ra
l 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 G
ra

n
ts

 
0

0
T

o
 a

s
s
is

t 
ru

ra
l 
tr

a
n

s
p

o
rt

 
s
c
h

e
m

e
s
.

N
o

w
 f

in
is

h
e

d
. 

N
o

 l
o

n
g

e
r 

in
 e

x
is

te
n

c
e

. 

S
I

C
a

m
b

s
 A

C
R

E
 

0
0

T
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 R

u
ra

l 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

p
o

s
t.

 
N

o
w

 f
in

is
h

e
d

. 
P

o
s
t 

is
 n

o
 

lo
n

g
e

r 
in

 e
x
is

te
n

c
e

. 

D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
B

u
d

g
e
t 

A
c

tu
a

l 
 

O
b

je
c

ti
v
e
s
 /

 T
y
p

e
 

S
ta

tu
s

 /
 F

u
n

d
e
d

 b
y
 

A
p

p
li
c

a
ti

o
n

 
S

e
le

c
ti

o
n

 
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 

IL

T
o

w
n

 C
e
n
tr

e
 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 G
ra

n
ts

 
7

9
,0

3
2

0
C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 

L
o

c
a

l 
E

c
o

n
o

m
y
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

1
0
0
%

 H
D

C
. 
3
 y

e
a
r 

fu
n

d
in

g
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
to

 
b

e
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

c
e

d
. 

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

IL

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

G
ra

n
ts

4
1

,0
8

1
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

te
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 
H

u
n

ti
n

g
d

o
n

s
h

ir
e

 E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

 
A

g
e

n
c
y
, 

E
a

s
t 

o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 
In

te
rn

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
a

n
d

 G
re

a
te

r 
C

a
m

b
ri

d
g

e
s
h

ir
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

. 
A

n
n

u
a

l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

. 

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

R
W

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 W

a
s
te

 
P

F
I 

T
e

a
m

 
9

,5
8

3
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

 t
o

 
d

e
v
e

lo
p

 a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 w
id

e
 w

a
s
te

 
s
c
h

e
m

e
A

n
n

u
a

l
1

0
0

%
H

D
C

 

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

S
L

C
it
iz

e
n

s
 A

d
v
ic

e
 B

u
re

a
u

 
1

4
5

,5
8

0
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 C

A
B

 t
o

 
m

a
in

ta
in

 t
h

e
 C

A
B

 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

S
L

H
u

n
ts

 F
o

ru
m

 o
f 

V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 O
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
s
 

3
9

,9
8

9
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 H

u
n

ts
 F

o
ru

m
 

T
o

 h
e

lp
 a

ll 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

S
L

H
u

n
ts

 F
e

d
e

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
r 

B
u

re
a

u
 

3
6

,0
5

3
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 H

u
n

ts
 F

e
d

’n
 t

o
 

h
e

lp
 a

ll 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
r 

G
ro

u
p

s
. 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l 
–

 
a

u
to

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 

ro
lle

d
 o

v
e

r.
 

S
L

S
h

o
p

 M
o

b
ili

ty
 

2
0

,9
9

2
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 S

h
o

p
 M

o
b

ili
ty

 
A

n
n

u
a

l 
1

0
0

%
 H

D
C

H
is

to
ri

c
a

l

S
L

O
th

e
r 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

G
ra

n
ts

(S
e
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 p
a

ra
. 

4
.1

2
) 

2
9
,6

7
4

0
N

o
w

 a
m

a
lg

a
m

a
te

d
 w

it
h

 L
e

is
u

re
 

G
ra

n
ts

R
o

lle
d

 u
p

 i
n

to
 t

h
e

 
a

b
o

v
e

 4
 g

ra
n

ts
. 

S
L

L
e

is
u

re
 G

ra
n

ts
 

(S
e
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 p
a

ra
. 

4
.1

2
) 

2
9
,9

9
8

0

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 a

n
d

 c
h

a
ri

ty
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 s
u

c
h

 a
s
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
H

ig
h

, 
M

o
o

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 G

ro
u

p
 &

 
C

a
m

b
ri

d
g

e
s
h

ir
e

 A
C

R
E

. 
 N

o
w

 a
m

a
lg

a
m

a
te

d
 w

it
h

 O
th

e
r 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 G

ra
n

ts
. 

R
o

lle
d

 u
p

 i
n

to
 t

h
e

 
a

b
o

v
e

 4
 g

ra
n

ts
. 

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 

–
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

b
a

s
is

 f
o

r 
5

 y
e

a
rs

. 

C
a

p
it
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 –
 

b
y
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
 

e
v
e
ry

 y
e
a
r.

 

B
y
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

H
e

a
lt
h

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

D
iv

is
io

n
.

T
O

T
A

L
 

5
7

5
,9

3
4

0

G
ra

n
t 

A
id

  
F

in
a
l 
R

e
p
o

rt
 -

 C
a
b
in

e
t 

V
e
rs

io
n
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
_
Y

9
_
0
5
0
2
.d

o
c
 

8
 

5
/1

2
/2

0
0
9
 

60



E
X

T
E

R
N

A
L

 F
U

N
D

IN
G

 S
O

U
R

C
E

S
 

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e

n
t

D
e

s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

S
e

t?
A

c
tu

a
l

A
tt

ra
c
te

d
O

b
je

c
ti
v
e

s
/T

y
p

e
 

S
ta

tu
s
/F

u
n

d
e

d
 B

y
 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
S

e
le

c
ti
o

n
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l

IL
G

re
a

te
r 

C
a

m
b

ri
d

g
e

s
h

ir
e

 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip

(S
e
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 p
a

ra
. 

4
.1

8
) 

N
o

B
u

d
g

e
t

S
e

t

S
in

c
e

 t
h

e
 

P
’s

h
ip

’s
 

e
x
is

te
n

c
e

£
2

,5
3

2
m

T
h

e
 G

C
P

 i
s
 t

h
e

 s
u

b
-r

e
g

io
n

a
l 

e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 c
o

v
e

ri
n

g
 

a
 2

5
-m

ile
 r

a
d

iu
s
 a

ro
u

n
d

 
C

a
m

b
ri

d
g

e
. 

E
n

a
b

le
s
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 t

o
 

fu
n

d
in

g
 s

tr
e

a
m

s
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

c
il 

w
o

u
ld

 o
th

e
rw

is
e

 n
o

t 
h

a
v
e

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 t

o
. 
F

u
n

d
in

g
 u

s
e

d
 

fo
r 

a
 v

a
ri
e

ty
 o

f 
b

o
th

 D
is

tr
ic

t-
w

id
e

 a
n

d
 C

o
u

n
ty

-w
id

e
 p

ro
je

c
ts

. 

T
h

e
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 

e
x
te

rn
a

l 
g
ra

n
t 

fu
n
d

e
r.

 
V

ia
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
 –

 
jo

in
t 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 

w
it
h

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

p
a

rt
ie

s
.

S
e

le
c
ti
o

n
 c

ri
te

ri
a

 –
 

v
a

ri
e

s
 f

ro
m

 p
ro

je
c
t 

to
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 

B
y
 t

h
e

 
re

le
v
a

n
t 

g
ra

n
t 

fu
n
d
e
r.

IL
E

x
te

rn
a

l 
F

u
n

d
in

g
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(S
e
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 p
a

ra
. 

4
.1

8
) 

N
o

B
u

d
g

e
t

S
e

t

O
v
e
r 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

y
e
a
r 

£
3
.5

m
 

T
o

 a
s
s
is

t 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 g

ro
u

p
s
 

a
n

d
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
s
 w

it
h

 
h

e
lp

 i
n

 a
tt

ra
c
ti
n

g
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 i
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t.

 
P

re
d

o
m

in
a

n
tl
y
 u

s
e

d
 f

o
r 

lo
c
a

l 
p

ro
je

c
ts

. 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 o
ft

e
n

 u
s
e

d
 

in
te

rn
a

lly
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
.

T
h

e
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 

e
x
te

rn
a

l 
g
ra

n
t 

fu
n
d

e
r.

 
V

ia
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
 –

 
jo

in
t 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 

w
it
h

 r
e

le
v
a

n
t 

p
a

rt
ie

s
.

S
e

le
c
ti
o

n
 c

ri
te

ri
a

 –
 

v
a

ri
e

s
 f

ro
m

 p
ro

je
c
t 

to
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 

B
y
 t

h
e

 
re

le
v
a

n
t 

g
ra

n
t 

fu
n
d
e
r.

S
P

R
e

g
io

n
a

l 
A

s
s
e

m
b

ly
 f

u
n

d
 t

o
 

a
s
s
is

t 
c
o

u
n

c
ils

 t
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

g
y
p

s
y
 a

n
d

 
tr

a
v
e

le
r 

s
it
e

s
. 

(S
e
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

 p
a

ra
. 

4
.1

9
) 

£
9
m

 g
ra

n
t 

m
o
n
e

y
 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 v

ia
 a

 b
id

 
s
y
s
te

m
. 

R
W

 
R

o
b

e
rt

 W
a

rd
 

IL
 

Ia
n
 L

e
a
th

e
rb

a
rr

o
w

 
S

P
 

S
te

v
e

 P
la

n
t 

S
I 

S
te

v
e

 I
n

g
ra

m
 

G
ra

n
t 

A
id

  
F

in
a
l 
R

e
p
o

rt
 -

 C
a
b
in

e
t 

V
e
rs

io
n
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
_
Y

9
_
0
5
0
2
.d

o
c
 

9
 

5
/1

2
/2

0
0
9
 

61



62

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

     
CABINET          18th June 2009 
              
 
 

CORPORATE EQUALITY POLICY – Progress 
(Report by the Head of People, Performance and Partnerships) 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet of progress with 

the council’s Corporate Equality Policy (CEP) Action Plan.  
  
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The CEP sets out the Council’s aim and objectives for equality and 

the accompanying action plan sets out the corporate and directorate 
actions and targets. It is supported by three equality schemes (Race, 
Disability and Gender). The action plan combines activities which are 
compatible with the Councils achievement of Level 2 of the Equality 
Standard for Local Government (the Equality Standard) and the 
statutory requirements contained within the three equality schemes.  

 
2.2 The CEP and action plan shows how the Council will translate its 

statutory responsibilities into objectives and actions and in particular 
takes account of: 

• Equalities legislation relating to race, disability and gender 

• The achievement against the Equality Standard 
 

2.3 In working towards achieving Level 3 of the Equality Standard, the 
Council is in a process of assessing the impact of all services in terms 
of the needs of service users. A three year timetable was adopted 
with those services with a more ‘public facing’ role placed in years 1 
and 2. Equality Impact Assessments are a statutory requirement and 
they are the primary method by which the Council can assess 
whether it is providing equal access to services in terms race, 
disability and gender. Many of the equality impact assessments have 
also considered other issues such as sexuality, religious belief and 
age.   

 
3. Equality Framework for Local Government  

 
3.1  The Equality Framework for Local Government was introduced in 

April 2009 to replace the Equality Standard for Local government. 
The new Framework has fewer indicators and an emphasis on self 
assessment and peer challenge. It relates better to the performance 
framework for local government and uses a broader definition of 
equality. 

 
3.2         The Framework will consist of 3 levels; ‘Developing’, ‘Achieving’ and 

‘Excellent’ (the Equality Standard had 5); all councils at Level 3 of the 
Standard will automatically transfer over to the Achieving level within 
the new Framework.  

 

Agenda Item 8

63



 

3.3   The Council will be undergoing an external assessment for validation 
of achievement against Level 3 of the Equality Standard in July. If 
councils can achieve Level 3 before September 2009 they 
automatically transfer over to the Achieving level within the new 
Framework. If we can do this it will demonstrate considerable 
achievement made by the Council and it will reduce the burden of 
additional assessment in the future. 

 
 
4. PROGRESS 
  
4.1 The Corporate Equality Policy identified two outcomes and two  
 measures that will tell us how successful we have been in terms of 
 understanding the diverse needs of local people, that our services 
 meet those needs and that they are provided in a fair and accessible 
 way.  These outcomes and measures are: 
  

Outcome Measure 2006/07 Target 
(2007/8) 

Actual 
2007/08 

Target 
for 
2008/09 

That our 
services are 
provided in 
ways that 
meet diverse 
local needs 

% of local 
people who 
believe that 
Council 
services 
meet their 
needs 

* baseline 
not 
available 

*75% 84% 85 % 

That the 
Council is 
recognised 
for promoting 
equality and 
inclusion in 
communities 

% of local 
people who 
believe that 
the Council 
promotes 
equality and 
inclusion in 
their 
community 

64% 70% 83% 85% 

 
4.2 Residents’ perception of how well we are doing in this area are 

usually measured through an annual survey. However in 2008/09 the 
Council was required to carry out a Place Survey and it was decided 
not to carry out a separate survey on the grounds of additional cost 
and potential duplication.  

 
4.3 There were two questions within the Place Survey, included in the 

table below. We need to consider how to measure progress in the 
future; we will amend the corporate equality policy to reflect any 
changes. 

 

2008/09 Place Survey  Actual  

To what extent do you agree or disagree that your local 
area is a place where people from different backgrounds 
get on well together 

79.4%  
(77% in 06/07  

In the last year would you say that you have been treated 
with respect and consideration by your local public 
services 

78.9%  
 

  
4.4 The appended progress report covers: 

64



 

Ø the achievement made against the actions and targets set in 
March 2008 (appendix 1) 

Ø an action plan for 2009/10 (appendix 2) 
Ø results from equality impact assessments conducted over 

the last 12 months (appendix 3) 
Ø revised timetable for equality impact assessments during 

2009/10 (appendix 4) 
 

4.5 The Corporate Equality Policy Action Plan for 2008/09 contained 26 
actions, of   which         

Ø 15 have been fully completed 
Ø 11 are on-going 
 

4.6 Twenty seven individual services were selected to undertake equality 
 impact assessments (EIA’s)  during 2008/09. 17 services completed 
 all of their EIA’s; 4 services completed some of their EIA’s and 6 
 services didn’t complete any of their EIA’s. Those not completed on 
 time have been re-scheduled for  completion  during 2009/10. A 
 list of outcomes/actions arising out  of completed equality impact 
 assessments is contained in Appendix 3. A revised timetable for 
 equality impact assessments during 2009/10 is set out in  Appendix 4. 
 
4.7 The Corporate Equality Steering Group (comprising officers from all 
 three directorates plus an employee representative) is responsible for 
 overseeing progress with the equality standard and equality impact 
 assessments. Actions that come out of equality impact 
 assessments will be delivered through individual services  however, 
the steering group takes an overview and co-ordinates  activity to ensure 
there is no duplication of work.  
  
4.8 An initial equality impact assessment establishes how the policy or 
 service meets different needs and also examines  whether there are 
 any obvious barriers and if any improvements can be made. All of the 
 assessments conducted over the last 12 months  needed only an 
 initial assessment; a full assessment is required if areas of 
 concern are identified.  
  
4.9   The Council has a statutory responsibility to report findings from   

 progress made with the equality schemes, as set out in Appendix 1.  
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1   The Council has a revenue budget of £11.400 to meet the direct cost  
 of the corporate equality policy – mainly training and assessment. In 
 response to financial pressures this budget was reduced by 10% last 
 year; otherwise costs involved are – the time taken to review and 
 make changes to services/policies in response to assessment of 
 residents needs. This also helps to achieve our statutory 
 responsibilities. The assessments undertaken have not results in any 
 significant expenditure and the Council is making a proportionate but 
 effective response to statutory and business requirements.  
 
 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
6.1         Cabinet is asked: 

65



 

Ø to note progress made with the corporate equality policy 
action plan (Appendix 1) 

Ø endorse the new corporate equality action plan (Appendix 2) 
Ø to note the findings from equality impact assessments 

conducted during 2007/08 (Appendix 3) 
Ø endorse the revised equality impact assessment timetable 

set out in Appendix 4. 
 
 
Background Papers 
Corporate Equality Policy 
 
Contact Officers:  Corrine Garbett Head of People, Performance & 

Partnerships   
   (01480 388459 
    
   Louise Sboui, Senior Policy Officer   
   ( 01480 388032 
   louise.sboui@huntsdc.gov.uk 

66



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 P
o
li
c
y
 -
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
E
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
o
 d
a
te
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
lin
k
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

•
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
D
R
’s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
  

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
E
IA
’s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m
e
t 

w
it
h
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

S
o
 f
a
r 
a
ll 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 m
e
t 

th
ro
u
g
h
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

K
e
e
p
 R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
o
 a
lig
n
 w
it
h
 r
o
ll 
o
u
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

L
in
k
. 
E
n
s
u
re
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
d
o
p
te
d
 b
y
 s
u
m
m
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

E
IA
 o
f 
R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
 

E
x
a
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
 (
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
) 
d
a
ta
. 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
s
 b
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
 f
o
r 
: 

•
 
A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
r 
s
u
ff
e
r 
d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
d
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 l
e
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
  

H
R
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 b
y
 M
a
y
 

2
0
0
9
  
 

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
la
b
o
u
r 

m
a
rk
e
t 
(L
L
M
A
) 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 H
R
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

67



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

C
o
m
p
le
te
 E
IA
 o
f 
R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

E
IA
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
9
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
to
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 d
a
ta
, 
m
o
re
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
 

te
rm

s
 o
f:
 

•
 
P
a
y
 g
a
p
 

•
 
Im

p
o
rt
e
d
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 
fe
m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 h
ig
h
 g
ra
d
e
s
 

•
 
m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 p
o
s
it
io
n
s
 g
ra
d
e
d
 8
-1
3
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
, 
w
ill
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
it
h
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

E
n
s
u
re
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
, 
e
q
u
a
l 
p
a
y
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
re
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
R
 p
o
lic
ie
s
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
, 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
3
 y
e
a
r 

ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
R
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

R
a
is
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
/m
o
n
it
o
r/
e
v
a
lu
a
te
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 l
if
e
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 b
o
th
 m

a
le
 a
n
d
 f
e
m
a
le
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

E
IA
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 l
if
e
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
) 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
y
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
fe
e
l 
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
d
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
W
o
rk
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 

F
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ta
c
t)
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
x
p
lo
re
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 w
h
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

P
a
rt
ia
l 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 

th
e
re
 a
re
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 

th
e
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

E
n
s
u
re
 a
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 

o
b
ta
in
in
g
 a
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
a
m
p
le
 f
ro
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

N
e
x
t 
s
u
rv
e
y
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
: 

•
 
A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 (
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
) 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
 (
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
) 

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
in
g
le
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 (
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
) 

 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

 

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 f
u
lly
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 

68



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 E
IA
 o
f:
 

•
 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

•
 
D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
W
o
rk
 P
o
lic
y
  

•
 
G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 D
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 P
o
lic
y
  

•
 
O
p
e
n
 O
u
t 
 

 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
E
IA
 o
f 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

  M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

P
a
rt
ia
l 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
  

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 r
a
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 c
h
ie
f 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 &
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

P
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
ra
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fi
n
d
in
g
s
 f
ro
m
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
  

A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
la
c
e
d
 b
y
 w
o
rk
 

o
n
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 f
o
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

fo
r 
P
la
c
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
 

F
in
d
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 

fo
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
t 
le
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 –
 s
e
e
 E
IA
 o
f 

L
e
is
u
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
C
a
re
 P
o
lic
y
. 

A
ls
o
: 

•
 
R
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
 a
t 
S
t 

N
e
o
ts
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 (
lo
w
e
r 
d
e
s
k
s
)  

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

69



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
4
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

•
 
F
it
n
e
s
s
 c
la
s
s
e
s
 a
im
e
d
 

a
t 
le
s
s
 m
o
b
ile
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
  

G
re
a
te
r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 I
C
T
 f
o
r 
d
is
s
e
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
. 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
h
o
w
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 o
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 I
n
tr
a
n
e
t/
In
te
rn
e
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

 
C
o
m
p
le
te
  

L
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

•
 
C
o
m
m
it
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 g
ro
u
p
s
/i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 a
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 

  A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

 N
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
s
e
lf
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 P
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

If
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 i
n
 

S
u
m
m
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 t
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
p
la
c
e
d
 w
it
h
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

n
e
w
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

fo
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
ta
il 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

    

70



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
1
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 P
o
li
c
y
 -
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
  
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
E
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
o
 d
a
te
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
lin
k
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

•
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
D
R
’s
 

H
R
 a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

E
x
a
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
 (
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
) 
d
a
ta
. 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
s
 b
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
 f
o
r 
: 

•
 
A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
r 
s
u
ff
e
r 
d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
d
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 l
e
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
  

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
to
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 d
a
ta
, 
m
o
re
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
 

te
rm
s
 o
f:
 

•
 
P
a
y
 g
a
p
 

•
 
fe
m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 h
ig
h
 g
ra
d
e
s
 

•
 
m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 p
o
s
it
io
n
s
 g
ra
d
e
d
 8
-1
3
 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
la
b
o
u
r 

m
a
rk
e
t 
(L
L
M
A
) 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

C
o
m
p
le
te
 E
IA
 o
f 
R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 E
IA
 o
f 
D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
W
o
rk
 P
o
lic
y
  

H
R
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
x
p
lo
re
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 w
h
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

E
n
s
u
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 o
b
ta
in
in
g
 a
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
a
m
p
le
 f
ro
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

P
o
lic
y
  

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
  

71



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
2
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
  
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
: 

•
 
A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
  

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
  

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
in
g
le
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 (
w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 

e
th
n
ic
it
y
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 r
e
lig
io
u
s
 b
e
lie
f 
a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
) 

 P
o
lic
y
  

 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
  

P
o
lic
y
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

P
o
lic
y
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 r
a
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 c
h
ie
f 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 &
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

P
o
lic
y
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 r
a
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
  

P
o
lic
y
  

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
0
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

P
o
lic
y
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
0
 

F
in
d
in
g
s
 f
ro
m
 P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 f
o
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
  
 

P
o
lic
y
  

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
0
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 i
n
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
  

g
ro
u
p
s
/i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 

P
o
lic
y
  

   

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 L
iv
in
g
 &
 W
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 b
o
o
k
le
t 
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
it
it
a
ti
v
e
s
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
 

P
o
lic
y
  

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
0
 

  

72



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
 

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 –
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
is
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
p
o
li
c
y
 o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 
A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

A
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
  

A
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 

c
a
rs
 p
a
rk
e
d
 o
n
 g
ra
s
s
 v
e
rg
e
s
 e
tc
  

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
ti
c
k
e
rs
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 f
o
r 
s
a
le
 a
n
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 p
a
rk
e
d
 o
n
 g
ra
s
s
 v
e
rg
e
s
 –
 i
f 
y
o
u
 

n
e
e
d
 a
 t
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
is
 n
o
ti
c
e
 p
le
a
s
e
 c
a
ll 
0
1
4
8
0
 3
8
8
3
8
8
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

B
a
ili
ff
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

W
h
ils
t 
n
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 w
e
re
 r
a
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
c
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 a
 

d
if
fe
re
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
n
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
 (
o
r 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
) 
a
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 c
o
m
p
lie
s
 w
it
h
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 H
D
C
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
. 
 

T
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
ill
: 

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 c
h
e
c
k
 a
ll 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fo
rm
s
 u
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 b
a
ili
ff
 

c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t,
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 H
D
C
 

p
o
lic
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 u
p
h
e
ld
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 

e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
. 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 b
a
ili
ff
s
 t
o
 r
e
fe
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il,
 

a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
, 
w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 p
e
rs
o
n
, 

o
r 
a
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
w
h
o
 m
a
y
 b
e
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t,
 e
x
e
m
p
ti
o
n
, 
o
r 

d
is
c
o
u
n
t 

•
 
A
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
la
rg
e
 f
o
rm
a
t 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
ll 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
. 

•
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
n
t 
o
n
 a
 s
ix
 m
o
n
th
ly
 b
a
s
is
 t
o
 a
 

ra
n
d
o
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 p
a
s
s
e
d
 t
o
 b
a
ili
ff
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
r 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
y
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 

    O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

   O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

   M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

 S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
0
 

B
u
ild
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
  

73



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
2
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
a
tt
e
rs
 o
n
 

th
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
r 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 P
D
P
’s
. 

  S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
  

 

C
a
ra
v
a
n
 a
n
d
 c
a
m
p
in
g
  

O
v
e
ra
ll 
th
is
 i
n
it
ia
l 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
h
o
w
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
a
re
 

in
c
lu
s
iv
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 a
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 f
o
r 
th
is
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
 

 

C
h
a
rt
e
re
d
 m
a
rk
e
ts
 

•
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
t 
tr
a
d
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
d
d
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

d
a
ta
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm
 

•
 
D
ra
w
 u
p
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 m
a
rk
e
t 
g
u
id
e
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

(C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
) 
 

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 f
o
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 a
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 f
o
rm
 w
h
e
n
 s
e
n
d
in
g
 o
u
t 

fo
rm
a
l 
c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 
E
n
s
u
re
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 b
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
ll 
6
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 n
e
w
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 i
n
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 e
.g
. 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 t
h
a
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 t
h
o
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 

h
a
v
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
p
u
te
r 
re
c
o
rd
in
g
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 f
o
rm
s
 a
re
 i
n
 P
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
fo
rm
a
ts
 e
.g
. 
la
rg
e
 p
ri
n
t 
e
tc
. 

•
 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 p
u
b
lic
is
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
. 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 d
a
ta
 i
s
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 a
re
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 D
M
T
s
. 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 o
n
 

S
u
m
m
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

  M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

  D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

 

74



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
3
 

a
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
. 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 l
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 s
y
s
te
m
 a
n
d
 O
p
e
n
 o
u
t 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

T
o
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
n
y
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 
h
a
v
e
 
b
e
e
n
 
tr
e
a
te
d
 
u
n
fa
ir
ly
 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
: 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
y
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

tr
e
a
te
d
 u
n
fa
ir
ly
 a
n
d
 s
h
a
re
 t
h
e
s
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
. 
 I
f 

a
n
y
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
h
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
o
n
e
 

v
ia
 t
h
e
 s
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
. 

•
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

re
g
a
rd
in
g
 i
f 
y
o
u
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 t
h
is
 i
n
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
fo
rm
a
t.
 

•
 
O
n
g
o
in
g
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
, 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

is
s
u
e
s
: 

•
 
D
e
te
rm
in
e
 i
f 
th
e
re
 i
s
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
a
f,
 h
a
rd
 o
f 

h
e
a
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 v
is
u
a
lly
 i
m
p
a
ir
e
d
. 
 A
ls
o
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 m
o
b
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

&
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
. 

•
 
U
s
in
g
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 
d
a
ta
, 
c
ro
s
s
 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 
e
th
n
ic
it
y
, 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
(w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
) 
w
it
h
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
: 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 o
n
-l
in
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
. 

•
 
T
ra
in
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 r
a
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 i
n
 d
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 a
ll 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

•
 
A
ll 
n
e
w
 
s
ta
rt
e
rs
 
to
 
a
tt
e
n
d
 
th
e
 
½
 
d
a
y
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 
&
 
D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

c
o
u
rs
e
. 
  

•
 
A
ll 
s
ta
ff
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 o
n
-l
in
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 &
 D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

a
n
n
u
a
lly
. 

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

   A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

   D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

   M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 (
o
n
c
e
 

s
e
t 
u
p
) 

75



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
4
 

•
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
o
n
 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
fo
r 
tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 

m
a
te
ri
a
ls
. 

E
n
s
u
re
 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 
lit
e
ra
tu
re
 
a
n
d
 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 
is
 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
fo
r 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
: 

•
 
H
ig
h
lig
h
t 
s
ig
n
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
ig
n
a
g
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
. 
 E
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 t
a
rg
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

b
lin
d
 o
r 
p
a
rt
ia
lly
 s
ig
h
te
d
. 
 U
s
e
 t
h
is
 t
o
 r
o
le
 o
u
t 
th
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
 
a
n
d
 
S
t 
N
e
o
ts
. 
 
E
n
s
u
re
 
th
e
 
n
e
w
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
re
 D
D
A
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
t.
 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
e
b
 p
a
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
is
 f
u
lly
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
t 
to
 

e
n
a
b
le
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 

•
 
D
is
p
la
y
 
c
le
a
r 
s
ig
n
a
g
e
 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 
to
 
a
s
k
 
fo
r 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 i
f 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
: 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
e
a
m
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

u
s
in
g
 g
a
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
. 
  

•
 
R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 
fo
r 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 
to
 
a
tt
e
n
d
 

re
g
u
la
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 
 M
ic
h
e
lle
 t
o
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 u
p
d
a
te
s
. 

•
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
to
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
, 
a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 
a
n
d
 
a
c
ti
o
n
 
th
e
ir
 
o
w
n
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
. 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

   J
u
ly
 2
0
1
0
 

    J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

  J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

  D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
F
u
n
d
in
g
  

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 b
y
 H
D
C
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
b
e
n
e
fi
c
ia
ri
e
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 6
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
tr
a
n
d
s
 -
 R
e
v
ie
w
 a
ll 
fu
n
d
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
fo
re
 

s
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 l
o
c
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 H
D
C
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
 g
iv
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 6
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

s
tr
a
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
n
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 -
 T
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 b
y
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
y
 E
x
te
rn
a
l 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

   Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 f
ro
m
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

76



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
5
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 E
x
te
rn
a
l 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

G
ro
w
in
g
 S
u
c
c
e
s
s
  

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 f
u
tu
re
 r
e
v
is
io
n
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 p
la
n
 i
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
o
rm
a
ts
 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 

•
 
P
ro
d
u
c
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
  

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 &
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

In
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 m
ix
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 

p
ro
fi
lin
g
 -
 c
o
m
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 a
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 d
a
ta
 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 s
e
t 
u
p
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 w
it
h
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

fo
r 
re
g
u
la
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
te
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 E
IA
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
. 

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
e
d
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 -
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 r
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
a
m
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

    M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 &
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

T
a
k
e
 U
p
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
u
r 
c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 ‘
m
a
k
e
 u
p
’ 
o
f 
th
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
- 

c
o
m
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 d
a
ta
 w
e
 h
o
ld
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
  

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 s
e
t 
u
p
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 w
it
h
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

fo
r 
re
g
u
la
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
te
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 E
IA
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
. 
  

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 n
o
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
re
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 o
n
 g
ro
u
n
d
s
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
/a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 -
 u
s
e
 M
o
s
a
ic
 

d
a
ta
s
e
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

a
n
d
 h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 m
o
s
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
e
d
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 -
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 r
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

    S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

    M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

77



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
6
 

a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
a
m
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
p
p
e
a
ls
 

•
 
M
a
k
e
 s
u
re
 a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

/ 
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 /
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 i
f 
B
M
E
’s
 f
e
e
l 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
te
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

•
 
In
v
it
e
 o
th
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
is
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

 

B
y
 2
0
1
0
 

  F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

 S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
  

P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

is
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 f
o
n
t 
s
iz
e
 a
n
d
 s
ty
le
 o
f 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 p
re
s
s
 

n
o
ti
c
e
s
  

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
m
e
n
d
in
g
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
/n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
tt
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
it
e
/p
re
s
s
 n
o
ti
c
e
s
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 i
n
 o
th
e
r 
fo
rm
a
ts
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 i
f 
a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
e
 o
r 
th
ir
d
 p
a
rt
y
 s
u
rv
e
y
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 i
f 
th
e
y
 a
re
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
th
a
t 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

a
v
o
id
e
d
 a
n
d
/o
r 
in
c
lu
d
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 n
e
x
t 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 b
y
 r
a
c
e
/a
g
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
if
 a
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 L
P
A
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
n
d
 w
e
ig
h
e
d
 u
p
 

in
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

B
y
 2
0
1
0
 

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

   F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 E
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

•
 
M
a
k
e
 s
u
re
 a
ll 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 /
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 /
 

tr
a
in
in
g
. 
 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 i
f 
B
M
E
’s
 f
e
e
l 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
te
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

•
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 f
ro
m
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 i
f 
ju
d
g
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 ‘
h
a
rm
 s
c
o
re
’.
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

  F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

 

78



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
7
 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 i
f 
th
e
 ‘
h
a
rm
 s
c
o
re
’ 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 p
u
b
lic
. 

•
 
In
v
it
e
 o
th
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
is
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

B
y
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
  

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 /
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

is
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 /
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

•
 
U
p
d
a
te
 S
C
I 
 

 •
 
E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 G
y
p
s
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
r 
S
it
e
s
 D
P
D
 

a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 r
a
c
e
. 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 

•
 
B
e
tt
e
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 p
la
n
-m
a
k
in
g
 

•
 
B
e
tt
e
r 
u
s
e
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
A
ll 
re
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 m
e
th
o
d
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

•
 
In
v
it
e
 o
th
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
is
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

B
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

 P
re
p
a
re
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 b
y
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 o
v
e
r 
ti
m
e
fr
a
m
e
 

fo
r 
th
is
 w
o
rk
  

D
e
c
is
io
n
 b
y
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
0
  

P
re
lim
in
a
ry
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 a
b
o
u
t 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(P
E
N
Q
) 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

is
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
if
 a
ll 
p
re
lim
in
a
ry
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 o
u
g
h
t 
to
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
 k
e
e
p
in
g
 o
n
 p
re
lim
in
a
ry
 a
d
v
ic
e
 g
iv
e
n
 i
n
 p
h
o
n
e
 

c
a
lls
, 
e
m
a
ils
 a
n
d
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 s
o
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 o
n
e
 t
e
a
m
 c
a
n
 

tr
a
c
e
 a
n
o
th
e
r’
s
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
. 

•
 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 b
e
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 u
s
e
 c
le
a
r,
 j
a
rg
o
n
-f
re
e
 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
. 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
m
e
n
d
in
g
 s
o
m
e
 f
o
rm
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
rr
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
I 
 

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
o
rm
a
ts
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
if
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
C
o
n
tr
o
l’s
 P
E
N
Q
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

p
ro
m
o
te
d
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
to
 t
h
ir
d
 p
a
rt
ie
s
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 i
f 
a
n
 e
n
q
u
ir
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 i
f 
e
n
q
u
ir
e
rs
 

a
re
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
th
a
t 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
v
o
id
e
d
 

B
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

  

79



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
8
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
if
 a
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 L
P
A
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
n
d
 w
e
ig
h
e
d
 u
p
 

in
 a
d
v
ic
e
 o
n
 p
re
lim
in
a
ry
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
. 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 

•
 
W
h
e
n
e
v
e
r 
te
n
a
n
t 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t,
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

•
 
A
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
v
a
c
a
ti
o
n
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

a
ls
o
 i
n
v
it
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

•
 
P
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 u
p
d
a
te
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

in
 p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

•
 
A
d
v
e
rt
is
e
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 

•
 
In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 l
e
a
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
s
im
p
lif
y
in
g
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

•
 
W
h
e
n
e
v
e
r 
a
n
y
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
re
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 o
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
b
y
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
, 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
D
D
A
 

is
s
u
e
s
 a
re
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
  

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
F
ra
u
d
 P
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 P
o
lic
y
 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 

th
e
s
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 m
ix
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 p
ro
fi
lin
g
. 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
e
d
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

 

H
o
m
e
 e
n
e
rg
y
  

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 l
o
g
g
e
d
 o
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
s
y
 I
n
te
rr
o
g
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 
T
o
 c
o
m
p
a
re
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 g
a
th
e
re
d
 w
it
h
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
s
 

o
f 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
h
e
c
k
 f
o
r 
d
is
c
re
p
a
n
c
ie
s
 

•
 
B
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
n
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 w
h
ic
h
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 

a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

 2
0
0
9
  

 2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

  2
0
0
9
  

80



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
9
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 
M
o
n
it
o
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 %
 o
f 
re
tu
rn
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
t 
o
n
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
u
b
lic
it
y
 m
e
d
ia
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
y
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 m
o
re
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

 2
0
0
9
  

2
0
0
9
  

 2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
  

F
le
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
  

•
 
In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 r
a
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
n
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 w
e
e
k
 o
r 
le
a
fl
e
ts
, 

u
p
d
a
te
s
 i
n
 h
a
n
d
b
o
o
k
s
, 
s
ta
ff
 m
a
g
a
z
in
e
s
 e
tc
. 
A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
lin
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
. 

•
 
P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
fo
rm
s
 o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 e
.g
. 
te
rm
 t
im
e
 o
r 

c
o
m
p
re
s
s
e
d
 h
o
u
rs
, 
jo
b
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 h
o
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 e
tc
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
e
rm
 t
im
e
/c
o
m
p
re
s
s
e
d
 h
o
u
s
e
 i
n
to
 

th
e
 f
le
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 h
o
u
rs
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
. 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 f
o
rm
a
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 
m
e
a
s
u
ri
n
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
a
n
d
 u
p
ta
k
e
 o
f 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 e
.g
. 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 e
.g
. 

h
o
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
, 
p
a
rt
 t
im
e
, 
jo
b
 s
h
a
re
, 
te
rm
 t
im
e
 o
r 
c
o
m
p
re
s
s
e
d
 

h
o
u
rs
. 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 a
s
 m
a
n
y
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
ta
ff
 s
u
rv
e
y
, 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
a
lid
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
le
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
. 

•
 
E
m
p
h
a
s
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
h
a
t 
fl
e
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

p
re
s
e
n
ts
 t
o
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 t
o
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 h
o
w
 i
t 

p
ro
m
o
te
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
, 
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 h
u
m
a
n
 r
ig
h
ts
. 

T
h
ro
u
g
h
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

–
 f
ro
m
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

 O
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 

    M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

    M
a
y
/J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

  T
h
ro
u
g
h
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

–
 f
ro
m
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

•
 
G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
G
e
n
d
e
r 
/ 
R
a
c
e
 /
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 f
ro
m
 1
s
t  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

•
 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 k
e
p
t 
in
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
th
e
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
s
 

b
e
in
g
 r
a
is
e
d
 /
 w
h
a
t 
a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
?
 /
 a
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

 

81



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
0
 

p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
?
 

•
 
L
o
o
k
 a
t 
re
a
s
o
n
s
 o
n
 E
x
it
 Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 t
o
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
le
a
v
e
rs
 w
h
o
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 h
a
d
 a
 g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
p
la
c
e
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
o
lic
y
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 /
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
 w
it
h
 E
L
A
G
 /
 U
n
is
o
n
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 (
w
h
a
t 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
?
) 

•
 
C
la
ri
fy
 w
h
a
t 
s
ta
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 i
s
 c
la
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 –
 i
n
it
ia
l 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r?
 H
o
w
 i
s
 t
h
is
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
/h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 t
o
 H
R
 

•
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
re
 f
u
lly
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
  

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
o
lic
y
 f
o
rm
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 d
ir
e
c
to
ry
 

h
a
n
d
b
o
o
k
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
. 

 A
s
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
  

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 O
c
to
b
e
r/
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

re
v
ie
w
s
 

•
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 –
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

is
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

c
o
u
ld
 f
a
c
e
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 P
D
R
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 

•
 
P
D
R
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 b
e
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 f
a
ir
 a
n
d
 

e
q
u
it
a
b
le
. 

•
 
H
R
 t
o
 c
o
lle
c
t 
s
ta
ts
 o
n
 h
o
w
 m
a
n
y
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
 P
D
R
 /
 

h
o
w
 m
a
n
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
e
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
?
 

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 b
y
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
, 
p
a
y
 s
c
a
le
, 
e
th
n
ic
it
y
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
  

g
e
n
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
g
e
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 f
u
ll-
ti
m
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
-t
im
e
 s
ta
ff
. 

 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
s
 

p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 s
c
o
re
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

  A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
  

R
e
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 p
o
lic
y
  

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
s
k
ill
s
 r
a
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 a
g
e
 a
n
d
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 w
h
e
n
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
. 
 

  •
 
M
o
n
it
o
r 
re
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
e
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
tr
a
n
d
s
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 w
h
o
 m
a
y
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 

A
s
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 

re
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
ri
s
e
 

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

 

82



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
1
 

h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
  

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
C
o
lle
c
t 
d
a
ta
 v
ia
 e
x
it
 i
n
te
rv
ie
w
s
 o
n
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 a
n
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

  

•
 
M
a
k
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
re
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
e
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
s
ta
ff
. 
 

•
 
M
a
k
e
 c
le
a
r 
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
o
rd
in
g
 w
h
o
 i
t 
a
p
p
lie
s
 t
o
 (
i.
e
. 
n
o
t 

a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
 e
tc
 

•
 
N
e
e
d
s
 U
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 /
 R
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 

 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

O
n
 a
 w
e
e
k
ly
 b
a
s
is
 a
s
 

E
x
it
 Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 a
re
 

re
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
R
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
  

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 p
a
y
  

•
 
R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 a
t 
H
D
C
 b
y
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
p
a
id
 i
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 p
a
y
, 
to
 m
e
n
 a
n
d
 w
o
m
e
n
, 

b
y
 r
a
c
e
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 e
tc
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.
 E
x
a
m
in
e
 e
a
c
h
 g
ra
d
e
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 p
a
y
 w
it
h
in
 e
a
c
h
 g
ra
d
e
. 

•
 
F
in
d
 o
u
t 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
y
s
te
m
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 

th
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
th
e
y
 a
re
 p
a
id
 i
s
 a
rr
iv
e
d
 a
t 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 P
D
R
. 

•
 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 n
e
e
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
y
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 b
ia
s
. 
W
h
e
re
 h
ig
h
 s
c
o
re
s
 a
re
 

g
iv
e
n
 a
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
g
re
e
 t
h
e
re
b
y
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
b
ia
s
. 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 f
o
r 
re
w
a
rd
in
g
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
re
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

d
e
fi
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
c
ro
s
s
 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
in
 H
D
C
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 p
a
y
 a
re
 p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
?
 

P
ro
p
e
rl
y
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
to
 

e
x
p
la
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
in
g
 b
e
h
in
d
 t
h
e
 p
a
y
 d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
 n
o
t 
o
n
ly
 

re
c
o
rd
s
 o
f 
th
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
, 
b
u
t 
a
ls
o
 o
f 
th
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l.
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

   A
p
p
ra
is
e
r/
a
p
p
ra
is
e
e
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
  

 R
e
v
ie
w
 P
a
n
e
l 
to
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

 A
p
p
ra
is
e
e
 /
A
p
p
ra
is
e
r 

T
ra
in
in
g
 –
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 P
a
n
e
l 
to
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 

 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 -
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

83



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
2
 

 

J
o
in
t 
w
a
s
te
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
J
W
O
G
) 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 J
W
O
G
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
g
ro
u
p
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 g
ro
u
n
d
 

•
 
T
a
k
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
th
is
 o
v
e
rv
ie
w
 E
IA
 t
o
 t
h
e
 J
W
O
G
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

•
 
W
h
e
re
 H
D
C
 h
a
s
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 –
 t
h
e
s
e
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 

•
 
G
e
t 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 J
W
O
G
 t
o
 g
e
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
a
c
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
is
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
a
n
 E
IA
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
. 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

L
e
is
u
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
c
a
re
 

p
o
lic
y
  

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
n
y
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
re
a
te
d
 u
n
fa
ir
ly
 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
: 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 l
ia
is
o
n
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
; 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

a
re
a
, 
d
is
tr
ic
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
b
o
a
rd
s
. 
A
d
v
is
o
ry
 b
o
a
rd
s
. 
H
D
C
 

P
o
lic
y
 d
iv
is
io
n
. 
T
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
s
e
 l
ia
is
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 r
a
c
e
, 
re
lig
io
n
, 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 a
g
e
. 

•
 
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 
a
n
d
 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 
to
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
a
 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 
a
b
o
u
t 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
U
s
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
M
o
n
it
o
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 S
a
fe
ty
 o
f 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
: 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 E
v
a
c
u
a
ti
o
n
 P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 (
E
A
P
) 
fo
r 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 m
o
b
ili
ty
 o
r 
v
is
u
a
lly
 i
m
p
a
ir
e
d
. 

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 
lia
is
o
n
 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 
w
it
h
 
H
D
C
 
P
o
lic
y
 
d
iv
is
io
n
 
to
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
e
m
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
s
. 

•
 
D
e
te
rm
in
e
 i
f 
th
e
re
 i
s
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
a
f 
a
n
d
 h
a
rd
 o
f 

h
e
a
ri
n
g
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 
w
it
h
 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
a
g
e
 
g
ro
u
p
s
 
to
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 
p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 

m
e
th
o
d
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
. 

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

    A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

  S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

84



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
3
 

•
 
U
s
in
g
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 
d
a
ta
, 
c
ro
s
s
 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 
e
th
n
ic
it
y
, 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
w
it
h
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
le
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
it
h
in
 H
D
C
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 H
D
C
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
: 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 o
n
-l
in
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
. 

•
 
T
ra
in
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 a
 w
h
e
e
lc
h
a
ir
. 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
: 

•
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
o
n
 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
fo
r 
tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 

m
a
te
ri
a
ls
. 

•
 
U
s
in
g
 
th
e
 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 

m
a
te
ri
a
l,
 a
n
d
 d
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
u
p
o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t,
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
lit
e
ra
tu
re
, 
in
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r,
 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
in
g
 
te
rm
s
 
a
n
d
 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 
o
f 
u
s
e
, 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

a
n
d
 
c
o
u
rs
e
s
 
in
 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
fo
rm
a
ts
 
e
.g
. 
la
rg
e
 
p
ri
n
t,
 
B
ra
ill
e
, 

fo
re
ig
n
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
. 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 
c
la
ri
ty
 
a
n
d
 
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 
fo
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 
a
n
d
 
s
ta
ff
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
in
g
 
h
e
lp
 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 
w
it
h
 
a
 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 
e
.g
. 

p
o
s
te
rs
, 
s
ig
n
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

•
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 ‘
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
C
a
re
’ 
w
e
b
 p
a
g
e
 f
o
r 
L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

is
 f
u
lly
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
t 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 

•
 
D
is
p
la
y
 
c
le
a
r 
s
ig
n
a
g
e
 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 
to
 
a
s
k
 
fo
r 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 i
f 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
: 

•
 
In
c
lu
d
e
 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
s
u
rv
e
y
 
o
n
 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 
a
n
d
 
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 
to
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
. 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 
s
ta
ff
 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 
o
n
 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 
a
n
d
 
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 
is
s
u
e
s
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 P
D
R
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

•
 
R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 
fo
r 
L
e
is
u
re
 
C
e
n
tr
e
 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 
to
 
a
tt
e
n
d
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 
a
n
d
 
D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 
tr
a
in
in
g
 
(c
o
rp
o
ra
te
ly
 

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

  J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

  S
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 
c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
  

 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

   A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
. 

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
. 

 

85



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
4
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 P
o
lic
y
) 
a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 r
e
s
t 
o
f 
te
a
m
. 

  •
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
to
 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 
th
e
 
n
e
e
d
s
 
o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 
a
n
d
 

w
h
e
re
 s
ta
ff
 c
a
n
 g
e
t 
h
e
lp
 t
o
 b
e
tt
e
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 n
e
e
d
s
. 

•
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
to
 
e
n
a
b
le
 
th
e
m
 
to
 
g
iv
e
 
a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 
to
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 

w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 

•
 
T
ra
in
 
s
ta
ff
 
to
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
, 
a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 
a
n
d
 
a
c
ti
o
n
 
th
e
ir
 
o
w
n
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
. 

S
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

s
ta
ff
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 

V
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
  
&
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
 P
o
lic
y
 

•
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
u
r 
L
H
A
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 -
 c
o
m
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 d
a
ta
 w
e
 h
o
ld
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
  

 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 S
e
t 
u
p
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 w
it
h
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

fo
r 
re
g
u
la
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
te
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 E
IA
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
. 
  

 

•
 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 a
w
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
e
d
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 -
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 r
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
a
m
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

  J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
  

    M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

L
o
c
a
l 
ta
x
a
ti
o
n
  

•
 
C
h
e
c
k
 a
ll 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fo
rm
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
m
p
ly
 

w
it
h
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 d
o
 n
o
t 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
. 

 

•
 
A
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
la
rg
e
 f
o
rm
a
t 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
ll 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
b
ill
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
m
in
d
e
rs
. 

 

•
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 a
ll 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm
s
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

  R
e
v
ie
w
 o
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
6
 

m
o
n
th
s
  

   

86



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
5
 

fo
r 
d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
T
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

in
s
e
rt
e
d
 i
n
to
 o
n
-l
in
e
 f
o
rm
s
. 

 

•
 
A
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 H
D
C
 w
e
b
s
it
e
, 
to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 

 

•
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
e
n
t 
o
n
 a
 s
ix
 m
o
n
th
ly
 b
a
s
is
 t
o
 a
 

ra
n
d
o
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 a
t 
a
ll 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
s
ta
g
e
s
 

 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
r 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 P
D
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s
  

 O
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
  

  O
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

O
x
m
o
o
r 
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
 (
e
x
te
rn
a
l 
E
IA
) 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 P
a
k
is
ta
n
i 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
re
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 N
M
 B
o
a
rd
. 
 

•
 
m
o
re
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
m
ig
ra
n
t 

w
o
rk
e
rs
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

•
 
m
o
re
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
L
G
B
T
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
.g
. 
v
ia
 

d
H
IV
e
rs
e
 a
n
d
 E
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
. 
  

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
  
g
e
n
d
e
r 
is
s
u
e
s
 -
 m
o
re
 w
o
rk
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

d
o
n
e
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
s
iv
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 s
e
c
to
r 

•
 
M
u
s
t 
e
n
s
u
re
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
re
 E
a
s
y
 R
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
rn
e
t-

b
a
s
e
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 J
A
W
S
-p
ro
o
f.
  

•
 
N
e
e
d
 t
o
 s
ta
rt
 t
o
 b
u
ild
 i
n
te
rg
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
lin
k
s
. 
 

•
 
T
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 f
o
r 

e
th
n
ic
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 (
g
e
n
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
o
) 
p
o
s
s
ib
ly
 a
lo
n
g
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
/a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

N
o
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 y
e
t.
 

P
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
s
 

•
 
P
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 a
id
 m
e
m
o
ir
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
to
c
o
ls
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 n
o
te
 

a
b
o
u
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 t
e
a
m
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

 M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
  

87



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
6
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
r 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 P
D
P
. 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
E
IA
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 

•
 
T
a
rg
e
t 
a
 m
o
re
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

m
e
d
ia
 –
 a
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 e
n
s
u
re
 g
re
a
te
r 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 
w
it
h
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 t
e
a
m
 h
a
s
 a
 m
e
d
ia
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
. 
W
h
e
n
 r
e
c
o
rd
in
g
 p
re
s
s
 c
u
tt
in
g
s
, 
d
e
ta
ils
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 l
o
g
g
e
d
 i
f 
p
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
s
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

•
 
P
u
b
lic
is
in
g
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
s
io
n
. 

  S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
  

   O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

 O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

P
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
  

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 f
o
r 
th
is
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

 

P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
d
e
s
ig
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

•
 
T
o
 r
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ff
 t
h
a
t 

p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 h
o
ld
 s
u
rg
e
ry
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
e
 

re
p
o
rt
. 

•
 
D
is
c
u
s
s
 e
a
c
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
lie
n
t 
to
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 a
n
y
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 -
 M
a
k
e
 

s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

•
 
T
o
 m
a
k
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 w
id
e
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 

m
in
o
ri
ti
e
s
 o
r 
h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 h
a
v
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
e
n
t 
- 
F
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 a
im
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 t
h
e
m
 

•
 
T
o
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 w
h
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
. 
 

T
h
is
 m
ig
h
t 
b
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
u
a
l 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
, 
b
u
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
s
 

fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 -
 A
d
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
to
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
  

   O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

  O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

P
a
rk
s
, 
o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 &
 

C
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

•
 
P
u
b
lic
/G
re
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

•
 
C
u
lt
u
ra
lly
 S
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 P
u
b
lic
it
y
 w
h
e
n
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

88



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
7
 

h
o
w
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
/f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
h
o
w
 b
e
s
t 
to
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
/e
n
g
a
g
e
 w
it
h
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
o
lic
y
 (
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
o
rm
a
ts
) 

 O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

W
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 n
e
w
 a
s
s
is
te
d
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
o
lic
y
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 o
n
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
u
s
e
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
  

W
h
is
tl
e
 b
lo
w
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
  

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
te
rn
e
t 
fo
rm
s
 b
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
a
d
in
g
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 -
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
IM
D
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
ra
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
te
rn
e
t 
p
a
g
e
s
 

re
a
d
a
b
le
 b
y
 t
h
e
 R
e
a
d
 S
p
e
a
k
e
r 
s
o
ft
w
a
re
. 
 

 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
  

 

89



90

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

Y
e
a
r 
3
  

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 0
8
/0
9
 h
ig
h
li
g
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
1
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

 
 

H
R
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
p
a
y
 &
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
, 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
&
 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
, 
g
o
o
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
&
 f
o
s
te
r 
a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 o
f 
in
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 

in
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
w
o
rk
 

E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 c
o
d
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
s
a
la
ri
e
s
 

In
c
re
m
e
n
ta
l 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
io
n
 f
o
r 
e
x
a
m
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

D
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 &
 c
a
p
a
b
ili
ty
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

J
o
in
t 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 (
E
L
A
G
) 

M
o
b
ile
 &
 h
o
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

L
o
c
a
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
  

T
o
u
ri
s
m
  

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

P
o
li
ti
c
a
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 &
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

E
le
c
to
ra
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

L
o
c
a
l 
L
a
n
d
 C
h
a
rg
e
s
 

T
o
 m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
la
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
la
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
e
 s
e
a
rc
h
e
s
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

P
ri
n
ti
n
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 p
ri
n
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
ro
g
ra
p
h
ic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
m
a
g
e
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
  

A
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
im
 o
f 
e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 u
s
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

L
e
g
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
c
ts
 w
it
h
in
 i
ts
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 p
o
w
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

it
s
 i
n
te
re
s
ts
 a
re
 p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 &
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
  

L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
  

Im
p
re
s
s
io
n
s
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 P
la
n
 (
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
) 

J
u
n
io
r 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 &
 c
rè
c
h
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
J
u
n
e
 0
9
) 

N
O
P
 &
 E
A
P
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 (
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
) 

L
e
is
u
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
0
9
) 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

91



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

Y
e
a
r 
3
  

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 0
8
/0
9
 h
ig
h
li
g
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
2
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

L
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 

b
y
 L
e
is
u
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 E
IA
 

E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 &
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
s
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 b
y
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
o
lic
y
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 w
ri
tt
e
n
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

In
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
re
d
it
o
r 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
in
c
o
m
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
, 
in
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 &
 r
is
k
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
, 
p
a
y
ro
ll,
 &
 t
re
a
s
u
ry
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.
 

D
e
b
t 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
  

In
c
o
m
e
 –
 s
ta
ff
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
/g
u
id
a
n
c
e
  

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
  

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 I
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
n
 I
T
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
k
e
s
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
  

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

 
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

N
o
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 –
 w
ill
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 (
R
a
m
s
e
y
, 

O
x
m
o
o
r 
a
n
d
 S
t 
N
e
o
ts
) 

 

A
ir
 Q
u
a
li
ty
  

T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
ir
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

P
e
s
t 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 
 

 
 

C
o
n
ta
m
in
a
te
d
 L
a
n
d
  

T
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 l
a
n
d
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
te
d
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
  

 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
?
 

In
fe
c
ti
o
u
s
 D
is
e
a
s
e
s
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 
th
e
 s
p
re
a
d
 o
f 
in
fe
c
ti
o
u
s
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s
 (
s
tr
a
te
g
y
) 

T
o
 c
o
m
p
lim
e
n
t 
th
e
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

D
ra
in
a
g
e
  

T
o
 a
d
v
is
e
 o
n
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
e
w
e
rs
, 
e
n
s
u
re
 s
e
w
e
ra
g
e
 m
a
p
s
 

a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
e
w
e
ra
g
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

fo
r 
u
n
s
e
w
e
re
d
 v
ill
a
g
e
s
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
e
c
u
re
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
in
g
 s
p
a
c
e
s
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
d
e
m
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

92



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

Y
e
a
r 
3
  

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 0
8
/0
9
 h
ig
h
li
g
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
3
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

re
d
u
c
e
 c
ri
m
e
 a
n
d
 n
u
is
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
s
 

G
ro
u
n
d
s
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

T
o
 k
e
e
p
 a
m
e
n
it
y
 a
re
a
s
 w
e
ll 
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

S
tr
e
e
t 
C
le
a
n
in
g
  

T
o
 k
e
e
p
 t
h
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
c
le
a
n
 a
n
d
 f
re
e
 f
ro
m
 l
it
te
r 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

P
o
li
c
y
 &
 T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 p
a
tt
e
rn
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 

 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
  

P
u
b
lic
/M
e
m
b
e
r 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 g
ra
n
t 
re
q
u
e
s
ts
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
  

 

93



94

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET                 18TH JUNE 2009 
 
 

CORPORATE EQUALITY POLICY – ACTION PLAN PROGRESS 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being)) 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its meeting held on 2nd June 2009, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Social Well-Being) considered a report by the Head of People, Performance 
and Partnerships, which outlined the progress made to date in respect of the 
Council’s Corporate Equality Policy Action Plan. 

 
2. COMMENTS 
 
2.1 The Panel has been informed by the Executive Councillor for Resources and 

Policy of the background to the Plan, together with details of the 
achievements made by the Council in this respect over the previous year. 
Having been reminded that the Council has attained Level 2 of the Equality 
Standard for Local Government, Members have been advised that the 
Council is now working towards achieving Level 3 of the Standard. A 
prerequisite of this is the completion of a series of evidence based Equality 
Impact Assessments. External assessment for validation is due to be 
undertaken in July 2009 and Officers are optimistic about the outcome. 
Should the Council be successful this will be significant for Huntingdonshire’s 
classification under the new Equality Framework, which replaces the Equality 
Standard. While the Appendices to the report by the Head of People, 
Performance and Partnerships contain details of work that still needs to be 
completed, it is emphasised that this work does not need to have been 
completed but the Council does need to be able to demonstrate that it is 
making progress towards finishing this work. 

 
2.2 The Panel has been advised that an annual random sample survey is usually 

conducted by the Council to ascertain residents’ perceptions of Council 
services including their views on how the Council rates on equalities matters.  
This year, however, these views have been sought via the Place Survey, 
though it is stressed that the questions asked differ from those previously 
employed, which accounts for the change in response rates. The survey will 
be repeated at least every two years. 

 
2.3 In noting that the Action Plan is intended to address equalities relating to 

race, disability and gender, the Panel has commented that rurality and, 
specifically, access to services in rural areas should be regarded as an 
equality issue. While Members have been assured that the Council is 
addressing the particular requirements of customers in rural areas, they have 
suggested that this should be made more overt, by incorporating it within the 
Action Plan. 

 
2.4 The Panel has discussed the training on equality and diversity that is provided 

for employees and the introduction of a new e-learning course. The theme of 
equality is also included within the Council’s Corporate Induction Programme 
and sessions on equalities are offered to all Managers to enable them to 
ensure front-line Officers use acceptable behaviour. In addition, the Corporate 

95



Officer Group has responsibilities in this area and the Council’s corporate 
feedback procedure is monitored for equalities implications of complaints. 

 
2.5 The Panel has expressed some concern at the 10% reduction in the budget 

set aside by the Council to deliver the Action Plan, but Members have 
received assurances that the work required to complete Equality Impact 
Assessments can be undertaken within the allocated budget in the 
forthcoming year. 

 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 The Cabinet is invited to consider the comments of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel (Social Well-Being) as part of its deliberations on the report by the 
Head of People, Performance and Partnerships. 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Minutes and Report of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-
Being) on 2nd June 2009. 
 
 
Contact Officers: Miss H Ali 
   (01480) 388006 

 

 

96



 

                                                                         
  

 
CABINET          18 JUNE 2009 
  
  

REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY 
SINGLE ISSUE REVIEW 

ACCOMMODATION FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLERS AND TRAVELLING 
SHOWPEOPLE IN THE EAST OF ENGLAND 

THE SECRETARY OF STATE’S PROPOSED CHANGES MARCH 2009 
 
 

(Joint Report by Head of Planning Services and Head of Housing Services) 
  
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This report considers the Council’s response to the Government’s 
Proposed Changes to the Draft Policy put forward by the East of England 
Regional Assembly (EERA) for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation. 

 
1.2 This matter was considered by the Gypsy & Traveller DPD Officer 

Steering Group on 29th April 2009. It was agreed that this report should be 
circulated to all Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Cabinet, so that their comments could be available for a meeting with the 
Executive Member for Planning Strategy and Transport. This enabled the 
Council’s views to be sent to GO-East before the end of the consultation 
period with ratification by Cabinet on the 18th June. A copy of that 
response to GO-East is copied at Appendix 1. 

 

2. Background 
 
2.1 EERA submitted the Draft Policy to the Secretary of State in February 

2008 and it was the subject of 12 weeks public consultation. An 
independent panel of inspectors held an Examination in Public to test the 
soundness of the draft policy in October 2008. The Panel submitted their 
Report to the Secretary of State in December 2008. 

 

2.2 The consultation on the Proposed Changes runs from 27th March to 22nd 
May 2009 (and it is confirmed that the Council did submit its response to 
the consultation by the closing date of 22nd May). 

 
2.3 This Council is preparing a Development Plan Document (DPD) for Sites 

for Gypsies and Travellers. It will be important to ensure that the DPD is 
consistent with the RSS policy and policies in the Council’s Core Strategy. 

 

Agenda Item 9

97



2.4 The Hearings for the Examination into the Huntingdonshire Core Strategy 
have now closed. Policy CS6, which sets out criteria for the location of 
sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople was not a matter 
on which the Inspector sought additional information through the Hearings. 

 
2.5 The District Council published an Issues Consultation document in 

January 2009 which was subject to public participation. The results of this 
participation will be reported to Members and will inform the next stages in 
the production of the DPD. 

 
 

3. The Draft Policy 
 

3.1 With regard to Huntingdonshire the Draft East of England Policy proposed 
that the existing 20 permanent residential pitches (as at 2006) should 
increase by 20 pitches to 40 pitches by 2011. For the longer period, the 
draft policy proposed that provision should be made on the basis of an 
annual 3% increase on the overall planned provision in 2011. 
Huntingdonshire’s share based on the increase required between 2006-
2011, would translate into a further 18 pitches being required for the 
period 2011-21 with the total additional pitches therefore being 38 pitches 
for the period 2006-2021. 

 

3.2 The Draft Policy did not include provision for either Transit Sites nor for 
Travelling Showpeople. It simply stated that this is the subject of “ongoing 
research”. 

 

4.  The Proposed Changes 
 
4.1 Having taken the Panel’s report into consideration, GO-East has now 

published Proposed Changes to the Draft Policy; the main matters for 
Huntingdonshire are as follows. 

 
General 

 
4.2 The Panel recommended that the next round of GTAAs should give more 

emphasis to investigating the preferences of Gypsies and Travellers living 
in bricks and mortar to return to living on caravan sites, and include a fuller 
investigation of the needs of New Travellers. This has been accepted by 
the Government, although it does not form part of the Policy. 

 
Comment:  
This will be noted in respect of the review of the Cambridgeshire Sub-
Region GTAA which is due to be prepared in 2011. 

 
Provision of permanent residential pitches 

 

98



4.3 The Proposed Changes include the provision of permanent residential 
pitches to be on the basis of an “at least” requirement in exactly the same 
way as the RSS does for housing. The Policy makes it clear that such 
provision counts towards meeting housing requirement targets set out in 
the RSS and to affordable housing targets.  

 
4.4 The number of permanent residential pitches which Huntingdonshire 

would have to provide rises from +20 to +25 by 2011. This change is 
based on the Panel’s assessment that Huntingdonshire had potential “to 
increase local opportunity in an area convenient to sub-regional need” 
(Panel’s report paragraph 4.77).  

 
4.5 This modest increase is still within the range suggested by the 

Cambridgeshire Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment of 2005, 
which suggested provision of a range of 20-25 additional pitches. 

 
4.6 There is no Proposed Change to the approach to the longer term (which is 

based on 3%), so for the period to 2021 (the plan period for the DPD), a 
further 21 pitches would be required compared with a further 18 pitches in 
the Draft Policy. This Council expressed concerns at the earlier stage that 
the 3% annual compound increase in provision appeared to be based on 
inadequate evidence. Although this matter was examined by the Panel of 
Inspectors and they concluded that it is robust, it is recommended that 
reference be made to the potential for Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessments (GTAAs) to arrive at more robust figures. 

 
Comment & Recommended Response: 

 
The addition of the “at least” requirement has implications for the Council’s 
DPD but is consistent with the RSS approach for housing for the settled 
community and therefore would be difficult to challenge. No response on 
this is proposed. 
 
The increase in the requirement of permanent residential pitches by 5 for 
the period up to 2011 is still consistent with the findings of the GTAA.  
 
Recommended Response 1: The District Council accepts the Proposed 
Change to the requirement for   permanent residential pitches from 20 to 
25 by 2011 as this is the upper limit of the range suggested by the 
Cambridgeshire Sub-Region GTAA. 
 
The consequential increase for the post 2011 period is consistent with the 
approach in the Draft Policy. This is a matter that we previously objected 
to on the basis that a 3% increase was not based on thorough research.  It 
is recommended that an opposing stance on this is maintained.  
 

99



Recommended Response 2: The Council has previously expressed 
concerns about the approach taken to calculate longer term need beyond 
2011. The 3% annual compound growth rate for permanent pitch provision 
is not strongly based on evidence as there are difficulties of establishing 
longer-term needs. The Council considers that GTAAs will be better 
placed to establish the level of longer term need and reference should be 
made to them in the policy. 

 
Provision of Transit Pitches 

 

4.7 The Panel recommended that Transit provision should be a requirement of 
the Policy because: 

 

• There is evidence from across the region both confirming that there is 
a need for some transit provision and indicating where this should be 
provided.  

• Unauthorised encampment is extremely undesirable and the benefits 
of providing an alternative should be given considerable weight. 

• Although there is an understandable concern about the pressure 
there may be for transit sites to become used to make up the shortfall 
of residential provision, the Panel did not believe these are 
insurmountable difficulties, as is indicated by the continued operation 
of two transit sites in the region. 

 
4.8 Further, the Panel’s report at paragraph 5.13 notes, “Cambridgeshire 

Constabulary reported that there are frequently summer encampments for 
about 2 months in the Peterborough and Huntingdonshire areas. 
Peterborough City Council accepted that there is a need which it intends 
to meet, although the precise figure is difficult to quantify. Huntingdonshire 
DC suggested that an emergency stopping place might be necessary but 
that this should be investigated locally. FFT argued for a network of 
provision, including a site in the vicinity of Cambridge. Fenland DC is 
progressing the provision of a 9 pitch site. The need for this has been 
established from the work of the Gypsy Liaison Officer, and is intended to 
accommodate seasonal workers.” 

 
4.9 Paragraph 5.14 of the Panel’s report states “Calculations based on the 

Caravan Count data produce a range of 6-33 pitches. FFT argues for four 
sites (40 pitches) spread around the virtual county in Cambridge, East 
Cambridgeshire, Fenland and Peterborough.” 

 
4.10 The Proposed Changes put forward a requirement to provide 40 Transit 

pitches across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough by 2011 but give very 
limited locational guidance as to how these might be distributed, simply 
referring to the “Cambridge area, Fenland, Huntingdonshire and 
Peterborough”. The 9 pitches referred to in the Panel’s Report in Fenland 

100



District have now been granted planning permission and therefore it can 
be assumed that this counts towards the requirement. 

 
4.11 The Policy as now proposed to be changed requires local authorities to 

work together to establish a network of Transit pitches, with location and 
size defined by local studies. Given the evidence from the Examination 
presented by the Cambridgeshire Constabulary, there will be some 
pressure for at least some of this provision to be made in the A1/A1(M) 
corridor. 

 
Comment & Recommended Response: 

 
This is a significant new requirement which is likely to result in the need 
for a transit site with several pitches in Huntingdonshire. The evidence 
base for including specific pitch requirements in the Policy is not robust 
and is open to challenge. Also, given the general need for permanent 
accommodation, and the pressure on existing sites, it is possible that 
Transit sites would simply be occupied as permanent residential sites, 
particularly until sufficient permanent sites are established across the 
region. This, in turn, could create significant management difficulties. 

 
The Proposed Change would require the network of transit sites to be 
delivered in less than 2 years. This is not realistic or appropriate in all 
areas, including in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough where additional 
studies are needed to give further locational guidance and to disaggregate 
the figures to a District level to inform DPDs. A degree of flexibility should 
be included in the policy, to enable Transit provision to be delivered in the 
subsequent 5 year period if local circumstances mean this is a more 
appropriate approach. 

 
A further problem is that work to inform DPDs on Transit pitches could 
delay the production of those documents and consequent delay to the 
provision of permanent residential pitches. If the Policy remains as 
proposed to be changed and DPDs do not include Transit pitch provision, 
there would be a real danger of them being found unsound. 

 
Recommended Response 3: The Council has grave concerns regarding 
the Proposed Change to introduce County requirements for Transit 
provision by 2011. These figures have been introduced at a late stage in 
the process on the basis of limited evidence which has not been subject to 
full participation and scrutiny and this runs the risk of the Policy being 
unsound. Furthermore, the Proposed Changes would require the network 
of transit sites to be delivered in less than 2 years. This is not realistic or 
appropriate in all areas, including in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
where additional studies are needed to give further locational guidance 
and to disaggregate the figures to a District level to inform DPDs. A 

101



degree of flexibility should be included in the policy to enable Transit 
provision to be delivered in the subsequent 5-year period if local 
circumstances mean this is a more appropriate approach. 

 
Provision for Travelling Showpeople 

 
4.12 The Proposed Changes also add a specific figure for provision for 

Travelling Showpeople. The Draft Policy did not include a specific figure, 
indicating that it was the subject of on-going research.  At the Examination 
evidence was submitted by the Showmen’s Guild of need in each district. 
This was subject to comment by the participants, but it was acknowledged 
by the Panel that local authority members had not had the opportunity to 
consider the subject.  The Panel’s Report recommended an interim plot 
requirement by County be added to the policy.  

 
4.13 The Proposed Changes accord with this, noting that there is existing 

provision for 54 families of Travelling Showpeople in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough and requiring 18 additional plots in “East Cambridgeshire 
and elsewhere” by 2011, with a 1.5% per annum allowance for household 
growth beyond 2011.  

 
4.14 Most of the existing provision is in East Cambridgeshire, and the evidence 

presented by the Showmen’s Guild to the Examination in Public did not 
suggest any need in Huntingdonshire.  

 
Comment & Recommended Response: 

 
Although there is no direct suggestion that Huntingdonshire should 
provide plots for Travelling Showpeople, this raises similar concerns to 
those raised by Transit provision. The needs of Travelling Showpeople 
across the region should be the subject of further research, as there is 
currently insufficient information to make specific district or county based 
requirements.  Evidence from the Showmen’s Guild which led to the 
requirements was introduced at a very late stage in the plan making 
process, during the Examination in Public. It did not form part of the 
evidence base for the consultation process, and the appropriateness of 
the evidence and potential options for distribution of provision have not 
been subject to options testing or wider consultation.  The figure included 
is considerably higher than the need identified through the 
Cambridgeshire GTAA, which indicated a need of only 5 plots.  

 
Again, as with Transit pitch provision, the introduction of a county-based 
requirement at this late stage could also delay planning for permanent 
pitches, if DPDs are delayed to account for this.  
 

102



The requirement for a 1.5% annual compound increase in plots is not well 
based in evidence, in the same manner as the 3% requirement is not for 
permanent residential pitches. 

 
Recommended Response 4: The Council is also concerned at the 
Proposed Change to introduce County requirements for plots for 
Travelling Showpeople. The needs of Travelling Showpeople across the 
region should be the subject of further research, as there is currently 
insufficient information to make specific district or county based 
requirements for 2011 followed by an annual compound increase 
requirement.  Evidence from the Showmen’s Guild which led to the 
requirements was introduced at a very late stage in the plan making 
process, during the Examination in Public. It did not form part of the 
evidence base for the consultation process, and the appropriateness of 
the evidence and potential options for distribution of provision have not 
been subject to options testing or wider consultation.  The figure included 
is considerably higher than the need identified through the 
Cambridgeshire GTAA, which indicated a need of only 5 plots. For these 
reasons, this Proposed Change should be rejected and instead the Policy 
should refer to the need for further work to be undertaken to inform a 
subsequent review of the Policy. 

 
5.  Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Joint Response 

5.1  Work at Officer level has been undertaken by the councils to agree a 
broad approach which can be sent to GO-East. There is general 
agreement about the problems which would accrue if the Proposed 
Changes on Transit and Travelling Showpeople were to be included in the 
final policy. The Draft Joint Statement is attached as Appendix 2. 

6.  Recommendations 

6.1 It is recommended that Cabinet makes the following representations to 
GO-East, based on the comments and proposed responses above, 
together with an additional recommended response which emphasises the 
potential for DPD provision to be delayed as a result of these Proposed 
Changes: 

 
1. The District Council accepts the Proposed Change to the 

requirement for   permanent residential pitches from 20 to 25 by 2011 
as this is the upper limit of the range suggested by the 
Cambridgeshire Sub-Region GTAA. 

 
2. The Council considers that GTAAs will be better placed to establish 

the level of longer term need and reference should be made to them 
in the policy. 

103



 
3. A degree of flexibility should be included to enable Transit provision 

to be delivered in the subsequent 5-year period if local 
circumstances mean this is a more appropriate approach. 

 
4. The Proposed Change on Travelling Showpeople should be rejected 

and instead the Policy should refer to the need for further work to be 
undertaken to inform a subsequent review of the Policy. 

 
5. The Council considers that without the changes suggested in these 

representations, there is a danger that the production of DPDs in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough allocating much needed 
permanent pitches will be delayed. 

 
CONTACT OFFICER - enquiries about this report to Richard Probyn (Planning 
Policy Manager), on 01480 388430 or Steve Plant (Head of Housing Services) on 
01480 388240 

104



APPENDIX 1 
 

 
Regional Planning Team, 
GO-East, 
Eastbrook, 
Shaftesbury Road, 
Cambridge. 
CB2 8DF 
 
20th May 2009 
 
 
Dear Sir 
 
EAST OF ENGLAND RSS GYPSY AND TRAVELLER REVIEW: 
DECISIONS ON THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXAMINATION 
PANEL AND PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
Please find below comments from Huntingdonshire District Council on the 
Proposed Changes to the Draft Policy in the East of England Plan on Gypsy and 
Traveller accommodation: 
 
The District Council accepts the Proposed Change to the requirement for 
permanent residential pitches from 20 to 25 by 2011 as this is within the upper 
limit of the range suggested by the Cambridgeshire Sub-Region GTAA. 

 
The Council has previously expressed concerns about the approach taken to 
calculate longer term need beyond 2011. The 3% annual compound growth rate 
for permanent pitch provision is not strongly based on evidence as there are 
difficulties of establishing longer-term needs. The Council considers that GTAAs 
will be better placed to establish the level of longer term need and reference 
should be made to them in the policy. 
 
The Council has grave concerns regarding the Proposed Change to introduce 
County requirements for Transit provision by 2011. These figures have been 
introduced at a late stage in the process on the basis of limited evidence which 
has not been subject to full participation and scrutiny and this runs the risk of the 
Policy being unsound. Furthermore, the Proposed Changes would require the 
network of transit sites to be delivered in less than 2 years. This is not realistic or 
appropriate in all areas, including in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough where 
additional studies are needed to give further locational guidance and to 
disaggregate the figures to a District level to inform DPDs. A further problem is 
that work to inform DPDs on Transit pitches could delay the production of those 
documents and consequent delay to the provision of permanent residential 
pitches. A degree of flexibility should be included in the policy to enable Transit 

105



provision to be delivered in the subsequent 5-year period if local circumstances 
mean this is a more appropriate approach. 

2. 
 
The Council is also concerned at the Proposed Change to introduce County 
requirements for plots for Travelling Showpeople. The needs of Travelling 
Showpeople across the region should be the subject of further research, as there 
is currently insufficient information to make specific district or county based 
requirements for 2011 followed by an annual compound increase requirement.  
Evidence from the Showmen’s Guild which led to the requirements was 
introduced at a very late stage in the plan making process, during the 
Examination in Public. It did not form part of the evidence base for the 
consultation process, and the appropriateness of the evidence and potential 
options for distribution of provision have not been subject to options testing or 
wider consultation.  The figure included is considerably higher than the need 
identified through the Cambridgeshire GTAA, which indicated a need of only 5 
plots. For these reasons, this Proposed Change should be rejected and instead 
the Policy should refer to the need for further work to be undertaken to inform a 
subsequent review of the Policy. 
 
The Council considers that without the changes suggested in these 
representations, there is a danger that the production of DPDs in Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough allocating much needed permanent pitches will be delayed. 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
Richard Probyn 
Planning Policy Manager 

106



APPENDIX 2 
 
 
 
JOINT STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF CAMBRIDGESHIRE LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES RELATING TO GOVERNMENT PROPOSED CHANGES TO 
THE SINGLE ISSUE REVIEW: TO GYSPY, TRAVELLER AND TRAVELLING 
SHOWPEOPLE ACCOMMODATION 
 
Inclusion of Transit sites in Policy H3 – Provision for Gypsies and 
Travellers 
 
It is accepted that the creation of a network of transit sites for Gypsies and 
Travellers within the East of England region would be beneficial. However the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Authorities consider that the immediate need 
for provision within this area is for permanent residential Gypsy and Traveller 
sites rather than additional transit sites based upon the evidence provided by the 
Cambridge Sub Region Travellers Needs Assessment (paragraph 3.9.3 of the 
Assessment). 
 
This policy requires that the Cambridgeshire Authorities will work together to 
identify an agreed distribution of transit pitches based upon additional technical 
work and that sites will be brought forward by 2011 at the latest. 
 
This presents significant difficulties for the Local Planning Authorities in that it 
could delay the preparation of Development Plan Documents within 
Cambridgeshire relating to the provision of Gypsy and Traveller accommodation. 
 
This would have a negative impact on the delivery of permanent residential sites 
for the Gypsy and Traveller community within Cambridgeshire. 
 
It is therefore suggested that this policy should be amended to allow for greater flexibility 

in relation to the timing of the provision of transit sites within Cambridgeshire. 

 
Policy H4 -Travelling Showpeople plots 
 
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Authorities recognise that there is a need 
for additional travelling showpeople plots within the area based upon the 
evidence provided by the Cambridge Sub Region Travellers Needs Assessment. 
 
However it is important to emphasis that the evidence provided in support of this 
policy has not been subject to any independent testing and is weaker in 
comparison to that which has been used to support the proposed scale and 
distribution of residential pitches for Gypsies and Travellers within the East of 
England region. 
 

107



This policy requires that the Cambridgeshire Authorities will work together to 
identify an agreed distribution of sites for Travelling Showpeople plots based 
upon additional technical work and that sites will be brought forward by 2011 at 
the latest. 
 
As is the case of transit sites this requirement has the potential to delay the 
preparation of Development Plan Documents within Cambridgeshire. 
 
 

108



 

   
 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL 
(ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING) 

09 JUNE 2009 

CABINET                      18 JUNE 2009 
COUNCIL 24 JUNE 2009 
 

CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN 
(Report by Head of Environmental Management) 

 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 As a signatory to the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change, the 

Council is committed to reducing the greenhouse gas emissions from it’s 
own estate, as monitored by National Indicator 185.  

 
1.2 Since May 2008 the Council in partnership with Fenland District Council 

has been participating in The Local Authority Carbon Management 
Programme run by the Carbon Trust. The programme has provided free 
technical support to the Council, to assist in auditing its use of 
resources, taking into account energy use in buildings, vehicle fleet 
emissions and employee business travel. 

 
1.3 From this the Council has identified an aspirational target of reducing 

carbon dioxide emissions by 30% over the next 5 years. In order to 
achieve this we have quantified a series of projects with short payback 
periods that will enable the council to make energy and efficiency 
savings. 

 
1.4 Accompanying this report is the final draft of the 5 year Carbon 

Management Plan for the Council (appendix A), for consideration and 
approval prior to adoption by the Council and final submission to the 
Carbon Trust. 

 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 At a time of economic uncertainty, the need to reduce energy 

consumption has never been so pressing.  Fluctuating energy and fuel 
prices are causing great concern for local authorities, so too are 
uncertain fuel supplies and the need to deliver efficiency savings.  In 
aiming to use public funds wisely, whilst making cost savings; low 
carbon operations are becoming increasingly important. 

 
2.2 The Plan sets out the Council’s baseline carbon dioxide emissions for 

2007 and identifies opportunities to reduce emissions.  In the baseline 
year, 5915 tonnes of carbon dioxide were emitted from Council 
operations. To achieve a 30% reduction in emissions, projects must be 
identified which will deliver carbon dioxide savings of 1774 tonnes over 
the next five years 

 
2.3 The draft plan identifies 39 carbon reduction projects falling into the 

following categories: 
 

• existing projects with approved funding (e.g. printer 
rationalisation/multi-functional devices) 

Agenda Item 10

109



 

• low cost or nil cost measures to encourage behavioural change (e.g. 
Corporate Travel Plan and Green Champions Project)  

• significant ‘invest to save’ initiatives (e.g. combined heat and power 
systems at Council Leisure Centres) 

 
 
3. FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 The Carbon Management Plan recommends that the Council reduce its 

carbon emissions by 30% between now and 2012 and in doing so 
reverse the trend of increasing energy use by the Council and save £2.2 
million in energy costs over the five life of the Plan. 

 
3.2 Of the projects identified within the plan some have received funding 

through the Council’s Medium Term Plan (MTP) process, whilst others 
require funding and will be subject to the usual budgetary process. 
There is also the opportunity to attract significant external funding for 
implementing energy efficiency and renewable technology projects, 
which will reduce reliance on the Council’s own resources.   

 
3.3 Funding sources that are being pursued include the Governments Low 

Carbon Buildings Programme which has already yielded £71k towards a 
renewable energy project included within the plan and also the Salix 
Invest to Save Fund which could potentially yield an additional £75k 
which is not repayable providing the money is reinvested in projects at 
least three times over a 15 year period.  

 
3.4 The carbon reduction opportunities identified to date will deliver just over 

two thirds of the savings required to reduce Council emissions by 30%. It 
will be necessary to identify a significant number of additional carbon 
saving opportunities during the course of the next five years, if the 
overall target is to be achieved.   

 
3.5 Successful delivery of the Carbon Management Plan will require 

continued support and commitment from the Council’s Environmental 
Management Division.  It is anticipated that the equivalent of 2 days per 
week will be required within the Council’s Environment Team to 
coordinate implementation, monitor and record progress, secure funding 
and manage an invest to save budget.  This level of commitment will be 
required throughout the five year programme. 

 
4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 The draft Carbon Management Plan presents a compelling case for 

action on both environmental and financial grounds.  Failing to act will 
result in an additional 2000 tonnes of carbon dioxide being produced 
from Council operations by 2012 and an increased financial cost to the 
Council of almost £800,000 per annum. 

 
4.2 It is important that the capital projects included within the Carbon 

Management Plan are accompanied by behavioural change. The Green 
Force employee awareness initiative will be the means to achieve this 
and it is important that the campaign is endorsed by Members and 
corporate management. 

 
4.3 As a leader in the community the lessons learnt in implementing the 

Carbon Management Plan will be widely disseminated to businesses 

110



 

and partners through the Environment Forum of the Huntingdonshire 
Strategic Partnership and through the Councils Business Environmental 
Pledge Scheme. 

 
4.4 Resource levels within the Council’s Environment Team will need to be 

reviewed as the programme develops to ensure that the Council is able 
to deliver the plan and also meet the statutory requirement to monitor 
the environmental suite of related National Indicators 185, 186,187,188, 
193. 

 
 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The Cabinet are recommended to endorse the Carbon Management 

Plan prior to submission to Council for final approval. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
See Appendix 1: Carbon Management Plan  
 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Jablonski (Environment Team Leader) 
 (((( Ext. 8368 
 

111



112

This page is intentionally left blank



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 1 

Huntingdonshire District Council  

Carbon Management Programme

Carbon Management Plan (CMP) 

Date: 29.04.09 

Version number:  Final Draft 

Owner: Samantha King/Chris Jablonski 

Approval route: COMT/Carbon Trust for review 

Approval status: N/A 

113



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 2 

Contents

Foreword from Huntingdonshire District Council 3

Foreword from the Carbon Trust 4

Management Summary 5

1 Introduction 8

2 Carbon Management Strategy 9

2.1 Context and drivers for Carbon Management 9

2.2 Our low carbon vision 10

2.3 Objectives and Targets 10

3 Emissions Baseline and Projections 11

3.1 Scope 11

3.2 Baseline 11

3.3 Projections and Value at Stake 13

4 Carbon Management Projects 15

4.1 Existing projects 15

4.2 Planned / funded projects 15

4.3 Near term projects 16

4.4 Medium to long term projects 17

4.5 Non-captial projects 17

4.6        Projected achievement towards target                18 

    4.7        Unquantified benefits                 18 

5 Carbon Management Plan Financing 19

5.1 Assumptions 19

5.2 Benefits / savings - quantified and unquantified 19

5.3 Additional resources 20

5.4 Financial costs and sources of funding 20

6 Actions to Embed Carbon Management in Your Organisation 22

6.1 Corporate Strategy – embedding CO2 saving across your organisation 22

6.2 Programme Management – bringing it all together effectively 22

6.3 Responsibility – being clear that saving CO2 is everyone’s job 23

6.4 Data Management – measuring the difference, measuring the benefit 23

6.5 Communication and Training – ensuring everyone is aware 24

6.6 Finance and Investment – the money to match the commitment 25

6.7 Policy Alignment – saving CO2 across your operations 25

7 Programme Management of the CM Programme 26

7.1 The Programme Board – strategic ownership and oversight 26

7.2 The Carbon Management Team – delivering the projects 27

7.3 Succession planning for key roles 28

7.4 Ongoing stakeholder management 28

7.5 Annual progress review 29

Appendix A: Carbon Management Matrix - Embedding 30

Appendix B: Definition of Projects 31

Appendix C: Green Champions Communication Plan           71

114



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 3 

Foreword from Huntingdonshire District Council 

In April 2008 Huntingdonshire District Council was selected to join Phase 6 of the Carbon Trust’s Local 
Authority Carbon Management Programme, in partnership with Fenland District Council. Throughout 
the year, officers within the Council’s Environment Team have met ambitious deadlines in assessing the 
Authority’s baseline carbon dioxide emissions and in developing a plan for carbon reduction across the 
Council’s estates and operations.  

This Carbon Management Plan has been developed to enable the delivery of projects to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions as part on an ongoing programme, which supports the Councils commitment to the 
nationally recognised Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change and which compliments its wider 
Environment Strategy “Growing Awareness – A Plan for Our Environment”. 

Huntingdonshire District Council is committed to reducing its carbon footprint through energy 
management, improved energy efficiency and the installation of renewable technologies to mitigate 
climate change and counteract the trend of increasing energy prices.  

The council has benefited through support for this project from the Carbon Trust and from their 
consultants Hitachi Consulting UK Ltd. 

     

   

David Monks      Cllr Terry Rodgers 

Chief Executive  Executive Councillor 

Huntingdonshire District Council   Finance & Environment   

115



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 4 

Foreword from the Carbon Trust 

Cutting carbon emissions as part of the fight against climate change should be a key priority for local 
authorities - it's all about getting your own house in order and leading by example.  The UK government 
has identified the local authority sector as key to delivering carbon reduction across the UK inline with 
its Kyoto commitments and the Local Authority Carbon Management programme is designed in 
response to this. It assists councils in saving money on energy and putting it to good use in other areas, 
whilst making a positive contribution to the environment by lowering their carbon emissions.   

Huntingdonshire District Council was selected in 2008, amidst strong competition, to take part in this 
ambitious programme. Huntingdonshire District Council partnered with the Carbon Trust on this 
programme in order to realise vast carbon and cost savings. This Carbon Management Plan commits 
the council to a target of reducing CO2 by 30% by 2012 and underpins potential financial savings to the 
council of around £2.2 million. 

There are those that can and those that do. Local authorities can contribute significantly to reducing 
CO2 emissions. The Carbon Trust is very proud to support Huntingdonshire District Council in their 
ongoing implementation of carbon management.  

Richard Rugg 

Head of Public Sector, Carbon Trust 

116



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 5 

Management Summary 

Background 

In February 2007 Huntingdonshire District Council signed the Nottingham Declaration on Climate 
Change. As a signatory, the council pledged to significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions arising 
from council operations. The Councils’ commitment to the declaration was reiterated in June 2008 when 
“Growing Awareness- A Plan for our Environment”, a new environment strategy with a five year action 
plan designed to tackle climate impacts, was launched. The action plan outlines targets to reduce 
carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions by: 

 Adopting an energy policy to reduce the council’s energy use in all its buildings and activities. 

 Installing, where appropriate, renewable energy technologies at new Council buildings and 
when replacing systems in existing buildings. 

 Developing and implementing site specific travel plans for the Council’s main sites and reducing 
CO2 emissions from leased and employee owned vehicles. 

 Effectively managing the Council’s own vehicle fleet. 

To facilitate the councils commitment to the Nottingham Declaration and Growing Awareness’ together 
with the Corporate Vision, Huntingdonshire District Council is participating in the sixth phase of the 
Carbon Trust’s Local Authority Carbon Management Programme (LACMP). The programme has 
allowed Huntingdonshire District Council to develop baseline figures and helped measure 
improvements towards a 30% carbon dioxide reduction target in its own operations over the next five 
years from baseline 2007. Additionally, it has demonstrated the feasibility of low carbon solutions district 
wide.

Following 9 months work with the Carbon Trust, the Carbon Management Plan (CMP) is the main 
output from the programme. The CMP takes a systematic approach to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions over a five year period. It examines current emissions, and projected emissions, and outlines 
the carbon management projects identified in response. To produce the CMP, a carbon management 
team was established. The team, consisting of both members and officers were consulted at each stage 
of the programme to gain their commitment to the delivery of the CMP.  

Emissions Baseline and Projections 

The CMP identifies that Huntingdonshire District Council currently emits 5,959t CO2 from buildings and 
transport. 62% of all emissions originate from buildings, 29% from fleet transport, 3% business mileage 
and 6% staff commuting (See Figure 1.0). Collectively, emissions arising from buildings and transport 
cost the council £1,569,480 per annum and this is continuing to rise. Cost projections, allowing for a 
modest 8.4%

1
 business as usual increase in energy prices, suggest that if the council fails to reduce its 

carbon emissions, the financial value at stake (the cumulative additional cost incurred by the council 
over the five year life of the programme from failing to act and reduce its energy consumption) will 
equate to £2,214,969. This clearly highlights that doing nothing is not an option. 

                                                     

1
 Business-as-Usual cost increase provided by the Carbon Trust, based upon 

http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file46071.pdf.

117



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 6 

Figure 1.0. Breakdown of baseline CO2 emissions of 5,959 tonnes. 

In CO2 terms, the cumulative additional tonnage produced by Council operations if nothing is done to 
reduce energy consumption will be 6,249 tonnes. To demonstrate how we intend to achieve a 30% 
reduction in CO2, a series of low carbon projects have been identified through the LACMP. To date, 
several quick wins have already been implemented, whilst other long term projects have been identified 

and wait funding.

Cost and Savings 

The total expenditure required to implement the projects identified to date is shown in Table 1.0 below. 
The table also shows the cumulative carbon and financial savings resulting from the successful 
implementation of these projects and thus the Council achieving a 30% reduction in CO2 emissions. 

Table 1.0. The annual cost and CO2 savings associated with the carbon management programme

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 TOTAL

Net present cost  
(£000’s) of projects 
identified to date 

169 331 259 200 100 £1.1m

Annual cumulative 
target CO2 savings 
(tonnes)  

452 1,328 2,602 4,250 6,249 6,249

Cumulative annual 
savings (£000’s) 
against business as 
usual usage 

129 400 828 1427 2214 £2.2m

NB. The figure of £1.1m shown in the first row of the table is the cost of implementing the carbon 
reduction projects identified to date (only).  Together these projects contribute 81% of our carbon 
reduction target. It will therefore be necessary to identify further carbon reduction opportunities and 
further investment will be required if a 30% reduction target is to be successfully achieved. 

Buildings

62%

Fleet transport

29%

Business

Mileage

3%

Staff commuting

6%

118



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 7 

Prioritisation of Carbon Reduction Opportunities 

The carbon reduction opportunities identified to date are sufficient to achieve around 81% of the overall 
carbon reduction required. Some projects have longer payback periods than others, but all are subject 
to feasibility assessments and if these are acceptable, it is envisaged that all will be taken forward 
within the five year life of the plan. It will also be necessary to identify a significant number of additional 
carbon saving opportunities to ensure that the 30% overall reduction target is achieved.

This Carbon Management plan will be a working document. Evaluation of carbon reduction 
opportunities will take place on an ongoing basis and new projects will be included in the plan, which 
will be updated on an annual basis.  To assist in the identification and implementation of projects, 
strategic direction will be maintained through regular meetings of the Carbon Management Team and 
future Opportunities Workshops will be held to inform key officers of progress and capture new carbon 
reduction opportunities.  

119



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 8 

1. Introduction

1.1 Background 

Huntingdonshire District Council secured a place on the Carbon Trust’s Local Authority Carbon 
Management Programme (LACMP) in April 2008. The programme has supported a newly adopted 
environment strategy, as well as the corporate vision, by facilitating the in-depth look at operations to 
allow the council to quantify, and reduce, its energy usage and carbon emissions. Huntingdonshire 
District Council is committed as a signatory to the Nottingham Declaration to putting plans in place to 
address the causes and impacts of climate change. Carbon reduction both from local authority 
operations and on a per capita basis in Huntingdonshire are also national priorities (National Indicators 
(NI) 185 and 186

2
).

By participating in the programme, Huntingdonshire District Council has been given the opportunity to 
work closely with, and learn from, other local authorities specifically by working in collaboration with 
Fenland District Council. Partnership working has allowed the council to develop a feasible, practical 
strategy in response to the challenge of climate change. It has also allowed the council to investigate 
how it can become more financially sustainable through implementing low carbon projects, at a time 
when increasing energy prices and uncertain energy supplies are placing an increasing burden upon 
local authority resources. In 2007 alone, the energy consumed by council buildings and transport 
resulted in 5,959 tonnes of carbon dioxide being emitted into the atmosphere. Collectively this cost the 
council a total of £1,569,480, illustrating that carbon management is therefore not just of environmental 
importance, but also of financial significance. 

The purpose of this document, which has been produced following 9 months work with the Carbon 
Trust, is to demonstrate how Huntingdonshire District Council will reduce its emissions by 30% over the 
next five years. The CMP outlines the following: 

Baseline 2007: This establishes the local authority’s current carbon emissions. It is against this 
baseline that all projects aiming to reduce consumption will be measured and the success of 
the CMP will be judged. 

Future projections: Based upon data provided by Defra, this section illustrates the 
environmental and financial implications of the council failing to reduce its current consumption 
over the next five years. The difference between the business as usual scenario and the 
reduced emissions scenario demonstrates a clear case for action. 

Carbon reduction measures: This part of the plan outlines those projects which have identified, 
approved or implemented by officers within the council. The contribution these measures make 
towards achieving the councils target is explained. 

Carbon management financing: This section summarises the overall cost of the programme to 
the local authority and the savings that it will deliver. 

Programme implementation and management: Finally, the manner in which carbon 
management will be embedded within the organisation and how the five year programme will 
be managed is demonstrated. 

1.2 Carbon Management Timescale 

The CMP outlines key deliverables over five years. Several quick wins have already been identified and 
implemented; however other projects are awaiting implementation. To ensure the projects are 
progressing sufficiently, the CMP will be monitored annually as part of the environment strategy review 
and progress will be published.  

                                                     
2

NI 185- Percentage CO2 reduction from Local Authority operations. 

NI 186- Per capita CO2 emissions in the Local Authority area. 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/localgovernment/pdf/542437.pdf

120



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 9 

2. Carbon Management Strategy 

2.1 Context and drivers for Carbon Management 

It is now widely accepted that climate change is driven by anthropogenic (human derived) greenhouse 
gas emissions. Illustrated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s (IPCC) Fourth 
Assessment Report, natural forces alone cannot account for the changes in our climate. Consensus on 
our influence has resulted in national, regional and local regulation of greenhouse gas emissions. 
Legislation and guidance is now encouraging organisations to investigate their impact on the 
environment and ultimately reduce their footprint in response. In a time of economic uncertainty, the 
need to reduce energy consumption has never been so pressing. Increasing energy and fuel prices are 
causing great concern for local authorities, so too are uncertain fuel supplies. Aiming to use public 
funds efficiently, whilst making cost savings; low carbon operations are becoming increasingly 
important.

On the 2
nd

 February 2007, the council made a commitment to tackle the causes and effects of climate 
change by signing the Nottingham Declaration. In making this pledge the council recognised that 
environmental issues must be fundamental to all council policies and procedures if it is to reduce its 
environmental footprint; reflected in the Councils Corporate Plan ‘Growing Success’. In June 2008 this 
recognition was reinforced when “Growing Awareness”, the council’s newly adopted environment 
strategy, was published. The five-year strategy sets out a plan for the council to make continual, 
measurable progress in its environmental performance by integrating environmental issues into all 
aspects of council operations. The strategy action plan outlines targets to reduce carbon dioxide (CO2)
emissions by: 

 Adopting an energy policy to reduce the council’s energy use in all its buildings and activities. 

 Installing, where appropriate, renewable energy technologies at new Council buildings and 
when replacing systems in existing buildings. 

 Developing and implementing site specific travel plans for the Council’s main sites and reducing 
CO2 emissions from leased and employee owned vehicles. 

 Effectively managing the Council’s own vehicle fleet. 

It is theses objectives that the LACMP has supported and contributed to. It has allowed 
Huntingdonshire District Council to lead by example by examining its own environmental impact, and 
encourage similar good practise in households and businesses in the district; thereby contributing to 
national priorities (National Indicators 185 and 186).  

In addition to meeting strategic aims and objectives, the CMP has been developed in response to a 
number of other key drivers: 

 Display Energy Certificates legally required under the EU Energy Performance of Buildings 
Directive (EPBD) for all public sector buildings with a useful floor space of over 1,000m

2
.

 Public interest in environmental issues, which has grown in recent years due to increasing 
media attention. As a leader for the local community, Huntingdonshire District Council 
recognises the important role it has to play demonstrating good practise in relation to low 
carbon solutions and behavioural change within the district.  

 The need for officer and member commitment to carbon management. In order for the authority 
to reduce emissions, it is vital that officers and members understand how their behaviour within 
the workplace impacts upon the environment. 

121



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 10 

2.2 Our low carbon vision

Huntingdonshire District Council’s vision for carbon management is as follows: 

The Council, recognising the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change, commits to reduce 
its CO2 emissions through the implementation of a Carbon Management Plan. 

Through the Plan the Council will promote behavioural change within the organisation, whilst 
simultaneously implementing low carbon projects to reduce consumption. 

The council will encourage similar best practise in households and businesses district wide to 
ensure Huntingdonshire’s environment is protected and improved. 

2.3 Objectives and Targets 

2.3.1 Strategic objectives 

 To reduce carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions generated from transport and buildings operated by 
the council through implementing ambitious, tangible measures. 

 To increase the amount of waste that is diverted away from landfill and is recycled. 

 To encourage behavioural change both within the Council and district wide through 
environmental awareness campaigns. 

 To lead by example, demonstrating good practise both within the district and nation wide. 

 To integrate carbon management into council policies and procedures. 

 To deliver long term cost savings through carbon management projects 

2.3.2. Targets 

Huntingdonshire District Council will reduce CO2 emissions from 
Council Operations by 30% by 2012 from 2007 levels.

122



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 11 

3. Emissions Baseline and Projections 

The baseline data defined in this section will form the basis of the CMP. This section projects how 
future trends will impact upon the council’s energy consumption, and carbon emissions; demonstrating 
the challenge facing the council in its endeavour to achieve a 30% reduction in CO2 emissions. 

3.1 Scope 

When calculating Huntingdonshire District Council’s emissions baseline, the following were considered: 

 Energy consumption in council-owned buildings (electricity, gas etc). 

 Fuel consumption by fleet travel. 

 Staff business travel. 

Staff commuting to and from work.

The factors considered are in accordance with the requirements of National Indicator 185; including all 
CO2 emissions from the delivery of local authority functions. 

3.2 Baseline 

The baseline year chosen to calculate projections is 2007 (calendar year). To achieve an accurate, 
representative record of carbon emissions, data was collected in the following ways:  

 Gas and electricity bills, based upon actual meter readings, allowed for the calculation of the 
total amount of energy consumed by council-owned buildings. 

 Fuel data, relating specifically to fleet travel, was assessed by examining fuel invoices.  

 Business mileage was recorded through analysing rail and car mileage claims. Due to the 
complexities of the car data available, an average car emissions value

3
 provided by Defra was 

utilised. The overall effect of this will be minimal. Pool car usage was also determined, broken 
down by fuel type and engine size.  

 Staff mileage arising from commuting to and from work was calculated through the annual 
Travel for Work Survey. This was broken down into the various modes of transport to get an 
accurate emissions value for staff travel. 

All data recorded was done so using the NI 185 tool developed by Defra. A summary of emissions for 
baseline year 2007 is shown below (Table 2.0). 

CO2 emissions 
(tonnes) 

% CO2

emissions 
Cost (£) % Cost 

Buildings 3,682 62 585,079 37 

Fleet transport 1,745 29 783,535 50 

Business Mileage 180 3 67,282 4 

Staff commuting 352 6 133,584 9 

Table 2.0 Summary table for baseline year 2007. 

                                                     
3
 Average petrol car emissions based upon 0.21kg CO2/km, provided by Defra: 

http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/business/envrp/pdf/ghg-cf-guidelines-annexes2008.pdf

123



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 12 

Figure 2.0 Breakdown of baseline CO2 emissions of 5,959 tonnes. 

Data shows that for baseline year 2007, a total of 5,959 tonnes of CO2 was emitted from council 
operations into the atmosphere. The largest single emission source was that of buildings (See Figure 
2.0). Of the 3,682 tonnes of CO2 which was emitted from buildings, 70% of that was done so by leisure 
centres, illustrating the potential savings which could result by focussing resources in this area (Figure 
2.1). Another significant source, which must not be overlooked, is that of offices. 21% of all emissions 
originated from council offices, which again highlights an area with carbon saving opportunities. 

70%

1%
0%

2%

2%

21%

2%

2%

Leisure Centres

Offices

Depots

Car Parks

Parks

Pavillions

Public Conveniences

Miscellaneous

Figure 3.0 Breakdown of CO2 emissions from Council buildings.  

The remaining 2,277 tonnes of CO2 generated was done so through council related travel. 
Approximately 77% of total transport emissions originated from fleet travel, whereas 15% resulted from 
staff commuting to and from work and 8% from business mileage. Despite being relatively small 
emission sources, it must be noted that commuting and business related travel are areas where simple 
measures could be implemented to make significant carbon savings. 

Buildings

62%

Fleet transport

29%

Business

Mileage

3%

Staff commuting

6%

124



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 13 

3.3 Projections and Value at Stake 

3.3.1 Business-as-Usual (BAU) Scenario 

The BAU scenario assumes the council will fail to reduce existing trends in energy consumption (0.7% 
increase pa

4
) and therefore incur substantial costs due to an expected increase in energy prices (8.4% 

pa). By the year 2012, CO2 emissions resulting from council operations are estimated to reach 6,170 
tonnes, whilst a total cost of £2,432,482 is expected to be incurred (Figure 4.0 & Figure 5.0). This 
clearly highlights that doing nothing is simply not an option. 

3.3.2 Reduced Emissions Scenario (RES) 

The RES demonstrates the carbon and financial savings associated with Huntingdonshire District 
Council reducing its baseline CO2 emissions by 30% over the next five years. By the year 2012, the 
RES results in the council emitting 4,171 tonnes CO2 and incurring a total cost of £1,644,373. These 
savings, against BAU projections demonstrates a clear case for action (Figure 4.0 & Figure 5.0). 

3.3.3 Value at stake (VAS) 

The VAS refers to the difference between the BAU scenario and the RES over the entire lifetime of the 
carbon management programme. It is used to explain the carbon value and financial cost at stake if the 
council makes no attempt to reduce its energy consumption. 

3.3.1 Carbon Value at Stake 

It is estimated that the total carbon value at stake over the next five years is 6,249 tonnes (See Figure 
4.0.).

3.3.2 Financial Value at Stake 

Due to increasing energy prices, the costs incurred by the council if its energy usage continues to rise 
will dramatically increase. It is estimated that the financial value at stake to the council over the next five 
years is £2,214,969 (See Figure 5.0.).  

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Year

C
O

2
 (

to
n

n
e

s
)

Actual Emissions BAU emissions Target emissions

Total value at stake

(2007-2012)

6,249 tonnes

6,170 tonnes

4,171 tonnes

Figure 4.0. Comparison of CO2 related emissions scenarios: BAU increases versus achieving reduction 
targets.

                                                     
4
 Business-as-Usual demand increase value based on DTI (now DBERR) figures in EP68: 

http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file11257.pdf

125



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 14 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Year

C
o

s
t 

(£
)

Actual Cost BAU Cost Target

Total Value at Stake 

(2007-2012)

£2.2 million

£2, 432, 482

£1, 644, 373

Figure 5.0. Comparison of CO2 related cost scenarios: BAU increases versus achieving reduction 
targets.

126



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 15 

4. Carbon Management Projects 

This section outlines those projects that have been identified through the LACMP. Workshops were 
held with key stakeholders across both Huntingdonshire District Council and Fenland District Council to 
share best practise and engage officers in the production and the delivery of the CMP.  

Several criteria were used to examine the feasibility of projects proposed. These included: 

 Potential for carbon savings. 

 Financial investment required. 

 Staff resource/support required. 

 Technical practicality. 

As many of the projects identified have only just been implemented, are in the process of being 
implemented or still require feasibility studies, some of the figures given in the tables below at this stage 
are only indicative. Please see each project definition template in Appendix B for more information. 

4.1 Existing projects 
Please note: Combined Heat and Power is referred to as CHP. 

4.2 Planned / funded projects 

                                                     
5
 A 10% CO2 saving, based upon calculations using only electricity data in buildings, has been claimed for the 

Green Force awareness campaign in accordance with guidance provided by the Carbon Trust. By establishing a 
network of Green Force Reps across directorates to build capacity and engagement at the local level, the longevity 
and effectiveness of standalone awareness campaigns is thought to increase. 

Annual Saving 

Ref Project Lead

Implementation 
Cost

(£)
Fin

(£)

CO2

(tonnes) 

Pay 
back

(years) 
Year

1. Multifunctional Device 
Project

Andy 
Lusha

42,261 10,781 67 4 2008 

2. Pool Cars Chris 
Jablonski

11,000 2,602 6 4 2008 

3. PIR sensors at Sawtry 
Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2008 

4. CHP at Huntingdon Leisure 
Centre Site1 (wet) 

Pete
Corley 

103,018 26,585 166 4 2008 

5. Travel plans Chris 
Jablonski

12,500 29,000 65 0 2008 

Annual Saving 

Ref Project Lead

Implementation 
Cost

(£)
Fin

(£)

CO2

(tonnes) 

Pay back 
(years) 

Year

6. Re-commission of 2006 
radiators at Sawtry Leisure 
Centre

Pete
Corley 

0 217 1 0 2008 

7. Re-commission AHU’s in 
2006 build at Sawtry 
Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

0 2,896 19 0 2008 

8. Green Force scheme
5
 Tracy 

Martin
5,000 5,810 49 0.9 2009 

9. Wind Power at St Ivo 
Leisure Centre 

Env Man 61,320 7,377 46 8 2009 

127



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 16 

4.3 Near term projects6

Please note: Variable speed drives are referred to as VSD and Passive Infra-Red sensors as PIR’s. 

Annual Saving 

Ref Project Lead

Implementation 
Cost

(£)
Fin

(£)

CO2

(tonnes) 

Pay back 
(years) 

Year

10. Server Virtualisation Simon 
Cunnell

220,000 59,072 88 4 2009 

11. St Ives Enterprise Centre Barry 

LeBailly 

TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC 

12. VSD to supply motors at 
Sawtry Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

13. VSD to supply motors at 
Ramsey Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

14. VSD to supply motors at 
Huntingdon Leisure Centre 

Site1 (wet) 

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

15. VSD to supply motors at 
Huntingdon Leisure Centre 

Site2 (dry) 

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

16. VSD at St Neots Leisure 
Centre

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

17. VSD at St Ivo Leisure 
Centre (Indoor) 

Pete
Corley 

4,000 2,616 16 1.5 2010 

18. PIR sensors at Ramsey 
Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2010 

19. PIR sensors at Huntingdon 
Leisure Centre Site1 (wet) 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2010 

20. PIR sensors at Huntingdon 
Leisure Centre Site2 (dry) 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2010 

21. PIR sensors at St Neots 
Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2010 

22. PIR sensors at St Ivo 
Leisure Centre (Indoor) 

Pete
Corley 

600 582 4 1 2010 

23. Voltage reduction devices 
at Sawtry Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

24. Voltage reduction devices 
at Ramsey Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

25. Voltage reduction devices 
at Huntingdon Leisure 

Centre Site1 (wet) 

Pete
Corley

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

26. Voltage reduction devices 
at Huntingdon Leisure 

Centre Site2 (dry) 

Pete
Corley

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

27. Voltage reduction devices 
at St Neots Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

28. Voltage reduction devices 
at St Ivo Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley

1,357 932 6 1.5 2010 

29. Install timers on vending 
machines, water coolers 

and other relevant 
equipment.

TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC 

                                                     
6
 Please note the savings claimed for VSD, PIR and voltage reduction leisure projects are all based upon figures 

provided by the Carbon Trust for Sawtry Leisure Centre. Some sites will result in greater CO2 and financial savings, 
whilst others will be somewhat less. At this early stage these figures give us a good indication of the savings which 
we hope will be achieved.  Projects will be updated as and when actual information becomes available.  

128



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 17 

30. Install Cavity Wall 
Insulation at Ramsey 

Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

4,030 2,161 40 2 2010 

31. Install Cavity Wall 
Insulation at Huntingdon 

Leisure Centre Site1 (wet) 

Pete
Corley 

1,674 894 55 2 2010 

32. Install Cavity Wall 
Insulation at Sawtry 

Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

4,960 2,666 17 2 2010 

33. Install Cavity Wall 
Insulation at Huntingdon 

Leisure Centre Site2 (dry) 

Pete
Corley 

5,518 2,946 17 2 2010 

34. Install Cavity Wall 
Insulation at St Neots 

Leisure Centre 

Pete
Corley 

6,510 3,500 22 2 2010 

35. Install Cavity Wall 
insulation at St Ivo Leisure 

Centre (indoor) 

Pete
Corley 

1,550 834 5 2 2010 

4.4 Medium to long term projects7

Please note: Combined Heat and Power is referred to as CHP. 

Annual Saving 

Ref Project Lead

Implementation 
Cost

(£)
Fin

(£)

CO2

(tonnes) 

Pay back 
(years) 

Year

 36. CHP at Ramsey Leisure 
Centre

Env Man 100,024 26,585 166 4 2010 

 37. CHP at St Ivo Leisure 
Centre (Indoor) 

Env Man 100,024 27,548 172 4 2011 

 38. CHP at Sawtry Leisure 
Centre

Env Man 100,024 26,585 166 4 2011 

39. CHP at St Neots Leisure 
Centre

Env Man 100,024 26,585 166 4 2012 

A study to identify opportunities for zero carbon decentralised energy within the housing stock of the 
district will be undertaken in 2009.  Historically the biggest barrier to low carbon development has been 
the funding of new infrastructure.  It is intended that the study will identify and investigate the potential 
costs of this infrastructure and indicate how this barrier can be overcome including the identification of 
potential deliver mechanisms.   

The study will initially focus on a planned urban extension in the town of St Neots which will be 
promoted as an ‘eco-quarter’. In the longer term the initial study will form part of a wider evaluation of 
decentralised and renewable energy options for the district as a whole.  

                                                     
7
 Please note the savings claimed for CHP at Huntingdon Leisure Centre (Site2), Ramsey Leisure Centre, Sawtry 

Leisure Centre and St Neots Leisure Centre are based upon figures provided for Huntingdon Leisure Centre (Site1) 
and St Ivo Leisure Centre (Indoor).  Projects will be updated as and when actual information becomes available. 

129



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 18 

4.5 Non-Capital projects 

Incorporate the Council’s vision for carbon management within the staff induction 
programme. By ensuring staff are aware of the Councils approach to carbon management 
from the outset, it is hoped that staff will modify their behaviour in response. The Council’s 
Environment Strategy and wider approach to environmental issues will be outlined to increase 
staff awareness. 

All staff annual Travel 4 Work Survey and Staff Environment Survey. An annual survey 
will allow the Council to assess whether awareness campaigns are effective and also to 
continue to monitor emissions associated with staff travel.

Develop and implement guidance to ensure sustainable and ethical purchasing within 
the organisation. 

4.6 Projected achievement towards target 

By implementing the projects currently identified through the LACMP, Huntingdonshire District Council 
will achieve a 24% reduction in CO2 emissions. Due to the nature of carbon management, the projects 
identified within this document are not absolute and new, innovative projects are continually being 
identified and implemented which will contribute to the 30% reduction target. It is vital that the CMP is 
continually reviewed and updated to reflect the Council’s overall achievement towards the target set. It 
is also vital to acknowledge that to be truly sustainable, carbon management will not cease once the 
programme ends, but rather will remain an ongoing process. 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Year

C
0

2
 (

to
n

n
e
s
)

Predicted Business-

as-Usual emissions

Target emissions

Emissions in chosen

plan

Figure 5.0. Projected achievement towards 30% reduction target.

4.7 Unquantified benefits 

Carbon and financial savings will have significant unquantifiable benefits: 

 Enhance the Council’s reputation and public image on green issues. 

 Ensure the Council is leading by example by influencing business and community. 

 Improve the Council’s performance against the national indicator set, especially NI 185. 

130



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 19 

5. Carbon Management Plan Financing 

The primary focus of the Carbon Management Plan, the Council’s Environment Strategy Growing 
Awareness; A Plan for our Environment  and it’s commitment to the Nottingham Declaration on Climate 
Change is to reduce carbon emissions and mitigate and adapt to climate change.  However, reducing 
carbon emissions will also realise significant financial benefits for the authority at a time when 
increasing energy and fuel prices are causing great concern. In aiming to use public funds efficiently, 
whilst making cost savings; low carbon operations are becoming increasingly important.  

5.1 Assumptions 

In developing the Carbon Management Plan with the baseline year 2007 as the starting point, officers 
have looked at a number of scenarios.  The Business as Usual (BAU) scenario assumes the Authority 
does nothing to reduce energy consumption and reflects actions already taken to reduce emissions.  
The projected carbon emissions have been calculated with the aid of the Carbon Trust’s Baseline 
Toolkit and show expected emissions up to 2012. The financial cost for energy expenditure in the 
baseline year 2007 was approximately £1.6 million.  Under the BAU scenario in 2012 energy 
expenditure is predicted to increase to £2.4 million due to predicted energy consumption and energy 
cost increases. 

The Carbon management plan identifies a Reduced Emissions scenario (RES) under which emissions 
contract by 6% year on year with a 30% emissions reduction against the baseline year achieved in 
2012.  By comparing the Business as Usual scenario (BAU) against the Reduced Emissions scenario 
achieved through successfully implementing the Plan, the total prospective Value at Stake (VAS) up to 
2012 is approximately £2.2 million, this is the aggregated difference between the predicted energy 
spend for the Business as Usual scenario and the energy spend in a Reduced Emissions scenario.   

5.2 Benefits/savings- quantified and un-quantified 

Of the 39 projects identified by the plan, some are existing (already funded) projects. Others, such as 
the Corporate Travel Plan and Green Force initiative, are low, or nil cost measures, which will 
encourage behavioural change in employee travel or use of council buildings.  Other projects such as 
the use of combined heat and power systems at Council leisure centres are ‘spend to save’ initiatives 
that will achieve significant cost savings after an initial investment.   

The average payback period for all of the projects identified to date is 4 years. Whilst some projects 
have received funding through the MTP process (Huntingdon Leisure Centre CHP), others require 
funding and will be subject to the usual budgetary process.  Some of the projects identified involve 
implementing renewable technologies. These projects will attract significant external grant funding from 
the government operated Low Carbon Buildings Programme. In the case of the St Ivo Leisure Centre 
(outdoor) wind turbine project, this will amount to 50% of the total funding requirement. 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012+ TOTAL

Net present cost  
(£000’s) of projects 
identified to date 

169 331 259 200 100 £1.1m

Annual cumulative 
target CO2 savings 
(tonnes)  

452 1,328 2,602 4,250 6,249 6,249

Total cumulative 
annual savings 
covering the 5 years 
of the programme 
(£000’s)- against 
business as usual 
usage

129 400 828 1427 2214 £2.2m

Table 3.0 Costs and savings of the projects identified to date.  

131



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 20 

5.3 Additional Resources 

The successful delivery of this Carbon Management Plan will require non financial resources, 
specifically employee time.  It is anticipated that two days a week will be required from officers within 
the Council’s Environment Team to coordinate implementation, monitor and record progress, secure 
funding and manage an invest to save budget.  This level of commitment will be required throughout the 
five year programme.  It will also be necessary for the Carbon Management Project team to continue to 
meet to support the lead officer and the Project Sponsor will be required to continue to update COMT.  

5.4 Financial costs and sources of funding 

The investment required to implement the projects so far identified within this plan is shown in the table 
below, broken down annually for the period 2008 – 2012. 

Table 4.0 Costs and sources of funding for projects identified in the LACMP. 

It has already been indicated that a variety of funding sources will be sought to enable delivery of the 
projects identified within the plan. To fund some of the capital projects the Council will seek to obtain 
50% funding from an independent not-for-profit company founded by the Carbon Trust in 2004, Salix 
Finance.   

Salix Finance work with public sector bodies to reduce energy costs and carbon emissions by providing 
match funding in the form of a conditional grant based on the size of a local authority’s energy spend. 
Initial discussions with Salix have indicated that the Council may be eligible for an initial conditional 
grant of £75,000 which the Council would be required to match fund to provide a ring fenced pot of 
£150,000. Savings from projects undertaken will be recycled within the pot to fund further energy saving 
projects to generate further carbon savings annually.  It is envisaged that by recycling funding in this 
way and reinvesting the savings made, a total pot of £450,000 could be generated.  

Discussions with Salix financing are ongoing but an application is planned for June 2009 so that eligible 
projects can receive funding as soon as possible within the current financial year.  Salix funding is only 
available for projects deemed cost effective, based on the payback period and the ‘persistence’ of the 
measure i.e. how long it will continue to deliver savings before renewal is necessary.   

figures in £1000’s 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Annual costs: 

Total annual capital cost 169 331 259 200 100 

Total annual revenue cost 0 0 0 0 0 

Total costs 169 331 259 200 100 

Committed funding: 

Committed annual capital 169 285 0 0 0 

Committed annual revenue 0 0 0 0 0 

Total funded 169 285 0 0 0 

Unallocated funding 

Unallocated annual capital 0 46 259 200 100 

Unallocated annual revenue 0 0 0 0 0 

Total unfunded 0 46 259 200 100 

132



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 21 

At least 20 of the projects identified within the plan meet the Salix funding requirements, including:  

 Voltage Optimisation 

 Variable Speed Drives  

 Insulation  

 Timers/Vending Controls 

 PIRs 

133



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 22 

6. Actions to Embed Carbon Management in Your Organisation 

In this section, plans to embed the consideration of carbon emissions through the authority are outlined. 
The Carbon Management Embedding Matrix, provided by the Carbon Trust has provided a framework 
against which all areas have been scored to clearly demonstrate where we are currently and where and 
what action is required over the next 5 years to achieve a 30% reduction in CO2 from baseline year 
2007 (See Appendix A for a copy of the Matrix tool). 

6.1 Corporate Strategy – embedding CO2 saving across your organisation 

Current score:   4 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

The council is committed to making a continual, measurable improvement in its environmental 
performance, driven predominantly by its Environment Strategy ‘Growing Awareness – A Plan for our 
Environment’ which was adopted in April 2008. The objectives of the document are embedded within 
the Council’s policy framework in the following manner: 

 ‘Helping to mitigate and adapt to climate change’ has been identified as a key priority within the 
Council’s Corporate Plan ‘Growing Success’.   

 The Council also has a comprehensive performance management framework which monitors 
all work areas and ensures that they are linked via a ‘corporate scorecard’ and contribute to 
achieving our key priorities.   

 One of the key activities monitored via the corporate scorecard is ‘identifying opportunities to 
reduce CO2 emissions from the Council’s own operation’. 

 Lead officers have been identified for each of the projects contained within the Carbon 
Management Plan and progress against delivering these projects will be monitored via 
individual Service Plans/Work Plans and individual Officers Key Performance Areas (KPAs) 

Areas for development to take the Council forward in embedding carbon reduction across the authority 
will include:  

  Setting targets for different service areas/directorates – Smart metering within the Council’s new 
Headquarters building will enable floor by floor if not directorate by directorate energy monitoring.  

  Embedding these disaggregated targets into service area / directorate business plans – this 
reinforces local commitment and ensures funding / resources are available to meet them. 

6.2 Programme Management – bringing it all together effectively 

Current score:   2 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

By engaging with key stakeholders across both Huntingdonshire District Council and Fenland District 
Council through workshop events, a comprehensive list of carbon reduction opportunities has been 
developed. By working in joint collaboration with Fenland District Council, the Council continues to 
share best practise and gain support with the LACMP. 

Led by the Carbon Trust, the workshops undertaken to date have ensured the Council has gained both 
officer and member commitment to the projects identified. Lead offers have been identified for each 
project to ensure the projects continue to develop at a sufficient rate. Projects are tied to posts within 
the organisation to ensure that projects do not stall in the event of a project lead being unable to 
continue their role. 

134



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 23 

To ensure the projects are progressing at a sufficient rate, regular monitoring of this document will be 
required. For this reason, a formal review of progress against the Carbon Management Plan will take 
place on an annual basis and will involve calculating the actual carbon and financial savings achieved, 
as well as analysing the many unquantifiable benefits associated with project implementation. These 
results will then be communicated to officers and members throughout the council (see Section 6.5). 

For the duration of the LACMP, it will be necessary to continually review the projects within the Carbon 
Management Plan and add to them. To ensure carbon management continues to gain momentum 
within the organisation, following one to one support provided by the Carbon Trust, it will be necessary 
to hold further workshops will both members and officers to identify further carbon saving opportunities. 
This will be done on an annual basis and the plan will be updated accordingly. 

6.3 Responsibility – being clear that saving CO2 is everyone’s job 

Current score:   2 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

Fundamental to the Council reducing its CO2 emissions by 30% over the next five years is increasing 
the awareness of individuals within the organisation to environmental issues and carbon management.  

Responding to this need, the Council will develop a network of ‘Green Force Reps’ to engage officers 
and members at a local level; a method proven to increase the effectiveness and longevity of 
awareness campaigns. Green Force will involve representatives from teams across the council 
planning, overseeing and coordinating a series of environmental projects in a bid to reduce the Councils 
environmental footprint. The project will be coordinated by the Environment Team and will be supported 
by ‘Member Green Force Reps’.  

To measure the progress of projects contained within the Carbon Management Plan, individual Service 
Plans/Work Plans and individual officers Key Performance Areas (KPAs) will be utilised. This will 
ensure project leads take direct responsibility for their projects and report on their progress regularly. 
The regular monitoring and reviewing of the progress of projects and the identification of new projects 
will be vital to assess the actual overall CO2 savings achieved against the proposed savings outlined.  

6.4 Data Management – measuring the difference, measuring the benefit 

Current score:   3 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

Gas and electricity billing information for all Council buildings is collated centrally by the Council’s 
Environmental Management Administration Team. Accurate electricity consumption data is currently 
obtained through a combination of automatic half hourly meter readings at larger sites (over 100kW 
usage) and consultants are employed to read both gas and electricity meters on a monthly basis at 
smaller sites. The consultants readings are then compared to the estimated bills received quarterly at 
these sites.  

As part of this plan the opportunity to install Automatic Meters for both electricity and gas across the 
Council’s estate will be explored.  Automatic Meter reading leads to improved energy management by 
providing the following benefits: 

 Reliable gathering of accurate energy consumption data 

 Eliminates the need to read and submit meter readings 

 An end to estimates, avoiding unexpected charges, complex credits and rebilling 

 Demonstrate trends and highlight excess energy use 

135



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 24 

The Council’s electricity supplier Scottish and Southern electricity (SWALEC) is currently offering the 
provision of Automatic Meters free of charge at smaller sites for councils purchasing through the 
Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO).  The Council currently purchases it’s electricity direct 
from (SWALEC) and but will investigate whether free meters can be provided within our currently 
contractual arrangements. 

6.5 Communication and Training – ensuring everyone is aware 

Current score:   2 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

The Carbon Management Plan is the first step in demonstrating the Council’s commitment to 
addressing climate change at a local level. The Plan aims to reduce CO2 emissions resulting from all 
aspects of the Council’s day to day operations; buildings, fleet transport, staff commuting and business 
mileage. It examines how energy is currently being consumed and investigates where carbon and 
financial savings can be made. 

To be successful and result in a 30% reduction in CO2, officer and member buy-in to the programme 
and participation within it is vital. Communicating the benefits of the programme and feeding back on 
the success of the projects is therefore of utmost importance. So too is the need to continually reinforce 
the need to further identify carbon reduction opportunities. To ensure everyone is aware, the Council 
will increase the awareness of the programme through: 

 Information on the intranet 

 Articles in the Councils newsletter- Team News 

 Awareness raising posters and competitions 

 Staff surveys 

 E-mails 

 Green Force Reps 

 Further workshops with the Carbon Management Team 

 Chief Officer Management Team (COMT) briefings 

There is a need to ensure new staff, as well as existing staff, are aware of the Councils approach to 
carbon management, and the reasons for the approach. To ensure new starters are aware from the 
outset, the Council will include a section on the environment strategy within the induction programme. 
This will allow the Council to highlight its low carbon vision and it’s strive towards developing a low 
carbon council culture. 

The authority’s achievements will also be communicated externally to demonstrate the measures being 
taken by the Council to reduce its carbon emissions, and approach to tackling climate change. By doing 
so, the Council hopes to demonstrate best practise within the local community and encourage other 
organisations to adopt a similar approach to improving the environment sustainability of their practises. 
The Council’s activities will be communicated via: 

 Press releases 

 Articles in the bi-monthly residents magazine- District Wide 

 Community engagement events 

 Council website 

 Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership- via the Environment Forum 

136



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 25 

As leisure centres produce 70% of all CO2 emissions arising from Council buildings, it is especially 
important that the Council demonstrates how it is reducing consumption at these sites. Pull up banners 
and posters have been developed by the Leisure Centres to communicate the energy policies in place, 
whilst promotional materials, provided by the Carbon Trust, are being used to remind customers how 
they can do their bit for the environment when accessing the leisure sites.  

6.6 Finance and Investment – the money to match the commitment 

Current score:   3 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

It is anticipated that projects identified within the plan will be funded through the Council’s Medium Term 
Planning Process or as invest to save projects either financed exclusively from the council’s own 
resources or by obtaining match funding from external sources. 

Project leads will be required to bid for funding for their carbon reduction and projects with shorter 
payback times will be funded as invest to save bids. Additional funding will be sought through the SALIX 
financing scheme.  Grant funding from the Low carbon Building Programme will also be sought for 
projects involving the installation of renewable energy sources. 

6.7 Policy Alignment – saving CO2 across your operations 

Current score:   2 

Score in 5 year’s time:  5 

The Council is currently in the process of producing a sustainable procurement strategy. Procurement 
has a key role to play in delivering the Authority’s carbon reduction objectives and the aim of the 
strategy is to ensure that sustainable purchasing is incorporated into the whole procurement process: 
defining the need, evaluating options, design and specifying, supplier selection, tender evaluation, post-
contract management and supplier development. 

To ensure that travel by employees of the Council fits with the objectives of the plan, a review of the 
essential user allowance system is also taking place advocating a move to a single tier allowance 
scheme. Abolishing ‘essential’ and ‘casual’ user status will remove incentives for employees to drive 
their own private cars at work and encourage the use of the Council’s fleet of pool cars.  The current 
scheme pays a higher mileage rate for a larger engine size which is currently an incentive to drive 
potentially higher emission vehicles. Essential users are also required to drive at least 1,500 miles 
otherwise the lump sum they receive can be taken away from them, which is again an incentive to 
ensure that this level of mileage is achieved during the year. 

The procurement Strategy will be completed by the Council’s Procurement Officer in 2009 and the 
Head of Human Resources will lead the review of Employees travel allowances. It is hoped that this 
project will be completed in 2009/10. 

137



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 26 

7. Programme Management of the CM Programme 

Good programme governance is fundamental to the delivery of the CMP. By gaining clear ownership to 
deliver the CMP, and thus NI 185, through engaging with Members and Officers at Huntingdonshire 
District Council, all action plans have been brought together to establish a holistic, coordinated 
approach to carbon management. The key stakeholder groups and individuals involved with the 
production of Huntingdonshire District Councils CMP are illustrated below (Figure 6.0).  

Figure 6.0. Governance of the carbon management programme. 

Throughout all developmental stages of the Councils CMP, Cabinet and Members of the Council have 
been made fully aware of the programme, the reasoning behind it and the projects being considered. 
Cabinet will approve the final version of the CMP and will be responsible for its ultimate sign off. 
Additionally, it is vital that all Chief Officers, through the Chief Officer Management Team (COMT), are 
aware of the possibilities and the potential for both carbon and cost savings through the projects 
identified by officers within the Carbon Management Team.  

7.1 Chief Officer Management Team (COMT) – strategic ownership and oversight 

It will be the responsibility of COMT to provide a strategic overview of the Carbon Management Plan. To 
enable this progress will be reported to COMT on a six monthly basis as the plan is implemented. 
Reporting will include: 

 Details of CO2 savings against the Councils 30% reduction target  

 Financial savings achieved 

 An assessment of less quantifiable benefits such as the results of behavioural change initiatives 

 Blockages to achieving the objectives of the plan 

On the basis of the information received on activities and projects undertaken, COMT will be able to 
gauge the progress of the plan and identify any issues that they feel need resolving in relation to overall 
plan delivery or the progress of individual projects identified within the plan.  

The primary link between COMT, Members and the Carbon Management Team will be the Project 
Sponsor; Malcolm Sharp who will play a key role in reporting the progress of the CMP to Members and 
COMT and setting the strategic direction for carbon management. The CMP will also directly link into 
the delivery of Huntingdonshire District Councils Environment Strategy and the CMP’s progress will be 
reported through the Environment Strategy annual review process. 

Carbon Management Team 

Chief Officer Management 
Team (COMT) 

Project Lead: Chris Jablonski
Deputy PL: Samantha King 

Environment Strategy 
Members Working Group 

Cabinet 

138



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 27 

Role Name and position in the LA Contact details 

Project Leader Chris Jablonski 

Team Leader, Environment 

01480 388368 

chris.jablonski@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Deputy Project Leader Samantha King 

Environmental Management Officer 

01480 388268 

samantha.king@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Project Sponsor Malcolm Sharp 

Director of Environmental & Community 
Services

01480 388301 

malcolm.sharp@huntsdc.gov.uk 

David Monks 

Chief Executive 

01480 388001 

andrea.lucken@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Ian Leatherbarrow 

Director of Central Services 

01480 388047 

ian.leatherbarrow@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Malcolm Sharp 

Head of Environmental and Community 
Services

01480 388300 

malcolm.sharp@huntdc.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Management 
Team (COMT) 

Terry Parker 

Director of Commerce and Technology 

01480 388100 

terry.parker@huntsdc.gov.uk 

7.2 The Carbon Management Team – delivering the projects 

The Carbon Management Team consists of key officers within the Council who are directly involved in 
the delivery of the CMP. The Project Lead will chair bi-monthly meetings of the Carbon Management 
Team to review the progress of activities and projects to identify any blockages that need to be raised 
with the Programme Board.  

Role Name and position in the LA Contact details 

Janet Warren 

Facilities Management Officer 

01480 388394 

janet.warren@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Nigel Arkle 

Procurement Manager 

01480 388104 

nigel.arkle@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Pete Corley 

Health & Safety Co-ordinator, Leisure 
Services

01480 388369 

pete.corley@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Wayne Channon 

HR & Payroll Systems Manager 

01480 388158 

wayne.channon@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Oliver Colbert 

Principal Accountant 

01480 388109 

oliver.colbert@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Pete Lummis 

Project Manager 

01480 388372 

pete.lummis@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Julia Blackwell 

Environmental Management Officer 

01480 388288 

julia.blackwell@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Heather Gilling 

Communications & Marketing Manager 

01480 388033 

heather.gilling@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Tracey Seaton 

Administration Officer 

01480 388304 

tracey.seaton@huntsdc.gov.uk 

Carbon Management 
Team Members 

Andrew Howes 

ICT Operations Manager 

01480 388121 

andrew.howes@huntsdc.gov.uk 

139



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 28 

7.3 Succession planning for key roles 

As the Carbon Management Programme looks to implement carbon saving opportunities over the next 
five years, it is necessary to demonstrate how the projects will progress in the event that a project lead 
leaves his/her post. To prevent the programme stalling due to staff turnover before the programme has 
been fully established and embedded, we have ensured that the projects are not tied to the individuals 
involved but rather to posts within the authority. 

In the event that a project lead leaves his/her post, his/her successor will take on that role and progress 
that project further. 

7.4 Ongoing stakeholder management

Individual or Group Their interest or issues  Means of Communication 

HDC Cabinet and 
Members of the 
Council 

Necessary for all members to be fully 
aware of the ongoing development of 
the Carbon Management Plan. 

Six monthly reports to Cabinet. 

Chief Officer 
Management Team 

Vital for all chief Officers to be aware of 
the possibilities and the potential for 
both carbon and cost savings as a result 
of the projects under consideration. 

Six monthly reports to COMT. 

Cllr Terry Rogers 

Environment 

Aside from Malcolm Sharp, Councillor 
Rogers will be the primary link with 
Cabinet and Councillors in general. 

Regular updates from Paul Jose/Malcolm 
Sharp

Malcolm Sharp 

Director of 
Environmental & 
Community Services 

As project sponsor Malcolm will be the 
primary link between the Carbon 
Management Team, Chief Officers and 
Members

Regular updates from Paul Jose and 
attendance at future opportunities 
workshops. 

Greening the 
Business Project 
Group

Greening the Business Project Group 
doubles as the Carbon Management 
Team but the remit covers all internal 
projects deemed to bring environmental 
benefit. 

The team will be responsible for scoping 
possible projects in their service areas 
and communicating the aims of the 
project to colleagues 

Future opportunities workshops- to be 
determined. 

Quarterly Greening the Business project 
meetings. 

Steve Couper 

Head of Finance 

Costs/Budgets Project Lead to liaise regularly regarding 
progress of individual projects and annual 
spend on invest to save initiatives. 

Future opportunities workshops- to be 
determined. 

Robert Ward 

Head of Operations 

Fleet Management, options for fuel use, 
vehicle renewals and engine 
management systems to limit fuel use 

Operations representative on the 
Greening the Business group to update 
regularly. 

Chris Hall  

Head of Information 
Management 

A number of projects have been 
identified concerning the way we 
manage information and ICT Services.  
Server Virtualisation being that 
presenting the greatest scope. 

IMD representative on the Greening the 
Business group to update regularly. 

140



Huntingdonshire District Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                 working with   

Page 29 

Heather Gilling  

Communications & 
Marketing Manager 

Important to provide a consistent and 
accessible message to Members Staff 
and the wider community as part of the 
wider publicity around the Environment 
Strategy. 

Team News will play a significant role in 
publicising the project internally. 

Project Lead to liaise regularly. 

Future opportunities workshops- to be 
determined. 

7.5 Annual progress review 

A formal review of progress against the Carbon Management Plan will take place on an annual basis. 
Statistical analysis of the carbon reduction achieved by the Council will take place every calendar year, 
whereas a review of the projects identified and any proposed projects will take place alongside the 
Councils Medium-Term Planning (MTP) process. This will also coincide with the review of “Growing 
Awareness-A Plan for our Environment”, Huntingdonshire District Council’s Environment Strategy.  

CO2 savings against the Councils 30% reduction target will be assessed, so too will the financial 
savings achieved and other less quantifiable benefits will be assessed to holistically demonstrate the 
impact carbon management has had each year. Progress will be reported to Cabinet annually. 

141



H
u
n
ti
n
g
d

o
n
s
h
ir

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o
u

n
c
il 

C
a
rb

o
n
 M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

C
a
rb

o
n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 

 
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h
 

 
  

P
a
g
e
 3

0
 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 A

: 
C

a
rb

o
n

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
M

a
tr

ix
 -

 E
m

b
e
d

d
in

g
 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 

S
T

R
A

T
E

G
Y

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

 
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

IL
IT

Y
 

D
A

T
A

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 
C

O
M

M
U

N
IC

A
T

IO
N

 &
 

T
R

A
IN

IN
G

 
F

IN
A

N
C

E
 &

 
IN

V
E

S
T

M
E

N
T

P
O

L
IC

Y
 A

L
IG

N
M

E
N

T
 *

 

5

 
T

o
p

 l
e

v
e

l 
ta

rg
e

t 
a

llo
c
a

te
d

 a
c
ro

s
s
 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n

 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 
in

 D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

P
la

n
s

 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
/ 

S
M

T
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 
o
n
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl

y
 b

a
s
is

 

 
Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 d

ia
g

n
o

s
ti
c
 

re
p

o
rt

s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 t
o

 
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s

 
P

ro
g

re
s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
t 

p
u

b
lis

h
e

d
 e

x
te

rn
a

lly
 

 
C

M
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 i
n

 
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 o

f 
s
e

n
io

r 
m

a
n

a
g

e
rs

 
C

M
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

a
ll 

jo
b

 
d

e
s
c
ri

p
ti
o

n
s

 
C

e
n

tr
a

l 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 

a
d

v
ic

e
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 

 
G

re
e

n
 C

h
a

m
p

io
n

s
 

le
a

d
in

g
 l
o

c
a

l 
a

c
ti
o

n
 

g
ro

u
p

s

 
Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 c

o
lla

ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

O
2
e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

 
D

a
ta

 e
x
te

rn
a

lly
 v

e
ri

fi
e

d
 

 
M

&
T

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 f
o

r:
  

o
 b

u
ild

in
g

s
 

o
 s

tr
e

e
t 

lig
h

ti
n

g
 

o
 w

a
s
te

 

 
A

ll 
s
ta

ff
 g

iv
e

n
 f

o
rm

a
lis

e
d

 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
:

o
 

in
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

o
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 

 
J
o

in
t 

C
M

 
c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 w

it
h

 
k
e

y
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 

 
S

ta
ff

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 t

e
s
te

d
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 s

u
rv

e
y
s
 

 
F

in
a

n
c
e

 c
o

m
m

it
te

d
 f

o
r 

2
+

y
rs

 o
f 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

 
E

x
te

rn
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 b
e

in
g

 
ro

u
ti
n

e
ly

 o
b

ta
in

e
d

  

 
R

in
g

-f
e

n
c
e

d
 f

u
n

d
 f

o
r 

c
a

rb
o

n
 r

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 

 
C

O
2
 f

ri
e

n
d

ly
 o

p
e

ra
ti
n

g
 

p
ro

c
e

d
u

re
 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 

 
C

e
n

tr
a

l 
te

a
m

 p
ro

v
id

e
 

a
d

v
ic

e
 a

n
d

 r
e

v
ie

w
, 

w
h

e
n

 
re

q
u

e
s
te

d

 
B

a
rr

ie
rs

 t
o
 C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 

ro
u

ti
n

e
ly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

n
d

 
re

m
o

v
e

d

4

 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

t 
in

 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

 
T

o
p

 l
e

v
e

l 
ta

rg
e

ts
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

C
O

2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n

 
C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a

n
g

e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
e

d
 

a
n

n
u

a
lly

 

 
S

p
o

n
s
o

r 
re

v
ie

w
s
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 a

n
d

 r
e

m
o

v
e

s
 

b
lo

c
k
a

g
e

s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
re

g
u

la
r 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

B
o

a
rd

s

 
P

ro
g

re
s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 
ro

u
ti
n

e
ly

 r
e

p
o

rt
e

d
 t

o
 

S
e

n
io

r 
M

g
t 

T
e

a
m

 

 
C

M
 i
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 i
n

 t
o

 
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 o

f 
d

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t 

 h
e

a
d

s
 

 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
/ 

S
M

T
 r

e
g

u
la

rl
y
 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 
S

ta
ff

 e
n

g
a

g
e

d
 t

h
o

u
g

h
 

G
re

e
n

 C
h

a
m

p
io

n
 

n
e

tw
o

rk
 

 
A

n
n

u
a

l 
c
o

lla
ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

O
2

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 f

o
r:

o
 b

u
ild

in
g

s
 

o
 s

tr
e

e
t 

lig
h

ti
n

g
 

o
 t

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

 
o

 w
a

s
te

 

 
D

a
ta

 i
n

te
rn

a
lly

 r
e

v
ie

w
e

d
 

 
A

ll 
s
ta

ff
 g

iv
e

n
 C

O
2

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
:

o
 

in
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 

o
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 

o
 

C
M

 m
a

tt
e

rs
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
d

 t
o

 
e

x
te

rn
a

l 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
  

 
C

o
o

rd
in

a
te

d
 f

in
a

n
c
in

g
 

fo
r 

C
O

2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 v
ia

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

B
o

a
rd

 
F

in
a

n
c
e

s
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 1

y
r 

a
h

e
a

d

 
S

o
m

e
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
fi
n

a
n

c
in

g
 

 
C

o
m

p
re

h
e

n
s
iv

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

o
f 

p
o

lic
ie

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

 
L

o
w

e
r 

le
v
e

l 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 

re
v
ie

w
e

d
 l
o

c
a

lly
 

 
U

n
p

o
p

u
la

r 
c
h

a
n

g
e
s
 

b
e

in
g

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 

3

 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 v

is
io

n
 

c
le

a
rl

y
 s

ta
te

d
 a

n
d

 
p

u
b

lis
h

e
d

 
C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a

n
g

e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 e

n
d

o
rs

e
d

 b
y
 

C
a

b
in

e
t 

a
n

d
 p

u
b

lic
is

e
d

 
w

it
h

 s
ta

ff
 

 
C

o
re

 t
e
a
m

 r
e
g
u
la

rl
y
 

re
v
ie

w
 C

M
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
: 

o
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 

o
 p

ro
fi
le

 &
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 
o

 n
e

w
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 

 
A

n
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
  

fu
ll 

ti
m

e
 f

o
c
u

s
 f

o
r 

C
O

2

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
c
o

o
rd

in
a

ti
o

n
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e

 
o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n

 
S

e
n

io
r 

S
p

o
n

s
o

r 
a

c
ti
v
e

ly
 

e
n

g
a

g
e

d

 
C

o
lla

ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

O
2

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

lim
it
e

d
 

s
c
o

p
e

 i
.e

. 
b

u
ild

in
g

s
 o

n
ly

 

 
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
/ 

e
n

e
rg

y
 

g
ro

u
p

(s
) 

g
iv

e
n

 a
d

 h
o

c
: 

 

o
 

tr
a

in
in

g
 

o
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 

 
A

 v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
s
t 

o
f 

C
O

2

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
s
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

in
g

, 
b

u
t 

 f
in

a
n

c
e

 r
e

m
a
in

s
 a

d
-

h
o

c

 
S

o
m

e
 c

e
n

tr
a

lis
e

d
 

re
s
o

u
rc

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 

 
F

in
a

n
c
e

 r
e

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

o
n

 C
M

 T
e

a
m

 

 
A

ll 
h

ig
h

 l
e

v
e

l 
a

n
d
 s

o
m

e
 

m
id

 l
e

v
e

l 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 

re
v
ie

w
e

d
, 
ir

re
g

u
la

rl
y
 

 
S

u
b

s
ta

n
ti
a

l 
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 

m
a

d
e

, 
s
h

o
w

in
g

 C
O

2

s
a

v
in

g
s

2

 
D

ra
ft

 C
lim

a
te

 C
h

a
n

g
e

 
P

o
lic

y
 

 
C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a

n
g

e
 

re
fe

re
n

c
e

s
 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s

 
A

d
 h

o
c
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
C

M
 

a
c
ti
o

n
s
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 

 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 a

 p
a

rt
-

ti
m

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

a
 

fe
w

 d
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
c
h

a
m

p
io

n
s

 
N

o
 C

O
2
e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 d

a
ta

 
c
o

m
p

ile
d

 
E

n
e

rg
y
 d

a
ta

 c
o

m
p
ile

d
 o

n
 

a
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
b

a
s
is

 

 
R

e
g

u
la

r 
a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 

c
a

m
p

a
ig

n
s

 
S

ta
ff

 g
iv

e
n

 C
M

 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

n
 a

d
-h

o
c
 

b
a

s
is

 
A

d
 h

o
c
 f

in
a

n
c
in

g
 f

o
r 

C
O

2

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 

 
P

a
rt

ia
l 
re

v
ie

w
 o

f 
k
e

y
, 

h
ig

h
 l
e

v
e

l 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 

 
S

o
m

e
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l 
q

u
ic

k
 

w
in

s
 m

a
d

e
 

1
 
N

o
 p

o
lic

y
  

 
N

o
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a

n
g

e
 

re
fe

re
n

c
e

 
N

o
 C

M
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 

 
N

o
 r

e
c
o

g
n

is
e

d
 C

O
2

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

 

 
N

o
 C

O
2
e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 d

a
ta

 
c
o

m
p

ile
d

 
E

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 b

ill
in

g
 

 
N

o
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
 o

r 
tr

a
in

in
g

 
N

o
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 f
o

r 
C

O
2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 
 
N

o
 a

lig
n

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

p
o

lic
ie

s
 

fo
r 

C
O

2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
  

B
E
S
T

W
o
r
s
t

* 
M

a
jo

r 
o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a
l 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

c
e

d
u

re
s
, 

e
.g

. 
C

a
p

it
a

l 
P

ro
je

c
ts

, 
P

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t,
 H

R
, 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 T

ra
v
e

l 

142



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 31 

Appendix B: Definition of Projects 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 1

Project

Reference 

Multifunctional Device Project 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Andy Lusha 

Department Administration 

Description Installation of Multifunctional Devices throughout Council offices to reduce 
the amount of energy consumed by individual devices. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £10,781 pa 

 Payback period: 4 years 

 Energy saving: 125,358 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 67 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 3 years

Funding  Financial investment: £42,261 

 Operational costs: £12,647 pa

 Source of funding: Internal. 

Resources This project will be delivered within current resources. 

Ensuring
Success 

 To maximise the energy savings achieved, it will be necessary to 
promote waste minimisation within the organisation and train individuals 
on the most efficient way of using the devices. The Green Champions 
scheme will support this project. 

Measuring 
Success 

 Meter readings, running reports and logging use of the printers. 

Project
Timescales

 Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Start of implementation- January 2009 

o Ongoing project

Notes

143



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 32 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 2

Project:

Reference: 

HDC Pool Cars

Project
Management 

Environmental Team 

Lead officer Chris Jablonski 

Department Environmental Management 

Description In April 2007 the Council purchased a fleet of four low emission pool cars as 
part of the Corporate Travel Plan. The fleet consists of a Toyota Prius Hybrid 
with emissions of 104g of CO2 per kilometre and three Toyota Yaris with CO2

emissions of 119g/km.  

It is anticipated that when the fleet is being used at full capacity (71,000km 
per year) there will be significant CO2 savings from employees not using 
their own, often less efficient vehicles, for work miles and also by 
encouraging a modal shift away from travelling to work by car, in the 
knowledge that the pool cars are available should a car be needed during 
the working day. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £2,602. 

 CO2 Emissions reduction:  6 Tonnes CO2 Per Annum when fleet 
operating at capacity. 

 Operational life of the project (ongoing)

Funding  Financial investment: £11,000 per annum, lease hire of vehicles 

 Operational costs: £ 6,000 per annum maintenance, servicing etc.

Source of funding: Internal 

Funded project 

Resources No additional resource required, this project will be delivered within 
current resources. 

Ensuring
Success 

To enable the scheme to be delivered at zero net cost adequate 
promotion of the vehicles will be required 

Principal risks: Vehicles used insufficiently to warrant continuation of 
scheme.  Administration of scheme places unacceptable burden on 
current resources 

Measuring 
Success 

Monthly spreadsheet for vehicle use can be used to calculate costs and 
carbon savings  

Current vehicles on three year lease which runs until April 2010. 
Evaluation of scheme will be undertaken prior to renewal of lease 
agreement.  

Project
Timescales

Existing Project running initially to April 2010 

Notes Overview of progress 

Include photographs of project wherever possible 

144



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 33 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 3 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red sensors at Sawtry Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environmental Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of passive infrared sensors to the sports hall and old building 
changing and toilet facilities, these will be directly linked to the lighting in 
these rooms. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £582 pa 

 Payback period: 1 year 

 Energy saving: 6,770 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 4 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):10 years

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment: £600 

 Operational costs: £0 pa

Source of funding: internal. 

Maybe eligible for Enhanced Capital Allowance 

The decision was granted back in April 2008. 

Resources Additional resource: none. 

Ensuring
Success 

The units will not require any user interaction once installed; the 
success should be noticed straight away with the first month of metre 
readings. 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school 

o Delivery September 2008 

o Commission date September 2008 

o Will deliver financial savings by October 2009. 

Notes The installation so far was slightly delayed due to access to some of the 
changing facilities over the summer holiday period, currently the only 
outstanding work is the sports hall. 

145



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 34 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 4 

Project

Reference 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site1 
(wet) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of a combined heat and power system to provide the leisure 
centre with a proportion of its energy requirements. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £26,585 

 Payback period: 4 years 

 Energy saving: 309,124 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 166 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 15 years

Funding  Financial investment: £103,018 

 Operational costs: £29,633 pa

Source of funding: MTP bid 

The decision was granted in February 2008. 

Resources Additional resource: None. Wayne Palmer had office shift set aside for 
the delivery of the unit. 

An additional fee of £1,397 was required for EDF (£1,000 allowed in 
original cost) but came to £2,397. 

Ensuring
Success 

Health & Safety method statements and Risk Assessments along with a 
site visit were all made pre delivery which allowed a successful delivery 
of the unit. 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings 

Electronic reports from CHP unit. 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school 

o Delivery July 2008 

o Commission date September 2008 

o Will deliver savings (after payback time) in 8
th
 running year 

Notes Overview of progress 

The delivery and instillation of the unit ran smoothly 

See photos attached G:\Climate Change\LACM Programme\CHP 
Pictures\CHP Pictures  

146



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 35 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 5 

Project:

Reference: 

Corporate Travel Plan

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Chris Jablonski 

Department Environmental Management 

Description The Councils Corporate Travel Plan, published in 2006,  includes an over 
arching target to reduce the percentage of employees travelling to work 
alone by car to 50% by 2009/10, by achieving a  modal shift to more 
sustainable alternatives bringing significant reductions in CO2 emissions.   

In the baseline year of 2007 63% of employees travelled to work alone by 
car (as measured through the Annual Travel for Work Survey, undertaken in 
conjunction with the Cambridgeshire Travel for Work Partnership). If the 
headline target of 50% by 2010 is achieved this will amount to a saving of 
130 tonnes of CO2 or 65 tonnes per annum, based of the following formula:- 

Average number of working days per annum (250) x Average return journey 
to work (30km) x average CO2 emissions from Private UK car (167.2g/km) x 
% of employees Travelling to work alone by car (63% in 2007 –50% in 2010 
based on 794 total full time, part time and temporary employees in 2007 )  

The following  projects contained within the plan are together designed to 
achieve the overall modal shift and necessary reduction in carbon emissions:

Camshare – promoting car sharing 

Cycling and walking promotions 

Introduction of Site Specific Travel Plans 

Home working 

Public Transport 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 65 tonnes of  CO2 pa

Benefits  Financial savings: £29,000 

 Payback period: 0 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 65 t 2008, 130t 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012.

Funding  Financial investment – £12,500

Resources Project will be delivered within current resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Site specific employee travel plans to be implemented at each of the 
Council’s main sites 

Principal risks: Lack of officer time to prepare site specific plans

Measuring 
Success 

Modal shift away from sole occupant use of the private car 

Measured by annual Travel for Work Survey

Review of the Corporate Travel Plan in 2010/11

Project
Timescales

Ongoing project with targets until 2009/10 – Then reassessed 

147



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 36 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 6 

Project:

Reference: 

Re-commission of 2006 Radiators at Sawtry Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description During the Carbon Trust survey it was noticed that the radiators were on in 
the newer (2006) building area because the controls and valve gear have 
not been correctly commissioned. 

It is therefore recommended that the controls etc are re-commissioned to 
operate correctly. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £217 pa 

 Payback period: 0 years-Immediate 

 Energy saving: 7,500 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 1 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 15 years

Funding  Financial investment: £0 

 Operational costs: £50 pa

The decision was granted in August 2008 for plant survey. 

Resources Additional resource: Time will be given to Andy Bainbridge to 
accompany the engineer from Universal Systems and Controls Ltd 
during the survey. 

Ensuring
Success 

Key success factors: The completion of the survey done by Universal 
Systems and Controls Ltd. 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings. 

Noticeable internal environmental conditions improve. 

Reduction of reactive maintenance work in the coming years. 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school. 

o Delivery of survey September 2008. 

o Will deliver savings as soon as re-commissioning has taken place. 

o The time needed to chase up the original installers. 

Notes The survey will be of the whole building; this may highlight other areas that 
need to be re-commissioned. The pool hall and the changing areas have 
currently got environmental temperature issues, with the knowledge gained 
from the survey a further plan will be made to action the re-commissioning 
of the old building’s plant and AHU.  

148



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 37 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 7 

Project:

Reference: 

Re-commission AHU’s in 2006 build at Sawtry Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description During the Carbon Trust survey it was reported that the air handling unit 
(AHU) heater batteries were always on even during hot weather because the 
controls and valve gear has not been correctly commissioned. 

It is therefore recommended that the controls etc are re-commissioned to 
operate correctly. 

The actual consumption by these units has been estimated using information 
provided and some assumptions. Potential savings have been estimated at 
20%

Benefits  Financial savings: £2,896 pa 

 Payback period: 0 years- Immediate 

 Energy saving: 100,214 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction:19 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 10 years 

Funding  Financial investment: £ 0 

 Operational costs: £200 pa.

The decision was granted in August 2008 for plant survey. 

Resources Additional resource: Time will be given to Andy Bainbridge to 
accompany the engineer from Universal Systems and Control Ltd 
during the survey. 

Ensuring
Success 

Key success factors: The completion of the survey done by Universal 
Systems and Control Ltd. 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings. 

Noticeable internal environmental conditions improve. 

Reduction of reactive maintenance work in the coming years. 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school. 

o Delivery of survey in September 2008. 

o Will deliver savings as soon as the re-commissioning has taken 
place.

o The time needed to chase up the original installers. 

Notes The survey will be of the whole building; this may highlight other areas that 
need to be re-commissioned. The pool hall and the changing areas have 
currently got environmental temperature issues, with the knowledge gained 
from the survey a further plan will be made to action the re-commissioning 
of the old building’s plant and AHU. 

149



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 38 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 8 

Project

Reference 

Green Force 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Tracy Martin 

Department Environmental Management 

Description A staff awareness campaign involving representatives from teams across the 
council planning, overseeing and coordinating a series of environmental 
projects. 

Benefits  Financial savings: £7,887 pa 

 Payback period: 0 years 

 Energy saving: 91,706 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 49 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 4 years

Funding  Financial investment: £5,000 

 Operational costs: £5,000 pa

Source of funding: internal- MTP bid. 

Resources This project will be delivered within current resources. The Green 
Champions scheme will be coordinated by the Environment Team. 

Ensuring
Success 

Key success factors: The successful recruitment of Green Force Reps 
across all directorates and a commitment to the programme over the 
lifetime of the project. To ensure the project is successful it will be 
necessary to have good support and feedback structures in place to 
maintain interest in the scheme. 

Principal risks: We are unsuccessful in recruiting Green Force Reps 
and keeping them interested in the scheme.

Measuring 
Success 

Meter Readings 

Annual Green Survey- illustrating behavioural change that the scheme 
results in. 

Increasing number of individuals interested in the Green Force initiative.

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates  

o Recruitment Drive: Start May 2009 

o First Official Green Champions meeting: 5
th
 June 2009

Notes Please see Appendix C for associated Green Champions Communications 
Plan.

150



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 39 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 9 

Project:

Reference: 

Wind Power at the St Ivo Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of wind turbines to provide the leisure centre with a proportion of 
its energy requirements 

Benefits  Financial savings: £11,283 pa 

 Payback period: 8 years 

 Energy saving: 85,780 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 46 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 25 years

Funding  Financial investment: £122, 639 (50% grant funding will reduce Council 
funding required). 

 Operational costs: £1,000 pa

Potential source of funding: E.ON Source Fund-up to £30,000, Low 
Carbon Buildings Programme Phase 2-up to 50% of total (requires 
planning approval first) HDC/CCC. BRE CSEP- up to £50k or 50% of 
total-application is complex and time consuming. 

SRE Technologies can complete applications on our behalf, yes, but 
the application must come from the applicant not the consultant or the 
installer.

Resources Staff training is provided on completion of the project, i.e. emergency 
shutdown procedures in case of buildings etc. 

This project will be delivered within current resources. 

Ensuring
Success 

Planning approval, Funding, DNO approval. 

If any of the above were not approved, it would be difficult for the 
project to proceed. i.e. planning, funding and DNO approval. 

Measuring 
Success 

Successful installation of turbines on site 

Success in gaining grant funding 

Energy Generation in line with projections

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o LCBP Funding Application April 2009 – (Approved) 

o Planning Application (summer 2009) 

o completion Spring (2010) 

Notes

151



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 40 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 10 

Project

Reference 

Server Virtualisation 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Simon Cunnell 

Department Information Management Division (IMD) 

Description The Consolidation of many physical servers into multiple Virtual 
environments hosted on a single platform 

This is done to Reduce Cost, Energy Consumption, Heat Output, Rack 
Space, rollout, time taken to support, as  well as increase Resilience and 
Availability

This can be attained due to the speed of modern Processors and the under 
utilisation of a single Operating system running on them (Typically as low as 
5%).  It is now possible to run 12 or more Virtual Operating Systems on a 
single Physical Host, pushing utilisation towards 60% and therefore 
leveraging investments. 

To remove the element of ‘All your eggs in one Basket’, Physical Hosts are 
configured in Farms, enabling Virtual Operating Systems to be run in the 
most efficient and resilient manor spread across the farm of hosts.

Benefits  Financial savings: £59,072 pa 

 Payback period: 4 years 

 Energy saving: 163,628h’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 88 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 5 years

Funding  Financial investment: £220,000 

 Operational costs: £20,000 pa

Source of funding: internal 

MTP bid approved in March 2009 

Resources  IMD – Project being delivered within current resources

Ensuring
Success 

 Project has been agreed and is in the process of being implemented

Measuring 
Success 

End of ICM contract covering current hardware in place- saving 
£40,000pa. 

Reduction in energy consumed by servers 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o start of implementation: April 2009 

Notes

152



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 41 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 11 

Project

Reference 

St Ives Enterprise Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Barry LeBailly 

Department Environmental Management 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

153



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 42 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 12 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD)  to supply motors at Sawtry Leisure 
Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Sawtry Leisure Centre operates 4 air handling units, each with supply and 
extract fans, plus a main pool pump. 

These fans and pump run continuously at full speed regardless of demand. 

If a variable speed device (VSD) i.e. inverter, were fitted to the motor, the 
fan/pump speed could be reduced to suit the requirement. 

Substantial savings can be made by fitting inverters to centrifugal fans and 
pumps and slowing them down by a small amount. A 10% reduction in speed 
results in a 30% reduction in motor energy consumption. 

Many systems are ‘over engineered’ and fan speeds can often be reduced a 
small amount without a detrimental effect on the operation of the system. 

An additional saving not included in these calculations is that the heat extracted 
from the building is reduced with lower fan speeds.

Benefits  Financial savings: £2,616 pa 

 Payback period: 1.5 years 

 Energy saving: 30,420 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 16 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):10 years

Funding  Financial investment: £4,000 

 Operational costs: £200 pa

Source of funding: internal-maybe eligible for a CT loan. 

Maybe eligible for Enhanced Capital Allowance. 

Resources Approach manufacturers of inverters, they may be willing to demonstrate 
the potential savings on the sites extraction system. Implement this initiative 
if demonstration proves successful.

Ensuring
Success 

The units will not require any user interaction once installed, the 
success should be noticed straight away with the first month of metre 
readings 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school 

o Conduct a trial period before installation. 

o Implementation in December 2009 

Notes The survey will be of the whole building; this may highlight other areas that 
need to be re-commissioned. The pool hall and changing areas have 
currently got environmental temperature issues, with the knowledge gained 
from the survey a further plan will be made to action the re-commissioning 
of the old building’s plant and AHU. 

154



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 43 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 13 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD) to supply motors at Ramsey Leisure 
Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period: 

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

Notes

155



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 44 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 14 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD) to supply motors at Huntingdon Leisure 
Centre Site1 (wet) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period: 

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

156



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 45 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 15 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD) to supply motors at Huntingdon Leisure 
Centre Site2 (dry) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period: 

 Energy saving: 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment: 

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

157



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 46 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 16 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD) to supply motors at St Neots Leisure 
Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period: 

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

158



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 47 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 17 

Project

Reference 

Variable Speed Drives (VSD) to supply motors at St Ivo Leisure Centre 
(Indoor) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period: 

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

159



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 48 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 18 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors at Ramsey Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

160



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 49 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 19 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site1 
(wet)

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

161



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 50 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 20 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site2 
(dry)

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

162



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 51 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 21 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors at St Neots Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

163



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 52 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 22 

Project

Reference 

Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors at St Ivo Leisure Centre (Indoor)

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal)

 Physical evidence to users of our environmental commitment to our 
carbon footprint (posters to be displayed when completed).

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

164



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 53 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition   

Ref: 23 

165



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 54 

Project:

Reference: 

Voltage Reduction Devices  at Sawtry Leisure Centre

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Most of the Leisure Centre areas are lit utilizing fluorescent strip lights or 
metal halide. 

Voltage reduction devices reduce the voltage on the lighting circuit by up to 

15% after an initial ‘warm-up’ period on full voltage. This reduction in voltage 
can yield up to 25% reduction in energy consumption on high-pressure 
sodium lighting and up to 35% reduction in consumption on fluorescent 
lighting. There is a small reduction in lighting output but this is often either 
acceptable or unperceivable as many areas are over lit in the first instance. 

The above savings assume that the supply voltage is 240V, however, if the 

Power optimization initiative is implemented the supply voltage will be 220V 
and the potential saving will be lower. The saving potential in the figures 
shown above has been estimated to be 12%.

Benefits  Financial savings: £932 pa 

 Payback period:1.5 years 

 Energy saving: 10,833 kWh’s/yr 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 6 tonnes of  CO2 pa

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 10 years

 The use of these controllers has also been shown to extend lamp life 
further when used in conjunction with tri-phosphor fluorescent tubes.

Funding  Financial investment: £1,357 

 Operational costs: £150pa

Source of funding: internal- maybe eligible for CT loan. 

Maybe eligible for Enhanced Capital Allowance. 

Resources Conduct a trial installation in a selected area of one site. Measure 
power consumption and light levels in the selected area before and 
after the installation of the voltage controllers. 

Ensuring
Success 

The units will not require any user interaction once installed; the 
success should be noticed straight away with the first month of metre 
readings. 

Measuring 
Success 

Metre Readings.  

Project
Timescales

Milestones / key dates e.g. 

o Programmed around operations and the school. 

o Conduct a trial period before installation. 

o Installation 2009 

Notes It is vital hat the process is monitored, it may not prove suitable in the sports 
hall if the light output is reduced too much, this will effect badminton 
sessions. There are some types of ballast that are not suitable for use with 
voltage controllers. The controllers will not work in conjunction with high 
frequency fittings. 

166



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 55 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 24 

Project

Reference 

Voltage Reduction Devices at Ramsey Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

167



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 56 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 25 

Project

Reference 

Voltage Reduction Devices at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site1 (wet) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

168



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 57 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 26 

Project

Reference 

Voltage Reduction Devices at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site2 (dry) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

169



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 58 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 27 

Project

Reference 

Voltage Reduction Devices at St Neots Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

170



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 59 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 28 

Project

Reference 

Voltage Reduction Devices at St Ivo Leisure Centre (Indoor) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

171



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 60 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 29 

Project

Reference 

Install timers on vending machines, water coolers and other relevant 
equipment

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer 

Department 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

172



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 61 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 30 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at Ramsey Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

173



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 62 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 31 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site1 (wet) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

174



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 63 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 32 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at Sawtry Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

175



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 64 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 33 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at Huntingdon Leisure Centre Site2 (dry) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

176



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 65 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 34 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at St Neots Leisure Centre  

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

177



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 66 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 35 

Project

Reference 

Install Cavity Wall Insulation at St Ivo Leisure Centre (Indoor) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal):

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs: 

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

178



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 67 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 36 

Project

Reference 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at Ramsey Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of a combined heat and power system to provide the leisure 
centre with a proportion of its energy requirements. 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving: 

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

179



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 68 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 37 

Project

Reference 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at St Ivo Leisure Centre (Indoor) 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of a combined heat and power system to provide the leisure 
centre with a proportion of its energy requirements. 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

180



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 69 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 38 

Project

Reference 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at Sawtry Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of a combined heat and power system to provide the leisure 
centre with a proportion of its energy requirements. 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

.

Project
Timescales

Notes

181



Huntingdonshire Dsitrict Council Carbon Management Programme 

Carbon Management Plan                                                                                                     working with 

   

Page 70 

Reducing HDC’s Environmental Footprint: Project Definition  

Ref: 39 

Project

Reference 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at St Neots Leisure Centre 

Project
Management 

Environment Team 

Lead officer Pete Corley 

Department Leisure Services 

Description Installation of a combined heat and power system to provide the leisure 
centre with a proportion of its energy requirements. 

Benefits  Financial savings:  

 Payback period:  

 Energy saving:  

 CO2 Emissions reduction: 

 Operational life of the project (before renewal): 

Funding  Financial investment:  

 Operational costs:

Resources 

Ensuring
Success 

Measuring 
Success 

Project
Timescales

Notes

182



H
u
n
ti
n
g
d

o
n
s
h
ir

e
 D

s
it
ri
c
t 

C
o
u

n
c
il 

C
a
rb

o
n
 M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

C
a

rb
o

n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 

 
  

P
a
g
e
 7

1
 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 C

: 
 

G
re

e
n

 F
o

rc
e

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

 P
la

n
 

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y
 

J
u

n
e

w
/c

2
n

d
9

th
1

6
th

2
3

rd
3

0
th

6
th

 
1

3
th

 
2

0
th

2
7

th
4

th
 

1
1

th
1

8
th

2
5

th
1

s
t 

8
th

 
1

5
th

 
2

2
n

d
 

2
9

th
 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

G
re

e
n
 F

o
rc

e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 l
iv

e
 o

n
 i
n
tr

a
n
e
t 

 
 

 

In
tr

a
n

e
t 
p

a
g
e
 c

re
a

te
d

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 
 

 
 

 

A
p
ri
l-
 T

e
a
m

 N
e
w

s
 A

rt
ic

le
 

P
ro

m
o
te

 S
ta

ff
 G

re
e
n
 D

a
y
-P

o
s
te

rs
/I
n
tr

a
n

e
t/
 

E
-m

a
ils

/S
ta

n
d
s
 i
n
 P

a
th

fi
n
d
e
r 

H
o
u
s
e
 

 
 

 
 

G
re

e
n

 D
a

y
 

G
re

e
n

 F
o
rc

e
 p

ro
je

c
t 
p

ro
m

o
te

d
 o

n
 H

D
C

's
 w

e
b
s
it
e

 

M
a
y
- 

T
e
a
m

 N
e
w

s
 A

rt
ic

le
 

H
o
ld

 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
to

ry
 G

re
e
n
 F

o
rc

e
 M

e
e
ti
n
g
  

(2
2

n
d

 M
a

y
 2

0
0

9
) 

 
 

 

F
ir
s
t 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 
G

re
e
n

 F
o
rc

e
 M

e
e

ti
n

g
 (

5
th

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
9

) 
 

 
 

 
 

J
u

n
e

- 
T

e
a

m
 N

e
w

s
 A

rt
ic

le
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

T
e

a
m

 N
e

w
s
 A

rt
ic

le
s

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

A
p
ri
l-
 P

ro
m

o
te

 S
ta

ff
 G

re
e
n
 D

a
y
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
a

y
- 

H
ig

h
lig

h
t 
s
u

c
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
la

u
n
c
h

 a
n
d

 p
ro

m
o

te
 f
ir
s
t 
G

re
e

n
 F

o
rc

e
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

J
u

n
e

- 
R

e
p

o
rt

 o
n

 f
ir
s
t 
G

re
e

n
 F

o
rc

e
 m

e
e

ti
n
g

 h
e

ld
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

F
u

tu
re

 G
re

e
n

 F
o

rc
e

 m
e

e
ti

n
g

 d
a

te
s

 (
T

B
C

) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

9
th

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
2
0

0
9

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

5
th

 F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0
1
0
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

183



184

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET        18th JUNE 2009 
 

CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-being)) 

 
 
1. INTROUDCTION 
 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 9th June 2009, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Environmental Well-being) considered a report by the Head of 
Environmental Management on the proposed adoption by the Council of a 
Carbon Management Plan. Item No. 10 of the Cabinet Agenda refers. 

 
1.2 The views of the Panel are summarised below for consideration by the 

Cabinet. 
 
2. DELIBERATIONS  
 
2.1 The Panel welcomed the adoption of a Carbon Management Plan and 

complemented the officers concerned in preparing the document. 
Members were pleased that grants have been obtained and are continuing 
to be sought to assist in carrying out the schemes identified.  

 
2.2 The Panel acknowledged the potential dilemma between conflicting 

interests whereby decisions by the Council and others could adversely 
affect the Council’s carbon emissions. In that respect, Members 
suggested that the impact of actions on emissions could be made more 
explicit in the decision making process. 

 
2.3 The Panel was informed that the Council’s investment in more energy 

efficient office accommodation had been reflected in the progress 
achieved towards the target for emission reductions, although the effects 
could not be measured accurately until the new accommodation had been 
completed and energy consumption analysed. Members suggested that 
travel by Members on the Council’s behalf should be included in the 
Green Travel Plan and travel to work statistics. Finally, it was not clear 
whether the savings forecast in the Carbon Reduction Plan had been 
incorporated into the budgetary forecast for future years which had been 
drawn up by the Head of Financial Services. 

 
2.4 The Panel has indicated its intention to monitor performance towards 

achieving the targets set in the Plan as part of the performance monitoring 
process.  

 
 

185



3. CONCLUSION   
 
3.1 The Cabinet is invited to consider the comments of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) as part of its deliberations on 
the Carbon Management Plan.   

 
 
 
Contact Officer: Mrs J Walker 
   (01480) 387049 

 

186



CABINET       18TH JUNE 2009 

 

 
REPRESENTATION ON ORGANISATIONS 

(Report by the Head of Democratic & Central Services) 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The Council’s representation on a variety of organisations and 

partnerships is reviewed annually.  Listed in the attached schedule 
are those organisations/partnerships to which the Council appoints 
representatives for 2009/10: Part 1 refer to partnerships and Part 2 
to general external bodies/groups. 

 
1.2 A rolling review of partnerships – primarily to ensure that they have 

appropriate governance and contribute to Council or community 
objectives – is in place.  For appointments to organisations, following 
the review of the Council’s democratic structure a number of changes 
have been introduced including cross party discussions and the 
compilation of additional information from organisations as to their 
aims and any implications of representation.  In future, external 
organisations will be requested also to provide an induction process 
for newly appointed members. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet are therefore invited to make their nominations where 

required to the organisations referred to in the schedule appended 
hereto. 

 
2.2 In the event that changes or new appointments are required to the 

District Council’s representation during the course of the year, the 
Chief Executive, after consultation with the Deputy Leader and Vice-
Chairman of the Cabinet, be authorised to nominate alternative 
representatives as necessary. 

 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

File held in the Administration Division of the Central Services Directorate. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Helen Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
    (01480) 388008 

Agenda Item 11

187



188

This page is intentionally left blank



U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

1
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

  
 

R
E
P
R
E
S
E
N
T
A
T
IO
N
 O
N
 O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
S
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

 
P
a
rt
 1
 

 

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
S
H
IP
S
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 
W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
 

&
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
G
ro
u
p
 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 H
o
ri
z
o
n
s
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

 
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 A
d
v
is
o
ry
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
 (
A
G
M
) 

S
 &
 T
 

tb
a
 

 
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
's
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 R
 W
e
s
t 

 
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 S
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 S
a
fe
r 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
G
ro
u
p
 

 
 

 
 

 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 T
o
g
e
th
e
r 
 

(L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t)
  

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
e
n
tr
a
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

G
re
a
t 
F
e
n
 P
ro
je
c
t 
S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
2
 

1
1
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 J
 A
 G
ra
y
 a
n
d
 

C
llr
 D
 B
 D
e
w
 

C
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

G
re
a
te
r 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/5
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

 
H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

P
e
o
p
le
, 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

&
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 

 
 

 
 

 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

 
P
e
o
p
le
 

6
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 P
ro
s
p
e
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 

 
S
k
ill
s
 

8
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

P
e
o
p
le
, 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

&
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 

 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
F
o
ru
m
 

3
 

C
llr
 C
 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

 
 

 
G
ro
w
th
 &
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

4
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 D
 B
 D
e
w
 

H
e
a
d
 
o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
ll-
B
e
in
g
 

 
C
llr
 M
rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
 

H
e
a
d
 
o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

 
In
c
lu
s
iv
e
, 
S
a
fe
 &
 C
o
h
e
s
iv
e
 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 G
ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
 

H
e
a
d
 
o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/5
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

h
o
s
te
d
 b
y
 m
a
in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
  

C
llr
 L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
) 

 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

189



U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

2
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
S
H
IP
S
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 -
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
E
y
n
e
s
b
u
ry
 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
N
o
rt
h
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 O
x
m
o
o
r 
S
R
B
 P
ro
je
c
t 

A
re
a
 a
n
d
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
ta
rg
e
te
d
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 N
o
rt
h
 &
 E
a
s
t 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
) 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
 a
n
d
  

J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
R
a
m
s
e
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 B
u
ry
 a
n
d
 

 
U
p
w
o
o
d
) 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
  
&
 T
 

C
llr
. 
S
w
a
le
s
 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 P
o
lic
in
g
 P
a
n
e
ls
  

(f
o
rm
e
rl
y
 P
o
lic
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro
u
p
s
) 
 –
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

E
y
n
e
s
b
u
ry
 

3
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

3
 

C
llr
 L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
 M
 F
 S
h
e
lle
n
s
 

 

 
 

O
x
m
o
o
r 

3
 

C
llr
 J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

 
 

 
 

Y
a
x
le
y
 

3
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 M
 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
 

 
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 

3
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 A
 M
o
n
k
 

 

 
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
 

4
 

C
llr
.M
rs
 J
  
A
 D
e
w
 

 
 

 
 

S
t 
N
e
o
ts
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
/4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 J
o
in
t 
M
e
m
b
e
r 

G
ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
 

H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

W
a
s
te
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 C
 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 
O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

190



 U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

3
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

P
a
rt
 2
 

 

O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

A
IC
H
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 -
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

re
im
b
u
rs
e
s
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 

C
llr
. 
M
rs
 M
 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

 
 

A
rt
s
 F
o
ru
m
 f
o
r 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 

P
e
te
rb
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

a
n
d
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
&
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
: 
  

C
llr
 L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
) 

C
llr
 J
 A
 G
ra
y
 

 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 A
g
e
 C
o
n
c
e
rn
 

L
ia
is
o
n
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

A
G
M
 -
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 1
 

 H
a
lf
 y
e
a
rl
y
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 -
 E
ly
 1
 

 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
/f
o
ru
m
 –
 

C
h
a
tt
e
ri
s
 2
 

 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
/f
o
ru
m
 –
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 1
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

 
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
h
a
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 –
  

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 A
re
a
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

C
ro
m
w
e
ll 
M
u
s
e
u
m
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

C
tt
e
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 M
 G
 B
a
k
e
r 
a
n
d
 

T
 D
 S
a
n
d
e
rs
o
n
 

 M
r 
J
 M
o
rg
a
n
 

 

D
IA
L
 D
ru
g
lin
k
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 M
 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

 
 

E
a
s
t 
o
f 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 –
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

7
/8
 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
s
: 
  
 

C
llr
s
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
 a
n
d
 

C
llr
 G
 H
a
rp
e
r 
 

[L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
F
e
n
la
n
d
 

D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il]
) 

  C
llr
 D
 B
 D
e
w
 

 

E
n
v
a
r 
L
td
, 
S
t 
Iv
e
s
 C
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 

F
a
c
ili
ty
 –
  

S
it
e
 L
ia
is
o
n
 F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 

 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
* 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
o
m
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 –
 

A
d
v
is
o
ry
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/5
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
 

 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 A
g
a
in
s
t 
C
ri
m
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M
 S
a
d
le
r 

 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 F
re
e
m
e
n
's
’ 
C
h
a
ri
ty
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
1
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
J
 D
 F
e
ll 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 C
it
iz
e
n
s
’ 
A
d
v
ic
e
 

B
u
re
a
u
**
**
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
 –
 4
 

T
ru
s
te
e
 B
o
a
rd
 –
 1
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
  

(G
e
n
e
ra
l 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
) 
a
n
d
  

M
r 
T
 F
 H
a
y
w
a
rd
 

(T
ru
s
te
e
 B
o
a
rd
) 

  C
llr
 R
 G
 T
u
p
lin
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 F
e
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

V
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
B
u
re
a
u
x
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M
 S
a
d
le
r 

 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

191



O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

 U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

4
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 F
lo
o
d
 F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 D
 B
 D
e
w
 

 

 
O
&
S
 (
P
&
F
) 

1
 

S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
 

 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
C
o
lle
g
e
 

B
o
a
rd
 –
 u
n
ti
l 
3
1
/0
7
/1
0
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M
 S
a
d
le
r 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 S
o
c
ie
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

B
lin
d
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 -
 A
m
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 D
a
y
 

C
e
n
tr
e
, 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

 
 

In
te
rn
a
l 
D
ra
in
a
g
e
 B
o
a
rd
s
 –
 

u
n
ti
l 
1
.6
.0
5
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

A
lc
o
n
b
u
ry
 a
n
d
 E
lli
n
g
to
n
 

2
 
4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 K
 M
 B
a
k
e
r,
 

M
 G
 B
a
k
e
r,
 

L
 M
 S
im
p
s
o
n
 

M
e
s
s
rs
 C
 A
lle
n
 a
n
d
 E
 K
 

H
e
a
d
s
 

 
 

 
 

B
e
n
w
ic
k
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

B
lu
n
ti
s
h
a
m
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

C
o
n
in
g
to
n
 a
n
d
 H
o
lm
e
 

1
/2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 P
 G
 M
it
c
h
e
ll 
a
n
d
 J
 S
 

W
a
tt
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 F
ir
s
t 
(H
o
llo
w
) 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 F
o
u
rt
h
  

 
 

(M
id
d
le
 M
o
o
r)
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 M
r 
I 

L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
, 
U
p
w
o
o
d
 a
n
d
  

 
 

G
re
a
t 
R
a
v
e
le
y
 

2
 
4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

 
 

S
a
w
tr
y
 

1
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 J
 E
 G
a
rn
e
r 
a
n
d
 

R
 G
 T
u
p
lin
, 
 

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
, 
 *
**
  

C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
a
w
tr
y
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

 
 

 
 

S
u
tt
o
n
 a
n
d
 M
e
p
a
l 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

T
h
e
 R
a
m
s
e
y
 

1
 
4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r,
  

P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

 
 

W
a
rb
o
y
s
, 
S
o
m
e
rs
h
a
m
 a
n
d
 

 
P
id
le
y
 

2
/3
 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 P
 M
 D
 G
o
d
fr
e
y
 a
n
d
 

M
 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
  

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
  

 
 

 
 

W
h
it
tl
e
s
e
y
 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

 
 

W
o
o
d
w
a
lt
o
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
/2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 

 
 

L
it
tl
e
 G
ra
n
s
d
e
n
 A
e
ro
d
ro
m
e
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 R
 J
 W
e
s
t 

 
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 f
o
r 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 –
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

 
L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
 

 
 

R
u
ra
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 K
 M
 B
a
ke
r 

 
 

192



O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

 U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

5
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 H
o
m
e
s
 G
ro
u
p
 *
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

8
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 M
 G
 B
a
k
e
r,
  

M
rs
 M
 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
, 

K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
, 

M
rs
 M
 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 a
n
d
  

P
 K
 U
rs
e
ll 
 

  M
r 
K
 S
tu
k
in
s
 

M
r 
K
 W
a
lt
e
rs
 

 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 H
o
m
e
s
 *
* 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  
 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 (
p
a
re
n
t)
 

5
 

C
llr
 K
 B
a
k
e
r 

 
 

  
  
  
  

O
a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

 
(s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
/c
h
a
ri
ta
b
le
) 
  
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 G
o
d
le
y
 

 
 

M
id
d
le
 L
e
v
e
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 

 –
 u
n
ti
l 
1
.6
.0
8
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 (
a
n
d
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
) 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
  
?
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
a
ili
n
g
 A
c
a
d
e
m
y
 P
ro
je
c
t 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 a
t 
G
ra
fh
a
m
 W
a
te
r 
C
e
n
tr
e
 
C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 a
t 
G
ra
fh
a
m
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
A
 H
 D
u
b
e
rl
y
 

 
L
e
is
u
re
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

O
x
m
o
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
 

(O
C
A
G
) 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
. 
J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

 
 

O
x
m
o
o
r 
O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
. 
J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

 
 

P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 G
ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
/3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 M
a
rk
e
t 
T
o
w
n
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/6
 

S
&
 T
 

C
llr
s
 J
 T
 B
e
ll,
 P
 L
 E
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 
a
n
d
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 

 
 

R
e
d
 T
ile
 W
in
d
 F
a
rm
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

F
u
n
d
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 

 

R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 –
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
N
o
rm
a
n
 C
ro
s
s
 A
re
a
  

1
2
 

C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
  

J
 S
 W
a
tt
 

 
 

 
 
S
t.
 I
v
e
s
 A
re
a
  

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
, 
M
 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 a
n
d
  

T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 a
n
d
  

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

 
 

S
t.
 N
e
o
ts
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
B
u
re
a
u
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
C
e
n
tr
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

5
 &
 A
G
M
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 D
 H
a
rt
y
 

 
 

S
ti
lt
o
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
's
 

F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
  

C
llr
 P
 G
 M
it
c
h
e
ll 

 
 

T
h
e
 L
a
w
 C
e
n
tr
e
, 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
  

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 -
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

re
im
b
u
rs
e
s
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 

C
llr
 M
rs
 M
 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
 

 
 

T
o
w
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

–
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

1
2
 

C
llr
 J
 M
 S
a
d
le
r 

 
 

 
 
 
R
a
m
s
e
y
 

1
2
 

C
llr
 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 

C
llr
 A
 M
o
n
k
 

 

 
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
 

1
2
 

C
llr
 D
 D
e
w
 

 
 

 
 

S
t 
N
e
o
ts
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
. 
M
rs
 M
 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

 
 

T
ru
s
te
e
s
 o
f 
K
im
b
o
lt
o
n
 S
c
h
o
o
l 

F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 A
 G
ra
y
 

 
 

193



O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

H
D
C
 

C
o
n
ta
c
t 
O
ff
ic
e
r 

 U
p
d
a
te
d
 1
0
/0
6
/0
9
 

6
 

E
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\1
\4
\6
\A
I0
0
0
2
7
6
4
1
\U
p
d
a
te
d
0
9
0
6
0
9
R
e
p
s
o
n
O
rg
s
M
a
s
te
r0
9
1
0
0
.d
o c
 

 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 G
ro
u
p
  

fo
r 
th
e
 F
le
tt
o
n
 B
ri
c
k
w
o
rk
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

 
 

L
it
tl
e
 B
a
rf
o
rd
 P
o
w
e
r 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 L
ia
is
o
n
 

C
tt
e
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 a
n
d
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

 
 

N
e
e
d
in
g
w
o
rt
h
 Q
u
a
rr
y
 L
o
c
a
l 
L
ia
is
o
n
 

C
tt
e
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 a
n
d
  

P
 G
o
d
fr
e
y
 

 
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
/F
e
n
 D
ra
y
to
n
 Q
u
a
rr
ie
s
 

R
e
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
ft
e
r 
u
s
e
 f
o
ru
m
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 S
 J
 C
ri
s
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
  

D
 D
e
w
  

to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
  

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 
 

W
a
rb
o
y
s
 L
a
n
d
fi
ll 
L
o
c
a
l 
L
ia
is
o
n
 C
tt
e
e
 
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
  

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

(o
r 
th
e
ir
 n
o
m
in
e
e
s
) 

 
 

 * 
F
iv
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 o
n
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 n
o
m
in
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
H
P
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 L
u
m
in
u
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 O
a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

**
 

F
iv
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
H
P
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 L
u
m
in
u
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 O
a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

**
* 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
a
w
tr
y
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 n
o
t 
n
a
m
e
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l.
 

**
**
 

In
 n
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
 t
w
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
u
re
a
u
 i
n
 t
h
is
 w
a
y
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 a
c
c
e
p
ti
n
g
 i
ts
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 a
s
 a
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

194



Agenda Item 13

195

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



212

This page is intentionally left blank



213

Document is Restricted



214

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 14

215

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



218

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Budget and Medium Term Plan Process 2010-2015
	4 Treasury Management Annual Report 2008/09
	5 Sustainable Communities Act
	Sustainable Communities Act Appendix A and C
	Sustainable communities Act Appendix B 1 page

	6 performance monitoring
	perfAnnex A + B
	perfCorp Improvement Plan March 09
	O&SviewsCabinet Report - Performance Monitoring

	7 Grant Aid
	8 Corporate equality policy - process
	appendix 1 CEP action plan progress May 09
	appendix 2 CEP action plan 2009 10
	appendix 3 Results from EIAs
	Appendix 4 EIA timetable 09 10
	Cabinet Report - Corporate Equality Policy Action Plan Progress

	9 Regional Spatial Strategy Single Issue Review Accommodation for Gypsy and Travellers and Travelling Showpeople in the East of England - the Secretary of State's proposed changes March 2009.
	10 Carbon Management Plan
	carbonLACM6 CMP with templates
	Carbon Management O&S

	11 Representatives on organisations 2009/10
	Updated 09 06 09 Reps on Orgs (Master) 09-10

	13 St. Neots Leisure Centre Development
	Cabinet Report - St Neots Lesiure Centre Development

	14 Tender for the employment of temporary manual employees

